Gaining Gold Medals and Gowns: Equilibrating the Dual Career of Student-Athletes with Online Education

Sigrid Gunild Kreb

Dissertation submitted to the faculty of Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

In

Education, Curriculum and Instruction Health Promotions Option

> Kerry J. Redican, Chair Richard K Stratton Barbara B. Lockee Brett D. Jones Ken R. Potter

March 20, 2008 Blacksburg, Virginia

Key Words: Student-Athletes, Online Education, Focus Groups

Gaining Gold Medals and Gowns: Equilibrating the Dual Career of Student-Athletes with

Online Education

By

Sigrid Gunild Kreb

(ABSTRACT)

Student-athletes must constantly balance their athletic, academic, and social roles. Their dual career can easily be overwhelming. Missing classes because of intense travel can be disruptive to the flow of classes and material. Online education is one way to provide a personalized, portable, on-demand learning environment that is flexible regarding both time and location, doesn't require travel to and from campus, is self-paced, and is provided at the learner's convenience.

The purpose of this study was to determine general concerns experienced by Virginia Tech student-athletes, as well as their perceptions and practices about online education. Understanding student-athletes' needs and wants can help promote high quality online course development. In addition, it allows educators to tailor marketing specifically to student-athletes and increases the likelihood that students will experience positive online learning experiences.

Data was collected using focus group discussions, key informant interviews, and a demographic questionnaire. Student-athletes from all varsity teams were purposively selected for two revenue sports sessions and two non-revenue sports sessions targeting 6-8 athletes in each group. Five key informant interviews were conducted with personnel from the athletic department.

Participants seemed to want the best of both worlds, preferring the convenience of online courses, but also desiring regular contact and interaction with faculty and other class members (social component). The non-revenue athletes preferred taking classes in a traditional classroom to learn material. They preferred taking online classes when they travel, for time issues, or easy credit. Though all student-athletes stated that they took advantage of online classes, the revenue athletes seemed to appreciate them more and were more willing to take more online classes to help ease their schedule. A purely online education program would not result in balance.

DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this dissertation to the student-athletes

whom I worked with, competed with, practiced with, traveled with, lived with, spent time with, learned with, learned from, and whom I admire.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to thank my entire dissertation committee for keeping me on track in reaching my professional goal. To my advisor, Dr. Redican, thank you for your guidance, confidence, and positive words of support given to me. Thank you, Dr. Stratton, for helping me with the transition from a student-athlete to a coach-educator. To Dr. Lockee, thank you for your enthusiasm and passion for teaching Distance Education. To Dr. Potter, thank you for your feedback, support, and choice of which language to choose. Dr. Jones, thank you for your expertise and making me a better researcher. You all sped me up to cross the academic finish line at Virginia Tech.

Secondly, I would like to thank everybody in the Athletic Department who was involved in the research project as well as all staff and athletes who shared the wonderful athletic experience with me. Coach Cianelli, could you believe that a simple phone call would bring me all the way from Winterbach, Germany to Blacksburg to compete successfully in both arenas? Coach Johnson, thank you that you always believed in me and always pushed me into the right direction.

Finally, I say thank you to all who have brightened my experience at Virginia Tech. To all my friends and family, I truly appreciate your time and love.

iv

Table of Contents

Chapter 1—INTRODUCTION1
Statement of the Problem5
Purpose of the Study7
Research Questions
Significance of Research8
Limitations10
Definition of Terms11
Chapter 2—REVIEW OF LITERATURE
The Student-Athlete14
Background14
Overemphasis on Athletics15
"Student Comes First"16
The Dual Career
The Freshman Student19
Misconceptions/ Prejudice/ Stereotyping20
Challenges and Barriers Unique to Student-Athletes
Outlook23
The National Collegiate Athletic Association24
Brief History of Intercollegiate Athletics and NCAA25
History of Academic Eligibility Standards27
Proposition 48

The Graduation-Success-Rate (GSR)	29
Academic Progress Rate (APR)	30
Research Student-Athlete	30
Graduation Rates	32
Previous Research on Graduation Rates	34
African-Americans	36
Motivation	38
Specific Sport Played in College	39
Role Detachment	41
Role Conflict	42
The Role of the Coach	43
Specialized Academic Support Services	46
Summary	47
Research on Student-Athlete and Online Education	48
Online Programs for Student-Athletes in High Schools	50
Other Experiences of Online Education with Student-Athletes	51
Research on Online Education	52
Growth and Development of Distance Education	53
Course Delivery Methods	55
Face-to-Face Instruction	56
Distance Education	56
Effectiveness of Online Education	58
Advantages of Online Education	59

Limitations of Online Education
Misconceptions of Online Education
Characteristics of Online Learners
Can Online Education be Considered for Student-Athletes?67
Dealing with Dual Career and Different Schedules67
Dealing with Bias and Stereotyping
Being at a Disadvantage Through Rigors of Travel68
Perspective on Online Education
Summary
Limitations and Further Research71
Chapter 3—METHODOLOGY74
Population75
Focus Group Discussion75
Key Informant Interview76
The Group Moderator76
Sample Description and Selection Process77
Focus Group Procedures78
Data Analysis Procedures79
Validity79
Chapter 4—RESULTS/DISCUSSION
Demographics of Participants80
Research Question 182
Research Question 2

Perceived Benefits	94
Perceived Barriers	100
Implication: Willingness and Readiness for Enrollment	110
Recommendation of Class Format	115
Student-Athletes' Preferences Regarding Class Format	117
Research Question 3	121
Proposal Based on Experience with Football Players	
Taking Online Courses	130
Research Question 4	131
Trend of Online Education	135
Discussion	137
Implication	142
Different Classrooms for Different Types of Athletes	143
Future	146
Chapter 5—SUMMARY/RECOMMENDATIONS	148
Summary of Research Question 1	149
Summary of Research Question 2	151
Summary of Research Question 3	157
Summary of Research Question 4	159
Recommendations	160
A. Provide more Flexibility for Student-Athletes	160
B. Develop a Model for Student-Athletes	162
Recommendations for Student-Athletes and Instructors	164

Recommendations for Administration, Faculty, Support Services	167
Research Limitations	169
Recommendations for Future Research	172
REFERENCES	175
APPENDICES	187

Appendices

Appendix A: Interview Guide (Focus Group Discussion)	
Appendix B: Interview Guide (Key Informant Interview)	
Appendix C: Questionnaire Student-Athletes	
Appendix D: Consent Form	
Appendix E: Institutional Review Board Approval	194

List of Tables

Table 4.1 Demographics of Focus Group Participants 80
Table 4.2 Primary Concerns of Student-Athletes Related to their Dual Career82
Table 4.3 Perceived Benefits of Online Education 95
Table 4.4 Perceived Barriers to Online Education101
Table 4.5 Willingness/Readiness for Enrollment in Online Courses
(Key Informants)110
Table 4.6 Willingness/Readiness for Enrollment in Online Courses
(Focus Groups)117
Table 4.7 Learning Satisfaction
Table 4.8 Spending a Large Amount of Time Away From Campus 131
Table 4.9 Trend of Online Education 136

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

The XXIX Olympiad in Beijing, China, is quickly approaching. The first modern Olympiad was organized by Pierre de Coubertin, the founder of the modern Olympic movement. In 1894, in the first edition of the Olympic Review, he wrote:

Why did I restore the Olympic Games? To ennoble and strengthen sports, to ensure their independence and thus to enable them to better fulfill the educational role incumbent upon them in the modern world; for the glorification of the individual athletes, whose muscular activity is necessary for the community and whose provess is necessary for maintenance of the general spirit of competition. (Sport Administration Manual, 2001, p. 22)

Sports and their function have been viewed as an integral part of permanent education; the Greeks advocated the adequate development of both body and mind, where a well-rounded individual had to work towards excellence in both arenas: athletics and academics (Crowley, 2006). College athletics have been part of university life in the US since the 18th century (Falla, 1981; Zimbalist, 1999). With the birth of the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) in 1906, a uniquely American endeavor of intercollegiate athletics evolved, seeking to enable athletically gifted students to compete fairly and safely within the environment of higher education (Crowley, 2006).

The experience of student-athletes varies from school to school and individual to individual. From their admission into college, with free tuition, room and board, to their special curricula, tutoring, and living conditions on campus, there is no question that student-athletes are treated differently (Zimbalist, 1999). The term itself indicates that they are not normal students (Crowley, 2006; Ridpath, 2002; Zimbalist, 1999). Zimbalist explained that "if student-athletes

were normal students, then either the term would not be necessary or it would be joined by other terms like student-musician, student-artist, or student-engineer" (p. 37).

Potential benefits for student-athletes include: the possibility of earning a college degree; free tuition, room and board; free special tutoring; privileged living conditions while in college; prestige; and professional opportunities (Figler & Figler, 1984; Zimbalist, 1999). However, the price student-athletes have to pay for being special can easily be overlooked. They constantly have to balance their athletic, academic, and social roles, distinguishing them from the normal student body (Gaston, 2003; Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003; Sedlacek & Adams-Gaston, 1992).

The pressures resulting from their dual career can easily be overwhelming for two primary reasons: (1) Varsity sports, particularly baseball and basketball, require students to accommodate heavy practice and travel schedules, national competition, pre- and post practice needs, mandatory meetings, rehabilitation, and treatment in case of injury; and (2) School requires student-athletes to take a full class schedule, including mandatory study hall, maintain a minimum grade point average in order to be eligible to participate, and make overall progress toward their degrees (Gaston, 2003; Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003; Ridpath, 2002; Simons, Van Rheenen, & Covington, 1999).

All of these demands consume the majority of the free time these students have, leaving little time for social interaction, library study periods or participation in other campus activities. Ferrante, Etzel, and Pinkney (1991) claimed that their visibility, time limitations, myths, coach's power, and personal attributes all affect their unique situation. Not only is the amount of free time drastically reduced, but afternoon practice can also interfere with afternoon classes or labs required for specific majors. In addition, the coach's power is not to be underestimated. Vince Lombardi, former Green Bay Packer Coach in the 1960s, promoted the attitude that, "Winning

isn't everything. It's the only thing." This win-at-all-costs philosophy has become prevalent in major intercollegiate football and basketball programs (Underwood, 1984, pp. 80-81), intensifying the pressures on today's student-athlete. This pressure has led to a proliferation of unethical practices, falsified transcripts, athletes receiving credit for courses not taken, and financial/academic exploitation of athletics (Purdy, 1999; Underwood, 1984). Although some counseling programs may be available to help student-athletes cope with the additional demands their special circumstances warrant, student-athletes may elect not to seek counseling for fear that to do so might jeopardize their status as a campus "hero" (Zimbalist, 1999). Athletes may also fail to take advantage of school-provided support because they rely too much on themselves or on powerful figures (such as coaches) (Ferrante et al. 1991).

In addition, student-athletes may not take full advantage of their educational opportunities. Figler and Figler (1984) reported that athletes were not aware that choosing easy courses may reduce the potential value of their education. The privileges of their position can blind them to the fact that they may be traveling a short street with a dead end and they need something to fall back on if they do not succeed as a professional athlete. Athletes in this study felt as if they were employed and expected to "do their job" (Figler & Figler, 1984, p. xv). According to Adler and Adler (1991), student-athletes often sacrifice their social lives in order to satisfy academic and athletic responsibilities. Researchers have advocated special services to assist these young people become well-adjusted, successful athletes during their time on campus (Etzel et al., 1999; Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003).

Lorenzen & Lucas (2002) point out that when student-athletes travel to compete, they are, in essence, distance education students. Could online learning be an attractive alternative for them? Currently, research indicates that students have changed radically; today's students are no

longer the people our educational system was designed to teach. In fact, students think and process information fundamentally differently (Prensky, 2001). Prensky (2001) utilizes an analogy of native speakers and immigrants to describe the generation gap that separates today's students (the "Digital Natives") from their teachers (the "Digital Immigrants").

According to Prensky (2001), Digital Natives are used to receiving information relatively quickly. They are able to process information in parallel and multi-task. They prefer graphics *before* text. They prefer random access (like hypertext) to information. They function best when networked. They thrive on instant gratification and frequent rewards. Finally, they prefer games to "serious" work (p. 2). Prensky (2001) proposes that to bridge this generation gap, today's teachers should learn the language of the Natives, speed up instruction, and provide "random access" to information (p. 4). "Future" content is to a large extent, not surprisingly, digital and technological, which is extremely interesting to today's students (p. 4), and Prensky's (2001) personal approach is to combine education and entertainment ("edutainment"). This attempt has currently failed from both the education and entertainment perspective (p. 5).

University athletics have provided a source of entertainment to the campus community since the 18th century. This has been criticized by several authors (e.g., Falla, 1981; Ridpath, 2002; Thelin & Wiseman, 1989; Zimbalist, 1999). Thelin and Wiseman (1989) critique the dubious balance between academics and athletics and the trend from education to entertainment; others have focused on the issue of exploitation of student-athletes (Crowley, 2006; Suggs, 2003; Wyatt, 1999; Zimbalist, 1999).

Statement of the Problem

The three primary problems facing student-athletes are: 1) balancing an overwhelming dual career; 2) dealing with misconceptions and stereotypes; and 3) being at a disadvantage compared to student non-athletes because of the rigors of extensive travel.

Student-athletes, by virtue of their dual careers (being both student *and* athlete) have strenuous demands on their time and energy (Gaston, 2003; Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003; Sedlacek & Adams-Gaston, 1992). Rhatingan (1984) showed that a collegiate basketball player must typically contend, along with her/his academic pursuits, with eight away-games each spring. This heavy travel schedule resulted in student-athletes missing approximately 13 class days. Since most institutions offer approximately 75 days of instruction during the semester, these studentathletes were required to be absent from 17.3 % of their classes for the semester (Rhatingan, 1984).

The rigors of extensive travel including waiting in airports and being en route for many hours and even days, constitute one disadvantage faced by student-athletes. These effects of travel exceed those of simply missing class. Regular absences are disruptive to class flow, as well as the flow of materials a student can get from regular class attendance. In addition, the student-athlete must arrange to take missed quizzes or exams and to get class notes. Sometimes, they are likely to miss review sessions available to other students, resulting in valuable time lost and a missed opportunity for help. These circumstances require a solution to remedy or reduce their effects on student-athletes. Additionally, student-athletes are often confronted with prejudicial attitudes, stereotypes, and misconceptions by their peers, faculty, and administrators

(Etzel, Ferrante, & Pinkney, 1996; Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003). These factors may increase the psychological pressures on student-athletes.

The pressure and time commitment associated with collegiate sports may also upset the balance between healthy exercise and release attributed to sports, and tension and exhaustion (Zimbalist, 1999). The "professionalization" associated with collegiate athletics may hinder the normal benefits associated with exercise (Adler & Adler, 1985, 1991; Gaston, 2003).

The burden of travel, prejudice from the university community, and the lack of normal release mechanisms can overwhelm or otherwise be psychologically detrimental to student-athletes. These factors may affect the academic performance of student-athletes. The literature surrounding the academic performance of college athletes, particularly the rate at which student-athletes graduate and make progress toward degree completion, has been growing over the past few decades (Etzel, Ferrante, & Pinkney, 1996; Gaston, 2003; NCAA, 2006; Purdy, Eitzen, & Hufnagel, 1982; Suggs, 2003).

Of particular importance to college administrators, the media, and the NCAA is an athlete's eligibility to participate in collegiate athletics, as well as the identification of factors that predict (and relate to) academic performance (Adler & Adler, 1985, 1991; Gaston-Gayles, 2005; NCAA, 2006; Purdy, Eitzen, & Hufnagel, 1982; Snyder, 1996). Although student-athlete graduation rates have increased over the past several years, the NCAA continues to be concerned about student-athletes. Particular attention has been paid to male African-American basketball players, whose performance in the classroom environment does not match their performance on the court ("Men's basketball enhancement group," 2007). These concerns highlight the need to find a solution to help student-athletes excel in both academics and athletics.

Prior research stresses the need to accommodate the busy lifestyle of student-athletes. This includes creating an effective environment that helps maintain a balance between athletics and academics on the one side, and offering an objective solution to counterbalance possible negative attitudes and prejudices facing student-athletes on the other. Additionally, any proposed solution should help alleviate the rigors of intense travel and the effects of missed classes.

Online Education may be one solution for these problems. It has become a popular approach for higher education institutions. They are able to offer a variety of distance delivery forms, as well as new instructional tools that allow them to design and offer more distance courses and programs to a greater population of students, particularly students with special requirements: student-athletes. However, little research has been done on student-athletes and their perception of online education.

Purpose of the Study

The tension between academic pursuits and athletic commitment should be addressed. Specifically, universities should provide opportunities for student-athletes to achieve success in the classroom and in the athletic arena. Problems unique to student-athletes must be addressed; specifically more attention should be paid to the effectiveness and quality of student-athletes' learning experiences. It is important to identify student-athletes' primary lifestyle concerns, discuss their perception of online education as an instruction alternative that could address their unique needs, and use their instructional preferences to enrich their learning environment. Knowing how and why student-athletes hold certain beliefs about online education will help educators plan and develop an online course designed to meet their non-traditional needs.

This study is focused on determining the perceptions, practices, and concerns about online education among student-athletes at Virginia Polytechnic Insititute and State University (hereafter, Virginia Tech). I will seek to identify the variables that may impact the degree of student-athletes' satisfaction with online learning experiences and learning outcomes. Additionally, I will determine whether online education may provide a solution to the unique challenges they face as both students and athletes. As described previously, various stakeholders have stated that it is essential to ensure that a university or college can maintain competitive athletic programs with true scholar-athletes.

Research Questions

Based on today's student-athletes' needs and characteristics as described in the literature, this study is designed to answer the following research questions:

- 1. What are the primary concerns facing student-athletes related to their dual career as both a student and an athlete?
- 2. What are student-athletes' perceptions of the benefits and barriers of online education?
- 3. What type of online environment could increase learning satisfaction and learning outcomes for student-athletes?
- 4. Does spending a significant amount of time away from campus make online education a better method of learning?

Significance of Research

Determining student-athletes' needs and wants could help to promote high quality online course development, tailored specifically to student-athletes, as well as increase the likelihood of a positive online learning experience. Determining the variables that may impact the degree of learning satisfaction could influence online course instructional design in the future.

There is an abundance of literature relating to student-athletes in higher education, specifically focusing on NCAA admission and eligibility concerns (Adler & Adler, 1985, 1991; Etzel et al., 1996; Suggs, 2003). However, there is a dearth of information examining studentathletes' perceptions of online education. Future research in this area is required to provide the ideal instructional approach to enrich student-athletes' learning. Students on intercollegiate teams should participate fully in collegiate life, making it crucial to create new programs of support and assistance for student-athletes, as well as to take full advantage of those already in place (Clark & Parette, 2002; Etzel et al., 1991; Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003). In light of the rapid expansion of Internet-based technologies and students' computer literacy (Prensky, 2001), online learning has become attractive popular topic in education (Anderson, 2005).

According to Oblinger and Oblinger (2005), students have grown up with technology, and today's college students can be categorized as the "Net Generation" (p. 15) characterized by being digitally literate (being comfortable using technology), connected (constantly being on), immediate (multitasking quickly, sometimes simultaneously), experimental (prefer learning by doing rather by being told what to do), social (gravitating toward activities that promote social interaction), team-oriented (students help each other), structured (are achievement oriented; want parameters, rules, priorities, and procedures), engaged and experienced (oriented toward inductive discovery), and visual and kinesthetic (are more comfortable in image-rich environments).

This study will allow students and athletic department administrators to learn more about the factors related to an increase in student-athletes' academic motivation. It will also inform the people in higher education (e.g., university presidents) who insist that their athletic department be viewed as one that values graduation and academic success (Gaston-Gayles, 2005). Recent research has focused attention on becoming a *whole student and complete athlete*, not one or the other (Clark & Parette, 2002). The results of this study will assist student-athletes across the academic finish line while juggling responsibilities to two masters, athletics and academics (Thelin & Wiseman, 1989).

Limitations

The study is limited by the following:

- The study only includes student-athletes at a single university (Virginia Tech).
- Participants are male and female undergraduate student-athletes between the ages 18 and 25.
- The study will be limited to the number of student-athletes who volunteer to participate in this study with no incentive other than the feedback provided to them.
- Compliance of the participants with the ability to answer all questions with honesty and without bias.
- Compliance of the participants to accurately record their computer competency and experiences.
- The study is limited to student-athletes who are enrolled when the survey is administered, i.e., the 2007/2008 academic year.

• The survey will only be conducted once, and no longitudinal data will be provided.

Definition of Terms

- Academic Motivation. A behavioral force energized by student-athletes towards excelling in academics tasks and the academic environment (Willis, 2005).
- Atlantic Coast Conference. (ACC). A collegiate athletic league in the United States, founded in 1953, and including twelve member universities (ACC, 2007).
- Distance/Online Education. An institution-based, formal education where the learning group is separated, and where interactive telecommunications systems are used to connect learners, resources, and instructors (Simonson, 2003).
- NCAA. The National Collegiate Athletic Association. An association that organizes the athletic programs of many colleges and universities in the United States (Crowley, 2006).
- Non-revenue Sports. Sports that typically generate little or no revenue, such as volleyball, track and field, and tennis (Purdy, 1985).
- *Revenue Sports*. Team sports, primarily football and men's basketball, which can generate revenue (Purdy, 1985).
- Student-athlete. A student-athlete is a student who was recruited to participate in an intercollegiate athletics program (NCAA, 2006a).
- *Traditional/Classroom Course*. Face-to-face classroom environment, real-time (synchronous) communication between the instructor and student (Hillstock, 2005).

CHAPTER 2

Review of Literature

College athletics is one of the oldest traditions in higher education, with thousands of students participating in intercollegiate varsity sports every year (Crowley, 2006; Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003). In October 1905, President Theodore Roosevelt responded to public outcry concerning the increasing number of serious injuries and deaths in college sports, with the simple message that the games should be either reformed or abolished (Crowley, 2006). Six months later, the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) was born. The NCAA is an association that has served as steward for the uniquely American enterprise of intercollegiate athletics. It celebrated its 100th anniversary in 2006. Although it has been fraught with countless problems over the last century, the overall mission of the Association has remained constant: to make certain that athletically gifted students are able to compete fairly and safely within the environment of higher education (Crowley, 2006).

Student-athletes represent a special portion of college students who have high demands on their energy and time, as well as possess unique needs that set them apart from the rest of the student body (Gaston, 2003; Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003; Sedlacek & Adams-Gaston, 1992). They are constantly placed in the precarious position of having to balance their athletic, academic, and social roles (Adler & Adler, 1991). Many sports, such as baseball and basketball require students to accommodate heavy practice and travel schedules (often including more than 20 away games in a single season), national competition, pre-and post-practice commitments, rehabilitation, and treatment in case of injury. These students must also sustain a full class schedule complete with mandatory study hall, maintain a minimum grade point average in order to participate, and make overall progress toward their degrees (Gaston, 2003; Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003, Ridpath, 2002; Simons, Van Rheenen, & Covington, 1999). All of these demands consume most of the free time these students have, leaving little time for social interaction, library study periods, and participation in other campus activities.

A student-athlete who desires to pursue a challenging degree program or a career in athletics can easily become overwhelmed by athletic demands. According to Gaston (2003), less emphasis, time, and energy is placed on academic-related tasks. Predicting the academic performance of college athletes has been an increasing focus of study in recent decades (Etzel et al., 1996; Gaston, 2003; NCAA, 2006a; Purdy et al., 1982; Suggs, 2003). The rate at which student-athletes graduate and make progress toward degree completion, along with identifying factors that predict and relate academic performance, have been topics of interest to college administrators, the media, and the NCAA (Adler & Adler, 1985, 1991; Gaston-Gayles, 2005; NCAA, 2006a; Purdy et al., 1982; Snyder, 1996).

Maintaining the value and integrity of intercollegiate athletics as an integral part of the academic mission led the NCAA to undergo academic reform in the mid-1980s (History of Academic Reform, 2007). The NCAA established initial-eligibility standards with emphasis on the combination of Grade Point Average (GPA), a set of core courses, and results from standardized testing. Introduction of these requirements has been largely successful, with the result that graduation rates of student-athletes have risen faster than those for the rest of the student body. For example, the graduation rate report published by the NCAA indicated that student-athletes reached a graduation rate of 58 percent, compared to 56 percent for the non-athlete population ("NCAA Student-athletes graduation rates," remain steady for third consecutive year, 2001). The report also revealed that the percentage of Division I men's

basketball players graduating dropped from 42 percent in the 1993 cohort to 40 percent in the 1994 group. Specifically, Caucasian basketball players had a graduation rate of 52 percent, while African-American basketball players graduated at a rate of 35 percent ("NCAA Student-athletes graduation rates," 2001). These results highlight the NCAA's continuing concerns about at-risk student-athletes, such as male African-American basketball players.

According to the current director of the NCAA, Myles Brand, it is essential that the causes of this disparity are evaluated and meaningful strategies are developed to improve academic performance, insuring that male basketball players are as successful in the classroom environment as they are on the court ("Men's basketball," 2007). How can colleges and universities maintain competitive athletic programs while ensuring that the athletes are also "competitive" students?

The Student-Athlete

Background

The term *student-athlete* was invented in the 1950s when the possibility arose that college football players could be classified as institutional employees by the courts and other state agencies (Crowley, 2006). The expression was embedded in the NCAA rules as a mandated substitute for such words as "players" and "athletes". Yet, words often do not hold onto their original meanings over time. The combination of *student* and *athlete* has been viewed as an oxymoron; critics view its continued use by the NCAA and its members with a cynical eye (Crowley, 2006; Ridpath, 2002).

However, on the college campuses and within the NCAA, the student-athlete label is not generally understood as a way around the employee designation; rather, it simply has a practical application to help protect the indispensable link between athletics and education. Several cases have been cited where this tie has been loosened to the point at which exploitation better describes the relationship between the terms *student* and *athlete* (Crowley, 2006; Suggs, 2003; Wyatt, 1999).

Depending on the goals and motivations of the institution, participating in college sports can be good or bad for the participants. Collegiate athletics programs provide opportunities for growth and development, fuel school spirit and community involvement, and open doors for students who otherwise would not have had a chance to attend college (Briggs, 1996; Wyatt, 1999). Regrettably, higher education institutions have also recruited, trained, and exploited students for their athletic ability, casting them off when their eligibility ends. Coaches and administrators have often looked the other way when student-athletes began to fail academically (Wyatt, 1999). Even though academic services are offered to these young men and women, college administrators did not stress and reinforce academic success for those students as much as much as they have stressed athletic success. Evidently, institutions have been too eager for more wins, publicity, and the financial benefits that often follow successful university athletic programs (Suggs, 1999, 2003; Wyatt, 1999).

Overemphasis on athletics.

Collegiate athletics have become a massively commercialized industry, resting upon activities that can be irrelevant and even harmful to education. If athletic programs have shown less respect for fun and fair play and have become dehumanizing, the reason lies, according to Zimbalist (1999), in the fact that sports today are organized around the needs of frustrated adults, commercialization of the games, and the emphasis upon revenue and winning, rather than around

the values of athletics to collegiate participants (Crowley, 2006; Ridpath, 2002; Zimbalist, 1999). Zimbalist (1999) stated,

Of course, athletic departments need money to operate and provide good athletic opportunities for student-athletes. But our desire to generate these needed revenues has gone wildly out of control, creating a financial and commercial 'arms race' among schools that creates a never ending upward spiraling need for more revenues in order to beat the other guys. (p. 90)

Another professor aggravated the topic during the 1923 Convention by stating,

In practically all of the great colleges and universities ... there are being built up great intercollegiate machines, great athletic systems, commercialized and professionalized in spirit, that are fast assuming the proportions of stupendous Juggernauts ...which are threatening to crack every bone in our academic bodies, and to crush out of our scholastic veins every drop of the blood of idealism and inspiration. (Crowley, 2006, p. 65)

Overemphasis on athletics has resulted in an unavoidable conflict between athletic

success and academic integrity at institutions that sponsor intercollegiate athletics. Former

NCAA employee, Kay Hawes, has written that the Association's "father was football and its

mother was higher education." This was, she noted, an "almost unintentional union," brought

about in part by the proclivity of students to play games (Crowley, 2006, p. 42).

"Student comes first".

The former NCAA college - and American National Basketball Association (NBA) basketball player, Magic Johnson, stressed the priority of being student first:

"We always hear the term student-athlete. Well, 'student' always comes first, and it should. Very few high school athletes go on to become college athletes, and even fewer become professional athletes. The odds against it are tremendous. But far more high school students can become college students, and a college degree is the key that unlocks the door to your future, whatever you want it to be. Stay in school, but more important, learn while you're in school." (Lapchick & Malekoff, 1987, p. xvii) Inspired by a true-life story, "Coach Carter" portrayed a controversial high school basketball coach, who received high praise and much criticism when he made national news in 1999 for benching his entire unconquered basketball team for poor academic performance. "Student comes first" was his great message, because while students may be good at sports now, achievement and academics will determine their future (Carter, 2005).

The Dual Career

Collegiate student-athletes possess a dual career: while competing in collegiate athletics, they are attending classes in order to potentially attain a college degree. First, as *students*, they are confronted with academic tasks in which every student must participate, including attending classes and labs, studying as required, and passing exams. These requirements are in themselves time-consuming. It can take five or more years of classroom work to attain a college degree. For student-athletes, however, completion of general classwork requires time that that may not be available due to their extensive athletic commitments. Non-completion of these academic tasks can result in personal distress, threat to psychological well-being, and at worst, jeopardize the student-athlete's eligibility to participate, which may also have a considerable impact upon future occupational and career prospects (Etzel et al.,1996; NCAA, 2006a; Purdy et al., 1982; Sellers, 1992).

It has been observed that many student-athletes were often admitted to universities based solely upon their athletic prowess and not their academic aptitude; many were not sufficiently prepared upon graduation from high school to meet the academic challenges of college (Naughton, 1997; Thamel & Wilson, 2005). Thamel and Wilson (2005) reported that athletes who graduated from a \$399 diploma high-school acknowledged that they learned little in school,

but were grateful that it enabled them to qualify for college scholarships. This kind of highschool offered the opportunity to earn a diploma in four to six weeks with open-book exams, no classes, and no timed tests. Recent research indicates that many student-athletes in general, and basketball and football players in particular, are not as well prepared as their peers to operate successfully in the classroom (Purdy et al., 1982; Sellers, 1992). If student-athletes are not able to meet these academic challenges, their lives after their collegiate athletic career may be negatively affected.

Second, as *athletes*, student-athletes are players and performers. Every week they compete in arenas where their efforts are highly praised and harshly criticized (Etzel et al., 1996). In the past, these performers reported that they invested a great deal of time in athletic-related activities, often more than 30 hours per week. This commitment is nearly as much time as some students would invest in a full-time job. Currently, NCAA regulations officially limit practice time to no more than four hours per day and 20 hours per week (NCAA, 2006a). Yet, depending on the particular sport and the competitive level of their school's program, college athletes frequently invest in excess of 20 hours per week in structured (e.g., conditioning, "voluntary" team meetings and workouts, care of minor physical problems, and rehabilitation), as well as other informal sport-related activities (e.g., mental preparation for competitions, meetings with coaches, interaction with the media, and community service). This workload may explain how such an involvement level can lead to a state of physical and mental exhaustion, repeated injuries and illnesses, and result in limited energy and time to devote to other areas of interest (Etzel et al., 1996).

The Freshman Student

The first year of college is a difficult one for many students in that it is the first time they are away from home and their parents. Life can change suddenly for freshmen in terms of having more freedom, making new types of decisions and choices, and dealing with a confusing campus environment. The first-year student-athlete has to deal with this novel experience as well. In addition, as a collegiate athlete, s/he has to become familiar with NCAA regulations, game and practice schedules, and cope with the stress that accompanies life as a student-athlete (Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003). Furthermore, if athletes compete in fall sports, they must be on campus several weeks earlier than the normal student body for sports practice. Athletic time commitments, such as mandatory study hall and formal and informal athletic meetings, frequently prevent the athlete from attending normal support programs that are designed to help first-year students. As a consequence, first-year student-athletes can be considered one of the highest needs groups of the entire student population (Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003).

A long-standing doctrine in intercollegiate athletics was that freshmen simply were not eligible for intercollegiate competition, except in time of war (Crowley, 2006). The first year was for adjusting to college life and continuing the process of mental, emotional, and physical maturation. Suggs (1999a) explained that freshmen ineligibility may help players focus on their studies before they get caught up in the hoopla over college hoops. A men's basketball coach describes players as being fairly immature when they get there, and states that they need a year to adjust to academic rigors and find out that they have a lot of work to do to become eligible for athletic participation (Suggs, 1999a). Regardless, by the mid-1960s, increasing numbers of people concluded that times had changed, freshmen were ready to play, and institutions were prepared to play them. At the 1967 Convention, Western Athletic Conference Commissioner

Paul Brechler argued that, because of higher academic standards, students (athletes included) were now better able to do university work. Travel took less time than it used to: "Athletics today don't take any more [of it] than other campus activities" (Crowley, 2006, p. 92). One year later a freshman-eligibility proposal passed for all sports except football and basketball, which followed four years later.

Misconceptions/ Prejudice/ Stereotyping

Some critics may oppose special consideration for student-athletes because they believe that demands of university athletics do not dramatically differ from experiences of students in general who, in turn, commit an equal number of hours to part-time jobs or other extracurricular pursuits. Hood, Craig, and Ferguson (1992) examined the effect of part-time employment among university students and found no significant relationship between the number of hours worked per week and academic performance. The researchers observed that students who worked as many as four hours per weekday achieved GPAs equivalent to the general student body. These findings suggest that time demands alone may not be responsible for the academic failures experienced by many college athletes. Additionally, other factors, such as fatigue or role conflict, may play an important role in the relationship between athletic participation and academic performance. Adler and Adler (1985) suggest that fatigue and restricted time for studying causes many athletes to give up and cease caring about their academic work. Thus, rather than use the little free time they had to catch up on their studies, student-athletes usually chose to spend it socializing or sleeping.

Personnel in higher education mistakenly assume that student-athletes' needs are met because of their access to funding streams that is unavailable to typical students, they have

preferential treatment in class scheduling, and have support from athletic supporters in the community. However, the opposite may be true, and educational and life skill development needs may have been neglected for student-athletes (Clark & Parette, 2002). For example, Engstrom, Sedlacek, and McEwen (1995) found that faculty held prejudicial attitudes toward student-athletes, and perceived more favorably students who were not involved with athletics, not being admitted to college with lower SATs, not driving an expensive car, or not being mentioned in the campus paper. Student-athletes' academic abilities were regarded less positively than those of non-athlete students, and faculty members expressed more disdain and anger toward situations in which privileges or services were granted to student-athletes. The aforementioned finding provides evidence about the prejudicial attitude held toward student-athletes by faculty (Engstrom & Sedlacek, 1991). Engstrom and Sedlacek (1991) provided evidence that student-athletes tend to be subjected to prejudice and discrimination similar to that experienced by minorities.

College athletes are typically characterized and treated as a homogeneous group of *athlete-students* or *dumb jocks*, a group that is over-privileged, spoiled, pampered, lazy, and out of control, one that already receives too much special treatment and whose primary motivation to attend school is to participate in sports (Etzel et al., 1996; Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003). In fact, the *dumb jock* stereotype of athletes is widespread in many colleges and universities, and makes it difficult for them to be taken seriously by their peers, faculty, and administrators. Sellers (1992) revealed that many people in the campus community believe student-athletes are both socially inept and do not do well in the classroom. As a consequence, student-athletes deal with people who think they are stupid and do not truly belong in the classroom.

Hamilton and Trolier (1986) explained that student-athletes are highly susceptible to stereotyping because the nature of collegiate athletics often isolates them from the larger campus community. Moreover, the general campus view of the dumb athlete is internalized by many student-athletes. To make matters worse, the athlete that experiences the low opinion that others have of her/him begins to believe it is valid. Additionally, s/he also thinks it is okay to perform poorly academically because that is what everyone expects. This cycle can damage the athletes' self-esteem and their ability to succeed academically (Hamilton & Trolier, 1986). Adler and Adler (1985) reported that African-Americans perceive that professors treated them differently from the general student body after they were identified to the professors as athletes by their coaches.

On the one hand, African-Americans thought that professors would allow them greater tolerance (i.e., extra tutoring sessions, relaxed deadlines, and relaxed academic standards.), especially during freshman year in courses taught by sympathetic faculty members, who tried to give extra attention or assistance. Additionally, this differential treatment served to reinforce the student-athletes' perception that they were athletes more than students and, therefore, it became easier for them to rationalize, procrastinate, or even become uninterested in academics because of the *content* of their classes (Adler & Adler, 1985). However, Adler and Adler (1985) state that athletes also encountered a number of less sympathetic professors who, they thought, stereotyped them as dumb jocks and cocky athletes.

Challenges and Barriers Unique to Student-Athletes

College athletes are noted by many researchers to be a unique population of young adults who lead stressful lives affected by the demands, lifestyles, and normal developmental

challenges that every college student faces (Adler & Adler, 1991; Etzel et al., 1996; Gaston, 2003; Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003). Such unique demands require special services to help studentathletes respond appropriately and to become well-adjusted, successful adults. Etzel and colleagues (1996) identified these special services as the following: (a) adjustment to competing demands, (b) response to negative stereotypes, (c) need for unique support services, and (d) coping with learning disabilities. Of particular importance is the shift of higher education personnel toward perceiving that intercollegiate athletics must assist this special population to become whole students and complete athletes—not one or the other (Clark & Parette, 2002). That is, the athlete has to been considered as an individual with changing needs and skills, rather than exclusively as an athletic participant.

Outlook

The intercollegiate student-athlete has made great changes and progress towards becoming a whole student and complete athlete (Clark & Parette, 2002). Intercollegiate athletics has focused on the creation of stronger academic and personal support services for studentathletes. For example, the CHAMPS Life Skills Program highlights many of the developmental needs of college student-athletes. The program is designed to provide student-athletes with education and experiences that optimize their collegiate experiences, facilitates successful transitions to professional careers, and supports students' meaningful contributions to their communities (NCAA, 1999).

Today, an increasing number of professionals are trying to better understand the experiences and needs of college student-athletes and are working to provide holistic support for their efforts during their busy tenure on campus (Clark & Parette, 2002; Etzel et al., 1996).

Nevertheless, critical perceptual biases have recurrently hindered efforts to effectively provide comprehensive services to this special population. Yet, special services will almost certainly have to be extended to the student-athlete. People need to realize that a time barrier exists, which limits student-athletes' time to take advantage of campus services and opportunities (e.g., going to the library) (Clark & Parette, 2002; Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003). Etzel and colleagues (1996) explained the critical perceptual biases that hinder efforts to effectively provide comprehensive helping services to this special population. These biases have resulted in a failure to recognize the fundamental importance of respecting student-athletes' developmental needs (Clark & Parette, 2002).

Accordingly, Etzel and colleagues (1996) believed that student-athletes comprise one of the most diverse groups of people on college campuses today, particularly with regard to factors such as personal history, academic preparedness, life goals and expectations, physical and psychological skills, and developmental readiness. Consequently, to effectively reach out to them as a group, factors related to their heterogeneity should never be underestimated and overlooked.

Relatively little information currently exists regarding approaches for assisting studentathletes with online environment opportunities. Considering Prensky's view of the *Digital Native* image (Prensky, 2001), Oblinger and Oblinger's statement about the Net Generation (2005), and the rapid expansion of Internet-based technologies (Anderson, 2005), it is apparent that more research about student-athletes' perceptions toward online learning is required.

The National Collegiate Athletic Association

In 2006, the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA), an association of more than 1,200 institutions, conferences, organizations and individuals that organizes the athletic

programs of many colleges and universities in the United States, looked back on one century of history (Crowley, 2006). The purpose of this powerful endeavor was "to initiate, stimulate, and improve intercollegiate athletics programs for student-athletes and to promote and develop educational leadership, physical fitness, athletics excellence, and athletics participation as a recreational pursuit in the intercollegiate athletics program" (NCAA, 2006a, p. 1).

Brief History of Intercollegiate Athletics and NCAA

Athletics in college have provided entertainment for the wider university community since the 18th century as part of the curriculum at the Rugby School of England (Falla, 1981; Ridpath, 2002; Zimbalist, 1999). Athletic competition at colleges in the United States can be traced back to the football and rugby games between Ivy League schools in the 1820s and Harvard and Yale regattas as early as 1852 (Crowley, 2006; Falla, 1981; Zimbalist, 1999).

Competitions with other universities were known among the great British universities, which also served as the initial model for American higher education. In turn, those universities have been anchored in the traditions of classical education based on the ancient Greek concept of the proper balance of body and mind as one entity (Crowley, 2006). In Greek philosophy, education sought to adequately develop both the mind and body. The British universities held similar views which they passed on to their institutional posterity in America. This meant that a well-rounded individual was required to work towards excellence in both scholarship and athletics (Crowley, 2006). A professor at the Third Annual Convention of the Intercollegiate Athletic Association of the United States (IAAUS) stated that "in the Palestra, the Gymnasium, the Greek youth was taught to make his body a perfect habitation for his mind". He claimed for American colleges and universities "that the body deserves the same compulsory training at the
hands of educators as does the mind" (Crowley, 2006, p. 42). The healthy-mind-in-a-healthybody-claim is often referred to as *Mens sana in corpore sano*, a famous Latin quotation derived from Satire X of the Roman poet Juvenal.

A public outcry arose to regulate intercollegiate athletics because of perceptions that football had reached an unacceptable level of violent play. This led to the initial meeting in 1906 and created the Intercollegiate Athletic Association of the United States (IAAUS), the forerunner of the NCAA (Crowley, 2006; Falla, 1981; Zimbalist, 1999). This association officially became known as the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) in 1910. At the first meeting, most of the concerns with college athletics focused on excessive violence, however, questions regarding the relationship of academics and athletics received almost as much attention (Crowley, 2006; Ridpath, 2002). According to the first constitution, the athletic activities of American colleges and universities were to be "maintained on an ethical plane in keeping with the dignity and high purpose of education" (Crowley, 2006, p. 55). The founders expected that a high standard of personal honor, eligibility and fair play would be preserved and any abuses remedied.

At the 1908 Convention, a professor noted that "an athletic spirit throughout the whole student body, a spirit that thrives on generous, wholesome, honest, glorious rivalry is secured." He maintained that this can happen only if the direction of campus athletics is vested in the faculty (Crowley, 2006, p. 56). For several years, the NCAA was a rules-making body and discussion group. The first NCAA national championship, the National Collegiate Track and Field Championships, took place in 1921. Gradually, more rules committees were formed and more championships were held (Crowley, 2006).

The growth in membership and championships, as well as the complexity of emerging problems, made a full-time professional leadership necessary whereupon Walter Byers, who previously had served as part-time executive assistant, was named executive director in 1951. Through Byers' vision, the NCAA evolved and an explosion of interest in campus athletes in the US, higher education in general, and the tie between the two prospered. In 1973, the Association's membership was divided into three legislative and competitive divisions and five years later, Division I members voted to create subdivisions I-A and I-AA for football (Crowley, 2006).

History of Academic Eligibility Standards

Hawes was correct in observing that the union of football (father) and higher education (mother) was "almost unintentional" and no one set out to be a matchmaker (Crowley, 2006, p. 43). The NCAA's "parents" had a difficult relationship from the beginning, making it necessary to implement reforms in order to make the union work. Since its beginning, intercollegiate athletics, and in particular its overemphasis and high value in higher education, have been placed under intense scrutiny. Since a student-athlete who does not remain academically eligible and does not make satisfactory progress toward a degree would be prohibited from competition (NCAA, 2006a), students, coaches, boosters (representatives of athletic interests) and administrators have tried, and often succeeded in, outwitting the system by criminal or illicit activity such as academic fraud and recruiting violations (Crowley, 2006; Falla, 1981). Headlines such as, "*Poor Grades Aside, Top Athletes Get to College on \$399 Diploma*" (Thamel & Wilson, 2005), "Former Coach Indicted on Fraud Charges for Providing Phony Academic Credits to Basketball Players" (Suggs, 2005), and "*California State University, Northridge*

Placed on Probation for Violations in Men's Basketball" (NCAA, 2004), verify that universities, administrators, and student-athletes often placed more value on athletics rather than academics.

Proposition 48.

In 1983, the NCAA passed Proposition 48 which mandated that student-athletes reach certain academic eligibility requirements in order to compete for Division I colleges. The requirements consisted of passing a specific number of college preparatory classes, achieving a certain Grade Point Average (GPA) in those college preparatory classes, and obtaining a corresponding ACT or SAT correlated on a sliding scale to a specific GPA (NCAA, 2006a). These standards were enacted to increase the chances for a student-athlete to graduate and to constrain potential academic abuses (Crowley, 2006).

These initial-eligibility standards have been largely successful in that the overall graduation rates of student-athletes have risen faster than those for the traditional student body and the graduation rate for black male basketball players in Division I has increased over their counterparts in the student body. Specifically, the 2006 NCAA annual graduation-rate report found that 77 percent of Division I athletes were graduating within six years ("Graduation Success Rates [GSR]," 2006). In 2005, the association started using its own formula, called the Graduation Success Rate, rather than the previously used U.S. Department of Education's numbers. Unlike the Education Department's calculation, the NCAA's rate accounts for transfer students, making athletes' graduation rates look better. However, Division I men's basketball, baseball, and football players continued to have the lowest graduation rates with just 59 % of Division I men's basketball players graduating within six years, while 65 % of baseball and football players did (GSR, 2006; Wolverton, 2006).

Myles Brand, director of the NCAA, has adopted a philosophical shift at the NCAA trying to convince the public through public-service announcements that the association is in the business of educating students, who just happen to be elite athletes (Suggs, 2003). Therefore, the NCAA is creating new academic guidelines for athletes and teams, including tougher standards for making progress toward a degree, as well as incentives and disincentives for teams based on how their players perform in the classroom (NCAA, 2006a). New initial-eligibility standards were adopted in 2002 and required high-school students to successfully complete 14 core courses in English, history, sciences and mathematics with at least a 2.0 grade-point average. That figure will rise to 16 core courses for students entering college in Fall 2008 ("NCAA Backgrounder," 2007). Once in college, student-athletes must make steady progress toward earning their degree.

The Graduation-Success-Rate (GSR).

With the understanding that its rates would be published annually along with the mandated federal graduation rates, this legislation was approved in 2003. The NCAA strengthened continuing-eligibility standards so that student-athletes (including junior college transfers) would have to complete 40 percent of their graduation requirements by the start of their third year, 60 percent by the fourth year and 80 percent by the fifth. This legislation-commonly referred to as the 40-60-80 rule or 'Progress Toward Degree' rule- was designed to increase retention and graduation rates of Division I student-athletes. Also, all student-athletes were required to earn a minimum of six hours towards their degree per semester (or quarter) in order to remain eligible during the next semester (History of Academic Reform, [HAR], 2007).

Academic Progress Rate (APR).

In 2004, the NCAA developed a metric that examines academic success in a more realtime (or "snapshot") basis for each team's academic success each semester by looking at the current academic progress of every student-athlete. The APR includes eligibility, retention, and graduation as factors in the rate calculation and provides a clear picture of the current academic culture in each sport. The scoring system awards two points each term to athletes on scholarship who meet academic-eligibility standards and who remain with the school. An APR score of 925 correlates to an expected graduation rate of 60 % (a perfect score is 1000). Teams that fall below 925 are subject to penalties including additional scholarship reductions, recruiting restrictions, lack of access to postseason competition, and restricted membership (HAR, 2007; NCAA, 2006a).

Overall, the NCAA is making progress. By insisting upon a certain level of academic preparation, implementing rules that mandate progress toward graduation, and penalizing universities for poor academic performance and athlete attrition, these NCAA standards have aimed to encourage coaches and student-athletes to be more concerned about academic achievement and to better prepare athletes to succeed in college. Some critics believe that NCAA stands for *Not Concerned About Academics* (NCAA drops the ball, 2007); however, Myles Brand believes that graduation rates could reach 80 % if athletics programs focus on "bringing up the bottom," or "improving rates in the lowest-performing sports" (Wolverton, 2006, p. 38).

Research Student-Athlete

With new technologies emerging each day, and the growing need for more flexibility in scheduling, there appears to be an overall drive towards the development of distance learning

programs (Hillstock, 2005; Simonson, Smaldino, Albright, & Zvacek, 2006). Technological advancements since the 1990s have introduced an increasing number of web-based resources into instructional practice. Nowadays, it is difficult to find a higher education course that does not employ or take advantage of technology in some way (NCES, 2003; Zhang, Zhao, Zhou, & Nunamaker, 2004). However, relatively few studies have examined the relationship between student-athletes and online education experiences and perceptions. Yet, many articles stress the importance of student-athletes' support services (Clark & Parette, 2002; Lorenzen & Lucas, 2002; Petrie & Russell, 1995). Supporters of academic-support services argue that athletes require extra help because the schedule of practice and competition makes it difficult for them to keep up with their class work (Lorenzen & Lucas, 2002; Naughton, 1997).

Student-athletes on college campuses have many obstacles standing in the way of academic success including busy schedules, dealing with existing biases, and accessing many services on campus. In order to ensure success - as a whole student and complete athlete (Clark & Parette, 2002) - it is important to reach this group and accommodate its more unique needs (Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003). Could online learning help satisfy these requirements for student-athletes?

Purdy et al. (1982) evaluated the educational performance levels of over two thousand collegiate student-athletes over a 10-year period in one major university. Findings revealed student-athletes' academic achievements were limited in that they entered with poorer academic backgrounds, received lower grades than their non-athletic peers, and fewer of them graduated. The researchers found that student-athletes who had scholarships exhibited poor academic performance. Possible explanations for the findings were that they felt more like an employee for the university instead of a student and that they "owed" their coaches their undivided attention;

thus they had an obligation to athletics before academics. This kind of identification creates a role conflict for student-athletes, with the student role often being neglected or de-emphasized (Adler & Adler, 1991).

Graduation Rates

Academic success and the probability of student-athlete graduation has been the subject of research by intercollegiate athletic administrators and university faculty members (Adler & Adler, 1985, 1991; Petrie & Russell, 1995; Purdy et al., 1982; Snyder, 1996). During the early 1980s, a great deal of controversy arose about the perceived lack of academic preparation and graduation from college of student-athletes, particularly that of African-American athletes. The level of concern was related to students that were not graduating but should be (Lederman, 1992). Annual tracking and compilation of student-athlete graduation rates evolved as a measure of student-athlete success or failure for National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) member institutions and as the best indicator of student-athlete academic success in college (Synder, 1996).

At present, incoming athletes must achieve certain grades in their high-school classes as well as certain scores on the ACT or SAT determined by the NCAA (NCAA, 2006a). Some of the academic requirements the association has introduced, including one specifying that athletes must complete 40 percent of their degree requirements by the end of their second year to remain eligible to compete, have raised concerns that players are cheating their way to eligibility, taking academic shortcuts, or clustering in easy majors (Wolverton, 2006).

Another unfortunate problem involves falsifying transcripts for student-athletes and giving them credit for courses they have never attended (Thamel & Wilson, 2005; Underwood,

1984). According to Sperber (1990), intercollegiate athletics has been scarred by abuse of academic requirements for athletic eligibility almost since its beginning. The conflict between athletic success and academic performance has had a long and sordid history (Sperber, 1990). The need for institutional accountability is important in order for the academic affairs of student-athletes to be maintained at an acceptable level.

Academic fraud in colleges and universities denied some individuals the chance to be successful in college, or admitted many student-athletes who were simply not prepared or skilled enough to go to college. Studies done over the years concluded that athletes are unprepared for and uninterested in academics and come to college primarily to advance their athletic careers rather than their future vocational careers (Adler & Adler, 1985; Purdy et al., 1982). Most are highly motivated to succeed in the athletic domain, having been selected to participate in intercollegiate athletics because of their proven ability and desire to succeed. However, many of the most visible student-athletes seem to lack such motivation in the classroom (Adler & Adler, 1985; Hood et al., 1992; Purdy et al., 1982; Ridpath, 2002; Simons, Van Rheenen, & Covington, 1999). Therefore, they have lower grade point averages, higher attrition rates, and lower chances of graduating than traditional students (Adler & Adler, 1985; Ridpath, 2002). Administrators and faculty members attribute the seemingly poor academic performance of men's basketball programs to a variety of factors, including the rigors of a season that spans two semesters, the poor educational backgrounds of many of the athletes, and the belief among many players that their careers will continue in the National Basketball Association (Naughton, 1996).

For many years, colleges and universities turned away from academic requirements, allowing under-prepared students, who are blessed with athletic ability, to participate in athletics while academics became a forgotten entity. Institutions have often looked the other way when their athletes began to fail academically (Wyatt, 1999). If a prospective student-athlete is not prepared for the rigors of college level work, graduation may be an unattainable goal.

On the other hand, athletics has given a large number of student-athletes the opportunity to attend colleges and universities. These individuals otherwise might have not attended. Bigmoney collegiate athletics are often defended as an opportunity for minority and low-income youth to fulfill educational dreams they could not otherwise afford (Briggs, 1996).

Previous Research on Graduation Rates

According to NCAA research, graduation rates for all Division I student-athletes have increased dramatically since the academic reform movement of the 1980s, specifically the approval of the increased national initial athletic eligibility standard (Proposition 48) and other academic services (student-athlete academic support services). The 1996 annual report by the NCAA found that student-athletes graduated at about the same rate as their peers (58 %). The graduation rate for all athletes has increased by six percentage points since Proposition 48 went into effect (Naughton, 1996). The greatest increases were among black female athletes, whose rate improved from 44 to 58 percent, black female basketball players (from 47 % to 59 %), among black male athletes (from 34 % to 43 %) and black Division I-A football players (from 35 % to 46 %) (Naughton, 1996).

During the past several years, student-athletes were completing their bachelor's degrees at rates higher than the American college student population at large. The most recent data collected by the NCAA (NCAA 2006b), using the federal calculation for graduation rates, revealed that 63 percent of NCAA Division I student-athletes who started college in 1999 graduated within six years compared to 61-percent rate of college students nationally in the same time period. Both rates increased one percentage point from 2005. It should be noted that the federal graduation rate does not include transfer students. The NCAA's new Graduation Success Rate, however, counts transfer student-athletes in its calculation, leading to a more impressive picture of student-athlete academic success. The most recent GSR data show that 77 percent of Division I student-athletes graduated, 14 points higher than the federal rate (NCAA, 2006b).

Unfortunately, not all teams graduate at the same rate. Division I men's basketball student-athletes graduated at a federal rate of 46 percent, up from 43 percent the previous year. Their GSR was 59 percent. In addition, Division I African-American men's basketball studentathletes graduated at a federal rate of 42 percent, up from 38 percent the previous year and five points higher than the rate for African-American male students in general (GSR was 51 percent) (NCAA, 2006b).

The NCAA recently announced that 112 Division I teams will be penalized for failing to meet minimum academic performance standards (APR cutoff score of 925) ("Knight Commission Urges Presidents," 2007). The Knight Commission has been the primary change agent in college sports reform since 1989. It strives to reconnect college sports with the educational mission of American colleges and universities. On the basis of the NCAA report on Division I academic performance, unless they make significant academic progress, 45 percent of men's basketball teams, 40 percent of football teams, and a third of baseball teams could lose scholarships or be subject to other penalties beginning in the Fall of 2008 (Knight Commission, 2007).

African-Americans

Collegiate athletics has frequently been a source of embarrassment when the NCAA releases its annual data on graduation rates of varsity athletes. Especially in the so-called revenue sports (football and men's basketball) presidents join, if not lead, the predictable chorus of educators and editorials expressing outrage at the abysmal results. Wyatt (1999) reported, "We publicly deplore, for instance, statistics revealing that only 4 out of 10 basketball players graduate in 6 years or less." The weight of the evidence suggests that African-American male athletes who participate in revenue producing sports enter college under-prepared (Purdy et al., 1982; Sellers, 1992) and are less likely to achieve academic success compared to their athlete and non-athlete peers (Adelman, 1990; Briggs, 1996; Suggs, 2003; Underwood, 1984).

The average athlete on a top college football or men's basketball team enters college in the bottom quarter of his class (Naughton, 1997). Although African-American students constitute just 6.6 per cent of the undergraduates at Division I institutions, they make up 46 percent of Division I football teams and 60 percent of Division I basketball teams. African-American students averaged a combined score of 856 on the SAT last year, and a total score of 68 on the ACT (Naughton, 1997). The minimum SAT score required to be eligible for the NCAA Division I on the sliding scale is 820 and the minimum ACT sum score is 68 (NCAA Freshman-Eligibility Standards, 2007).

The explanations for the relatively low scores of black athletes are numerous. First, admissions policies regarding athletes vary from campus to campus with some institutions applying very strict admission standards; other institutions consider athletes to be in a separate category and treat them as such. Walsh, director of research for the NCAA, stresses the fact that this special population has been abused by the educational system, and that they are not going to score as well as a group as everybody else. Walsh argues that universities have nothing to be ashamed of in admitting athletes with below-average academic qualifications, as long as the universities work to make sure that the athletes receive an education. Toward that end, he states that most Division I institutions have hired counselors and tutors to work with their athletes (Naughton, 1997). Adler and Adler (1991) point out that African-American students who compete in the revenue-generating sport of basketball are labeled as athletes, narrowing their focus as they progress through their universities. This identification process, which typically accompanies changes in their major fields of study, could have a detrimental effect on athletes' exploration and employment fields prior to or after graduation (Snyder, 1996).

Adler and Adler (1991) found that the athletes in their study noted feelings of antagonism from their professors. This classroom dynamic indicates another facet of emotional isolation and personal development of African-American student-athletes (Snyder, 1996). Critics of college athletics feel that the pool of students who excel at academics and athletics is too small to fill their men's basketball and football rosters with players who meet typical admissions criteria. It is estimated that each year out of 1500 top-level college football recruits, there are only 300 who score above 1050 on the SAT (Sperber, 1990).

Every year since Proposition 48 took effect in 1986, African-American athletes have dominated the rosters of Division I athletics and are ineligible under the academic standards it established (Lederman, 1992). Critics believe that the NCAA's academic requirements for incoming freshman athletes are "fundamentally flawed" and unfairly discriminate against African-Americans, according to a panel convened by a private foundation. (Panel says freshman standards are 'flawed', 1995) For example, the annual survey of the effects of the NCAA's

academic standards for freshmen showed that the association's academic rules continue to sideline African-American athletes much more frequently than Caucasian athletes.

The annual survey of the effects of the NCAA's academic standards for freshmen revealed that 5.6% freshman athletes who enrolled at Division I colleges 1992 had failed to meet the requirements (Lederman, 1992). According to the 1996 annual report by the NCAA, Division I men's basketball players graduated at a rate significantly lower than that of their fellow students. The report indicates that 44 % of the male Division I basketball players who entered college in 1989 had graduated within six years, a figure that was 11 percentage points below the male average (Naughton, 1996).

Motivation

Athletic success requires an individual to work hard, be self-disciplined, exhibit perseverance and determination, be able to concentrate, and stay focused (Simons, Van Rheenen, & Covington, 1999). These qualities, if transferred to the academic domain, would appear to result in academic success as well. Variation was found among student-athletes' willingness and success in making this transfer. In general, revenue athletes seem less willing to make this transfer and show an apparent lack of academic motivation. Revenue sports bring large sums of money to Division I schools. This perceived lack of motivation is often reflected in a general disidentification with the school and reduced academic performance (Adler & Adler; 1995; Snyder, 1996).

On the other hand, female and non-revenue athletes seem more willing and able than revenue athletes to make this transfer, as demonstrated by their superior academic performance. Non-revenue sports are those that typically generate little or no revenue and need subsidies to

meet their operating budget, such as volleyball, track and field, tennis, swimming, and softball. Studies have consistently shown that female student-athletes are superior to male student-athletes and that non-revenue athletes are superior to revenue athletes in regards to high school GPAs, Scholastic Aptitude Test (SAT) scores, and college GPAs (Briggs, 1996; Purdy et al., 1982).

Gaston-Gayles (2005) examined student-athletes' academic and athletic motivation at a Division I university by predicting academic performance. The sample consisted of 236 studentathletes participating in eight team sports in the Midwest. Results revealed that female athletes appeared to be the most balanced group in the study, exhibiting more motivation for academic related tasks than athletic ones. In addition, Caucasian student-athletes exhibited higher grade point averages than minority student-athletes. On the contrary, non-Caucasian and revenue athletes proved to be the most unbalanced groups of student-athletes in terms of academic and athletic motivation. These two groups of student-athletes exhibited a higher athletic motivation score relative to their academic motivation score (Gaston-Gayles, 2005).

Specific Sport Played in College

Revenue sports typically generate money and exposure for institutions. This disparity can lead to an overemphasis on revenue sports winning games rather than individual student academic achievement. Revenue-producing sports have been associated with a decrease in a student-athlete's academic motivation and success (Suggs, 2003; Underwood, 1984) and low graduation rates (Snyder, 1996). Revenue-producing sports and programs are associated with decreased levels of student-athlete career maturity and academic accomplishment. A studentathlete's primary focus appears to become athletics instead of academics (Adler & Adler, 1985).

According to Purdy et al. (1982), student-athletes who are involved in individual and non-revenue sports were similar to the general student population, secured better grades and were more likely to graduate than those who participated in team revenue sports. In addition, their study noted that the admission of academically marginal student-athletes is primarily confined to football and men's basketball; a finding which subsequently supported by Briggs (1996). There is evidence in the literature that participating in intercollegiate athletics can have a positive effect on graduation rates, as long as the sports are *not* football and men's basketball (Briggs, 1996, p. 13).

Adelman (1990) using data from the National Longitudinal Study of the High School class of 1972, found that intercollegiate football and basketball players complete the bachelor's degree at a reasonable rate, but it takes them longer to do so than other groups, their grades are lower, and their curricula are less demanding. However, by age 32, they experienced the lowest rate of unemployment, had comparatively high incomes, and the highest rate of home ownership of all groups studied. Role engulfment (discussed later) might explain Adelman's (1990) unexpected finding that former intercollegiate football and basketball players were the least likely of all groups to work in a career field related to their academic pursuits at age 32 (Briggs, 1996).

According to the 1999 report, graduation rates for football players and for men's and women's basketball players at NCAA institutions have fallen to their lowest levels in seven years (Suggs, 1999). These numbers can be attributed to the status of those sports and the emphasis on winning games, rather than academic achievement. There can be huge pressure on institutions to win in these sports and generate revenue. Oftentimes, colleges and universities are concerned with their athlete's eligibility status because of the tremendous revenue the athletic programs

produce, particularly in football and men's basketball. In order to remain solvent, the university's athletic department must deliver a winning team in these two sports. To deliver a winning team, keeping the athletes eligible, as opposed to on track for graduation, becomes the imperative. Pressures like this persuade institutions to focus on admitting athletes, instead of students, to increase the chances of winning (Suggs, 1999).

Adler & Adler (1985) noted that a primary change in athlete's athletic involvement was rooted in the *professionalization* of the sport (p. 244). Upon entering college, freshman athletes immediately noticed its commercialization and, as a result, basketball changed from a recreation to an occupation. The occupational dimensions of the sport and their desire to perform well intensified the pressure to win.

Role detachment.

Adler and Adler (1985, 1991) observed the lives of almost 40 members of a Division I men's basketball team over a four-year period. The researchers found that most student-athletes enter colleges and universities with optimist and idealistic goals and attitudes, caring about academics and intending to graduate. Yet, graduation may not be the end result because athletic, social, and classroom experiences lead them to become detached from their previous goals of academic success and optimism.

Adler and Adler (1985) observed relationships between athletic participation and academic performance. The purpose of their study was to analyze the academic performance of college athletes at Division I programs. Their major findings demonstrated that a studentathlete's involvement in intercollegiate athletics led to academic detachment. Winning athletic programs whose emphasis was more athletically oriented undermined the student-athletes'

realization of academic goals and other aspirations. Academic detachment was a result of adjustments the student-athletes had to overcome. Detachment from academics occurred as a result of abandonment of earlier academic aspirations and expectations of the student-athletes. The detachment led to inferior academic performance and decreased motivation to excel academically. More emphasis was placed on athletic achievement as the student-athletes' role of being a student changed to becoming a successful college athlete.

Briggs (1996) examined differences in degree aspirations and accomplishments between intercollegiate football or basketball players and other non-revenue athletes and came to the same conclusion. Most student-athletes start college with the same degree ambitions of other students, but after four years of college, football and men's basketball players have a significantly lower degree performances and degree expectations than their counterparts who play other collegiate sports (Briggs, 1996). The level of degree ambition drops significantly after being enrolled in college for one year (Briggs, 1996). Data was used from the Cooperative Institutional Research program of students who were college freshmen in 1986 and responded to a follow-up survey in 1990.

Role conflict.

According to Adler and Adler (1991) roles are based on the different activities an individual would pursue when he or she followed the guidelines of a position. Student-athletes identified themselves as a student and as an athlete; however, they adhered to each role differently. Regardless of whether they identified their priority role to be athlete or student, the decisions involved in maintaining both identities lead to role conflict and role overload. Because of the dual responsibilities of the student-athlete, they often compromise when role conflict and

overload occurs. The researchers investigated how student-athletes dealt with role-conflict. Student- athletes had to focus on academic roles, athletic roles, and social roles; however, the researchers discovered role differences between students and athlete. Findings revealed that the college athlete focused on the academic role when he or she first entered college and believed that s/he has the necessary academic skills to successfully complete in college. However, relatively little value was often placed upon academic achievement unless the college athlete's primary motivation was academic success (Adler & Adler, 1985, 1991).

Besides role conflict, Adler and Adler described role domination, role abandonment and role detachment among student-athletes. Adler and Adler (1991, p. 27) defined role domination as "the process by which athletes became engulfed in their athletic role as it ascended to a position of prominence". This occurs when student-athletes place emphasis on athletics instead of academics. According to Adler and Adler (1991, p. 28), role abandonment occurs when "they [student-athletes] progressively detached themselves from their investment in other areas and let go of alternative goals or priorities'. Role detachment has been addressed earlier in this paper.

The Role of the Coach

The coaching staff, especially the head coach of any varsity team, provides the greatest impact on the academic success of any student-athlete. Coaches emphasizing the importance of academics and who are involved in the academic well-being of their student-athletes, rather than just having athletes stay eligible to compete, can have a great influence on athlete's academic success and graduation (Adler & Adler, 1985). Revenue sports and non-revenue sports have a different coach-academic-relationship. Men's basketball and football, the two most common revenue sports, carry immense pressure for coaches to win. In general, the less pressure to win,

the more focus a coach can put on the academic well-being of each student-athlete. Therefore, in non-revenue sports, coaches typically do not put as much pressure on non-revenue athletes to perform athletically, focus more on academics and are much more involved in student's life outside of athletics (Adler & Adler, 1985).

Since winning in revenue sports appears to have a larger monetary payoff, it is plausible that revenue sport athletes are forced by coaches to accept a more severe tradeoff between academic performances relative to athletic achievements. Revenue sport coaches are primarily hired and fired based on won-loss records, not for achieving high graduation rates. This pressure to succeed can detach a revenue sport coach from being involved in the academic success of his student-athletes (Sperber, 1990). A revenue sport coach is likely to be excessive in the demands that s/he places on the time of their athletes for athletic purposes at the expense of academic purposes (Purdy et al., 1982). In revenue sports, student-athletes are likely to enroll in a less difficult curriculum designed specifically for them, which could significantly reduce the educational value of their time in college, often at the insistence of their coaches (Adelman, 1990; Adler & Adler, 1985, 1991; Briggs, 1996).

According to Sperber (1990), many student-athletes are shuttled by their coaches into "professor friendly" classes and easy majors with the intention that academics will not interfere with their athletic responsibilities. If coaches are threatened with their employment, the athletic success of the team will almost always take priority over the academic success of the studentathletes. Student-athletes will often decide in favor of athletics when a conflict exists with academics to please their coach who possesses the power to decide who starts in games and who receives scholarship money (Adelman, 1990; Briggs, 1996). Because a coach possesses the power to decide which athlete will play, many student-athletes believe that they will be penalized

by their coach for choosing academic commitments over athletic ones. Therefore, athletes themselves are likely reluctant to miss practice, as it may interfere with their athletic skill development and may place them at risk of losing a starting position (Simons et al., 1999).

Adler and Adler (1985) found that incoming student-athletes in revenue sports usually feel idealistic about academics when entering college because of coaches' advertisement of academics during recruiting. However, this often changes when the pressures of athletics begin to mount. Consequently, educational and life goals with which players entered college are often discarded in exchange for the single goal of winning games by a process Adler and Adler (1991) call "role engulfment". The researchers noted that many factors contributed to this narrowing of pursuits, but found that the coach was the main influence in the process of role engulfment away from academics in order to meet high performance athletic goals.

Researchers have attempted to determine what non-academic variables might help to explain the college academic performance of student-athletes. They found that a strong support person, involvement in the community, and positive self-image positively predicted college academic performance. On the contrary, if influential role models do not care how the studentathlete performs academically, the student-athlete's academic performance will suffer (Petrie & Russell, 1995; Sedlacek & Adams-Gaston, 1992; Sellers, 1992).

In sports, discipline, responsibility, and self-control are qualities that all coaches try to instill in their student-athletes. Athletes are encouraged to play hard and to practice with great intensity in preparing their minds and bodies to compete successfully (Shuford, 1998). Indeed, a coach can be the strongest support person in the life of a college student-athlete (Petrie & Russell, 1995). Just as the term "student-athlete" has become politically correct on the

institutional level, it is now time to apply the term "educator-coach" to the people who minister to the student-athletes' various needs (Shuford, 1998).

Shuford suggests three basic reasons: (1) student-athletes' graduation has to be ensured and the coach must understand all the requirements for graduation and have a general idea of how each athlete is progressing, (2) college admission requirements must be understood, i.e., NCAA eligibility requirements, the SAT/ACT scores, and the recruiting process, and (3) coaches must be concerned with athletic eligibility. Athletes have to be eligible in order to contribute to their team's success. Coaches have to deal with state and local eligibility requirements and must inform all prospective athletes of the requirements and serve as support persons to them.

Specialized Academic Support Services

Practically all NCAA Division I institutions provide a number of advisors, tutors, and mentors to help student-athletes learn how to balance the demands of the classroom and the playing field (NCAA, 2006a). Members of the Association have the responsibility to "conduct intercollegiate athletics programs in a way designed to protect and enhance the educational wellbeing of athletes and to assure proper emphasis on educational objectives" (NCAA, 2006a, Article 22.2.2.2, Academic Integrity, p. 390).

Many researchers (Clark & Parette, 2002; Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003; Petrie & Russel, 1995) have suggested that student-athletes face a unique set of challenges which they are not ready to meet without assistance. They are seen as a diverse special population because of their roles on campus, their atypical lifestyles, and their special needs (Sedlacek & Adams-Gaston, 1992). The Challenging Athletes Minds for Personal Success (CHAMPS) / Life Skills program was launched by the National Collegiate Athletic Association (NCAA) in 1994. The program

was created to support the student development initiatives of its member institutions and to enhance the quality of the student- athlete experience within the university setting. The NCAA provides instructional materials and resources that support student-athletes' development in academics, athletics, personal life, career, and community service (NCAA, 1999).

Critics state that the graduation rates of athletes are inflated because of these specialized academic support services, and that many would not graduate without an inordinate amount of help (Naughton, 1997). Thomas L. Haskell, a professor at Rice University, has said that athletes are shepherded through courses and majors that athletic academic counselors know they can pass, rather than receiving an authentic education. He argued that if athletes were real students, they would not need elaborate and costly machinery to do what normal students must do as a matter of course (Naughton, 1997). Others, in turn, argue that initial eligibility standards alone do not increase graduation rates. They point to a vast array of services available only to athletes that can insure that even an academically marginal student-athlete can graduate (Sperber, 1990). George Raveling, for example, the men's basketball coach at University of Southern California once said that he thinks that "you have to work at not getting a degree if you are a student-athlete today" (Lederman, 1991).

Summary

The numbers demonstrate that graduation rates for student-athletes are on the rise; but on the other hand, much work remains to be done.

Gaston-Gayles (2005) states that there are many ways student affairs administrators can help student-athletes increase their level of academic motivation. At present, student-athletes spend a lot of their time and energy in the athletic domain. Stimulating the creation of a balance between academics and athletics must be encouraged (Gaston-Gayles, 2005). Further, the collegiate athlete should be encouraged to take responsibility for their academic successes and failures just as they analyze a bad game by searching for the reason for poor performance. Already existing student-athlete support services, as well as the coaching staff, play an important role in helping their athletes succeed as both athletes and as students.

Research on Student-Athletes and Online Education

Not everybody on campus understands how time-consuming college athletics can be (Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003). First, heavy practices (sometimes even two sessions a day during the season, conditioning and weight training during the off-season), then mandatory study hall control every evening, formal and informal athletic meetings, and curfews restrict the student-athlete's free time. Additionally, intense travel schedules require students to be out-of-town for one or more days nearly every week during the season, making it difficult to find a balance between one's body and mind. As early as the 1920s, Frederick Allen observed that "teams which represented supposed institutions of learning went barnstorming for weeks at a time, imbibing what academic instruction they might on the sleeping car between the Yankee Stadium and Chicago or between Texas and the Tournament of Roses at Pasadena" (Crowley, 1996, p. 61).

Their dual roles and busy lifestyles distinguish them from traditional students and leave them with little free time. Lorenzen und Lucas (2003) alluded to these limitations, including preclusion of access to many services on campus including the library. The authors reported that at Michigan State University, all freshmen athletes were required to attend library instruction sessions, focusing on how to access electronic library resources. In 1996, the men's basketball

team at the University of Washington was given laptops to better enable them to complete schoolwork when traveling and was also enrolled in a course on how to use laptops. The program was considered successful and plans were made to expand it to include more of the student-athlete population (Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003). Do these results indicate that instructional technology can provide help for student-athletes?

According to Fowler (2004) and Rundle (2004), online education for athletes who are too busy to attend traditional classrooms has found its way into high schools. The private program of University of Miami Online High School (UMOHS) is a virtual school that caters to athletes and offers an academic program for \$9,750 a year (Fowler, 2004). More than 400 students are enrolled at UMOHS, 65% of whom are athletes and, in particular, tennis players. Virtual high schools, says Rundle (2004), have emerged as an increasingly popular education alternative for on-the-go athletes. The director and owner of UMOHS states that a growing number of young athletes are dropping out of traditional schools in order to spend more time training and traveling to tournaments. Further, he estimates that between one quarter and one half of "high-level" tennis players are not in school. Parents contend that "if you stay in the top ranks of tennis, you can't go to school like a regular kid anymore" (Rundle, 2004). For example, a 16-year-old tennis hopeful claimed that online school gives him the flexibility he needs and although the workload is the same, he can do it anywhere. He stated that although it is nicer to ask a question face-to-face to a teacher, online education prepares him in some ways better for college because he is to required to be more independent (Rundle, 2004). Another athlete at UMOHS improved his world junior ranking from 886 to 110 within a year while attending online classes (Fowler, 2004).

Online Programs for Student-Athletes in High Schools

Online education for student-athletes has already found its way into the high school setting. The online high school Laurel Springs in Ojai, California offers an academic program to 1,800 students. A mother of a 13-year-old elite gymnast who spends eight hours a day in the gym, argued that she does not want to compromise education, but regular school was not an option (Fowler, 2004). Several states have rules that require schools to fail students if they do not meet certain attendance standards, i.e. in Arizona, teachers can fail students who miss more than seven days a year (Rundle, 2004). Critics and educators are split about the benefits of online schools; however, UMOHS was recently granted membership in the National Honor Society. In addition, UMOHS began collaboration with the University of Miami, where it expects to tap into the expertise of professors and graduate students to help with curriculum development (Rundle, 2004).

Kevin Roy, Elite's director of education, points to both benefits ("the virtual school offers endless possibilities") and costs ("you will never have that wonderful teacher who inspires you for life") of online education (Fowler, 2004). UMOHS offers pure, online classes for full-time enrollment and the option to attend an affiliated bricks-and-mortar institution with at least one online course. Each method resulted in most of the high school's alumni going on to college, many of them with a full or partial scholarship (Rundle, 2004). One student stated that the online curriculum requires a lot of self-discipline and is more challenging than the courses at the 'old' school. Some parents are skeptical and hesitant about the academic quality of online learning programs, yet teachers tutor students at UMOHS, monitor students' work, and send progress reports every three weeks via computer to students' parents (Rundle, 2004). The associate

executive director believes that distance education is an idea whose time has come; additionally, research shows it's an effective learning approach (Rundle, 2004).

Other Experiences of Online Education with Student-Athletes

Sacred Heart University has discovered online education to be an effective tool for student-athletes. Hutchison (2004) points out that it is not always possible for student-athletes to take the traditional four-year path to a college degree because certain classes conflict with team schedules, the demanding sports season often limits the number of credits a student-athlete can handle, and there is not always the option to take a condensed course on campus during summer months. This is where online learning comes into play and offers an alternative source of education to earn credits. Sacred Heart University associate athletic director, Lucy Cox, evaluates the school's athletes to determine whether online learning is appropriate for them. Cox determines whether they are self-disciplined enough to take the course. Self-discipline is important because student-athletes do not have a set class time. Cox stated, "Online courses are not an easy fix for student-athletes who may need to pick up an easy three credits. For starters, online courses require students to manage their time well enough to fulfill course requirements" (Hutchison, 2004, p. 16).

Cox emphasizes that online learning is a great option because student-athletes can do their work whenever they want, which is a perfect fit in the summer off-season. Cox claimed, "We are very careful in making sure distance-learning courses are good fits for our athletes. We are careful that they don't overload with these types of courses" (Hutchison, 2004, p. 16). Cox also added that self-motivation is crucial and thinks that probably most athletes are selfmotivated and good enough at managing time to handle these alternative, vigorous courses.

Nevertheless, not all of the 750 Division I student-athletes at Sacred Heart get through online courses successfully. Cox contends that the success rate is about 90 percent and student-athletes hold a 3.0 GPA. Oftentimes, student-athletes need help getting through the semester when they are playing because they cannot be in class all the time. Online classes are a way for some athletes to make up for lost time during the school year" (Hutchison, 2004, p. 16).

As a result of their hectic lifestyle, student-athletes may struggle in college more than the general student body, and are in need of an alternative learning environment that emphasizes learner-centered activity. Lorenzen & Lucas (2002) point out that student-athletes are, in essence, distance education students every time they travel to compete. Would student-athletes be able to exercise control and effectively regulate their own learning in a flexible learning system? Is there a movement toward using online learning for student-athletes? Perhaps online classes could substitute for those missed by using streaming video of lectures? Would online education be preferred over the traditional classroom approach? Which specific media and learning attributes should be examined?

Research on Online Education

Online education, or distance learning, has passed through four to five 'generations' of technology in its history from print, audio, and video broadcasting to computer aided instruction to online learning and computer broadcasting (Simonson et al., 2006). It has become the formatof-choice for many universities and colleges anxious to provide students with the opportunity and convenience of learning outside the classroom (Allen & Seaman, 2006; Simonson et al., 2006). Peters (2007) acknowledges that the digital age has created a new relationship between teachers and learners. She states that research conducted by the London School of Economics

found that children are typically the Internet experts in the family and described this situation as a "lasting reversal of the generation gap" (p. 5).

The growing popularity and development in personal digital assistants (PDAs), PocketPCs, Smart Phones, mobile phones, personal media players, and Apple's iPod have offered an additional online education medium (Anderson, 2005). The availability of such portable, handheld ICT (Information and Communications Technology) devices has provoked many in education to explore its implications for teaching, learning and research (Anderson, 2005). Anderson's report stated that technologies will become cheaper, faster and increasingly common and that ever larger increases in storage, processing and communications capabilities of these devices is predicted over the coming years (Anderson, 2005).

Growth and Development of Distance Education

Distance Education has become a popular approach in higher education institutions offering a variety of distance delivery forms and new instructional tools that allow college and universities to offer more distance courses and programs to a greater population of students, especially students with special needs. A study by the U.S. Department of Education on distance education in higher education revealed that 45 % of all public four-year institutions and 39 % of all public two-year institutions offered distance education courses during the 1994-1995 academic year (Lewis, Alexander, & Farris, 1997).

Over the last decade, institutions participating in distance education have grown significantly. According to the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES), 86 % of all public four-year institutions and 88 % of all public two-year institutions offered at least 1 distance education course during the 2004-2005 academic year (NCES, 2006).

Online education, often referred to as eLearning, has been the most popular form of distance education. A recent study has found that the popularity of online education is definitely on the rise (Allen & Seaman, 2006). The Sloan Survey of Online Learning, "Making the Grade: Online Education in the United States, 2006" highlights tremendous growth in online learning in the United States. The annual study, now in its fourth year, was based on responses from 2,200 U.S. colleges and universities. It suggests that for the past several years, online enrollments have been growing substantially faster than the overall higher education student body. Higher education institutions taught nearly 3.2 million online students during the fall term of 2005, an increase of about 850,000 students and a growth rate of 35 % relative to 2004 (Allen & Seaman, 2006). The survey also revealed that 62 % of chief academic officers agree the learning outcomes in online education is critical to their institution's long-term strategy compared to 56 % in 2005. In addition, 73 % agree online education reaches students not served by face-to-face programs (Allen & Seaman, 2006).

Online learning includes synchronous instruction that enables students and instructors to participate simultaneously, and asynchronous instruction that allows an anywhere/anytime approach, at the learner's convenience, which is time-zone independent (Simonson et al., 2006). Learners appreciate online learning because of the convenience it offers to take courses from home or on a trip without the typical cost and time issues associated with travel to and from a traditional campus (Simonson et al., 2006). Distance education, at its most basic level, takes place when a teacher and student(s) are separated by physical distance and technology (i.e., voice, video, data, and print), often in concert with face-to-face communication, is used to bridge

the instructional gap. These types of programs can provide college education to those individuals that are disadvantaged by limited time, distance or physical disability (EODE, 2007).

Course Delivery Methods

While individual instructors use diverse course delivery methods, there are three common methods of communication that are currently used to provide information and course material in college and university settings (Allen & Seaman, 2006; Rodriguez et al., 1995): (1) traditional or face-to-face instruction where an instructor leads the course, no technology is used and content is delivered in writing or orally with no online-related course experience; (2) online courses which have at least 80 percent of the content delivered online and typically without any face-to-face meetings, and (3) the combination of both a professor and online instruction. Allen & Seaman (2006, p. 4) distinguish between web-facilitated instruction and a blended/hybrid course. In a web-facilitated instruction, between 1 and 29 percent of content is delivered online. These courses use web-based technology to facilitate what is essentially a face-to-face course, for example by use of a course management system (CMS) or web pages to post the syllabus and assignments. A blended/hybrid type of course blends online and face-to-face delivery. A substantial proportion of the content, 30-79 percent is delivered online, typically with the use of online discussions and some face-to-face meetings (Allen & Seaman, 2006).

Today, with new technologies emerging daily and the growing need for more flexibility in scheduling, there seems to be an overall trend towards the expansion of online or distance learning. The underlying premise of online learning is to create and widen access to education and to improve its quality, using online education techniques and associated technologies to meet

the particular requirements of individuals who are unable to participate in the traditional classroom environment (Hillstock, 2005).

Face-to-Face Instruction

In a traditional or face-to-face classroom environment, real-time (synchronous) communication between the instructor and student takes place. The instructor is typically responsible for class objectives and goals, serves as a leader, and decides on the methods of evaluation. In a traditional classroom, the instructor takes advantages of the chalkboard, overhead projector, print media, handouts, and open class discussions (Hillstock, 2005). According to Simonson and colleagues (2006, p. 230), "teachers and the textbook were the two primary sources of course content; teachers lectured and demonstrated; students listened and took notes, and then regurgitated the same information the same information back to the teachers on exams."

The advent of computer- and Internet-based technologies, however, has brought new opportunities for providing learning experiences to students. This philosophy of education has become popularly known as student-centered learning because it promotes active learning, mastery of course material, collaboration, and student control over the learning process (Simonson et al., 2006).

Distance Education

Distance education is defined "as institution-based, formal education where the learning group is separated, and where interactive telecommunications systems are used to connect learners, resources, and instructors" (Simonson, 2003). According to the American Society for Training and Development, Distance learning (also called Distance Education), is an

"educational situation in which the instructor and students are separated by time, location, or both. Education or training courses are delivered to remote locations via synchronous or asynchronous means of instruction, including written correspondence, text, graphics, audio- and videotape, CD-ROM, online learning, audio- and videoconferencing, interactive TV, and FAX." (Kaplan-Leiserson, 2007)

The growth in online learning has changed the emphasis in education from an instructorcentered to a learner-centered focus. In an online or distance learning environment, the instructor is viewed as the facilitator of learning by guiding the students, rather than directing (Simonson et al., 2006). Yet, this shift towards the absence of an on-site instructor expects the online learner to take greater responsibility and control of their own learning and for class management (Schunk & Zimmermann, 1998). Several researchers have argued that online students must have welldeveloped self-regulated and self-directed learning skills, oftentimes to a greater extent than traditional learners (Hillstock, 2005; Kinzie, 1990; Schunk & Zimmermann, 1998; Simonson et al., 2006). Self-regulated learners are motivated to efficiently control their own learning experiences. They establish a productive work environment, use resources effectively, hold positive beliefs about their abilities, are aware of factors that influence learning, and organize and rehearse information to be learned (Schunk & Zimmermann, 1998).

To date, there is no clear or verified process for determining whether face-to-face instruction, distance instruction, or a combination of the two is best (Clark, 1983; Simonson et al., 1996). Some people advocate the need for face-to-face instruction and stress the importance of seeing and being seen, and the personal nature of the teaching-learning environment. They argue that you cannot really learn a topic without being in a specific place with a select group of collaborators (Simonson et al., 1996). In the same manner, Garrison (1990) argues for the appropriate, conservative use of interactive communication technologies education, which is dependent on two-way communication. There is an increasing realization in the educational community that simply accessing information is not sufficient. In an educational experience information must be shared, critically analyzed, and applied in order to become knowledge (p. 13). Garrison (1990) states, "Passive access to information is not sufficient; there must be active participation in the educational experience for information to become meaningful knowledge" (p. 15).

Simonson and colleagues (2006) stress that it is equally important to understand the intent of learners when planning the process for delivery since knowing the students in a class provides the instructor with an understanding of how to best approach instruction to ensure an optimal learning experience for all.

Effectiveness of Online Education

Russell (1999) has examined more than 300 papers, research reports and summaries addressing learning benefits of different media since 1920 and concluded that there is no significant difference between distance learning and traditional classroom learning. The so-called no-significant-difference phenomenon demonstrates that no significant difference can be found, regardless of the medium used for learning (Russell, 1999).

In 1983, Clark wrote that "the best current evidence is that media are *mere vehicles* that deliver instruction but do not influence student achievement any more than the truck that delivers our groceries causes changes in nutrition...only the content of the vehicle can influence achievement" (Clark, 1983, p. 445). In his article, Clark claimed that instructional media were excellent for storing educational messages and for delivering them almost anywhere. Media, however, were not responsible for a learning effect and learning was not enhanced because instruction was media-based. Instead, the content of the instruction, the involvement of the

student, and the method used to promote learning was what crucial for the learning experience (Clark, 1983).

Some critics might not have agreed with Clark's review of instructional technology in which Clark (1994) once again evaluated the research on technology used to deliver instruction and said that "it is likely that when different media treatments of the same informational content to the same students yield similar learning results the cause of the results can be found in a method which the two treatments share in common...give up your enthusiasm for the belief that media attributes cause learning" (Clark, 1994, p. 28).

Since Clark's widely distributed comments (1983, 1994), a number of researchers have tried to refute his premise but have not yet been successful. At present, there is a consensus that "media are mere vehicles" and that we should "give up (our) enthusiasm" that the delivery media for instructional content significantly influences learning (Simonson et al., 2006). However, some people have misinterpreted the "no significant differences phenomenon" and assumed that instructional technology and distance education do not promote learning. According to Simonson et al., (2006), this belief is false. They provide evidence that it is possible to learn from technology delivered instruction at any age, and that distance learning works. They conclude that distance education can be as effective as any other category of instruction and that keys to successful distance learning are in design, development, and delivery of instruction, and are not related to geography or time (p. 9).

Advantages of Online Education

The primary advantages of online learning are flexibility in time and location, a learnercentered approach, convenience, and the ability to work at any place and at one's own pace

(Zhang et al., 2004). Time for class can be distinguished as synchronous (which is similar to the on-campus, face-to-face arrangement where all members of the class are together at the same time by means of a televised class, audio conference or web-based video conference) or asynchronous ('anytime/anywhere' classes in which students can learn and complete coursework at the best and most appropriate time for them) (Simonson et al., 2006).

Some educational institutions are combining distance and on-campus students in courses. In some courses, distance students can watch on-campus class meetings live via online streaming video and even participate in real-time discussion between on and off-campus students through an online chat board (Simonson et al., 2006). Other online classrooms permit the recording of interactions and instructional events that may have already occurred (Simonson et al., 2006). This may yet be another effective option for student-athletes to make up for missed classes on account of tight travel schedules.

The asynchronous educational environment enables the learner to engage in more reflective thinking before having to answer or discuss issues, relative to a synchronous or sametime interaction. According to Simonson et al. (2006), with a face-to-face class, there may often be a sense of time urgency associated with answering student questions during class or during office hours whereas the time lags experienced in an online class may take some of the pressure off instructors and students and provide more time to prepare appropriate responses to questions (Simonson et al., 2006). Another advantage of online classes is the emphasis on written words which encourages deeper level thinking in online classes. Besides time benefits, many learners appreciate lower transportation costs by not having to commute to and from campus (Simonson et al., 2006).

Could digital education be a viable option and a better fit for people who cannot participate easily in traditional classes or who have other commitments such as family, work and participation in serious sports?

Simonson et al., 2006 (pp. 233, 234) provide insight into both the advantages and limitations of online learning compared to face-to-face instruction:

- Unless access is deliberately restricted, courses or online course materials could be available to any qualified individual in the world with a properly equipped computer and an Internet connection. Students can participate from school, home, office, or community locations.
- Asynchronous course components are available 24 hours a day, at the learner's convenience, and are time-zone independent.
- Students can work at their own pace.
- Course materials and activities available through the Web are distributable across multiple computer platforms; it makes no difference whether users are using Windows or Macintosh operation systems.
- The technology is relatively easy for students to use.
- Learning materials are available across the entire World Wide Web.
- Online course materials, once developed, are easy to update, providing students access to current information.
- The Internet can provide a student-centered learning environment, if the materials and methods are designed to take advantage of the interactivity the Internet provides.
- The Internet promotes active learning and facilitates student's intellectual involvement with the course content.
- A well-conceived online course provides a variety of learning experiences and accommodated different learning styles.
- Students become skilled at using Internet resources, a factor that may improve employment options upon graduation

Limitations of Online Education

- Online courses may emphasize the technology rather than the content (Clark, 1983, 1994).
- Well-designed Internet-based courses may be labor-intensive to develop; requiring time and personnel resources not available to many instructors (Hillstock, 2005).
- Some instructors have difficulty adjusting to the learner-centered model of instruction and do not want to convert their teacher-centered model into an online format. Some topics may not adapt well to delivery by computer.
- Copyright violations on course web pages that are not password-protected sit in plain sight for the rights holders and their attorneys.
- Online courses require students to take more responsibility for their own learning (Schunk & Zimmermann, 1998).
- Although responses to questions may be instantaneous in the conventional classroom, feedback may be delayed by hours or even days in an online learning situation.
- The support infrastructure, providing training and technical assistance to both students and instructor, is often minimal or nonexistent. Instructional design support during the conceptualization and development of a course is also frequently unavailable.
- In the online environment, users may be subjected to distractions unbeknownst to the instructor.

Misconceptions of Online Education

Hillstock (2005) highlights four misconceptions about distance education: (1) the underestimated amount of time needed to develop and prepare on the part of the faculty members, with up to 30 extra hours required to prepare for the semester; (2) the effective use of appropriate technology; (3) the various learning styles of students and the misconception on the part of the students that the class might be easier and the workload lighter because they can work at their own pace.; and (4) the misconception that online learning is a way to save money.

Faculty should choose the technology and gain a complete understanding of its strengths and weaknesses; however, they should primarily concentrate on education. Principally, the technology should be used to supplement the classroom as a means of enhancing learning. Inadequately equipped online learning systems can result in frustration, confusion, and a reduction in student interest (Zhang et al., 2004).

Students should first address the issue of how they learn most effectively and consider three characteristics: visual, auditory and kinesthetic. Visual learners learn through seeing, auditory learners learn through listening and kinesthetic learners learn through moving, doing and touching. With the addition of newer technologies, audio streaming is available to an auditory learner in web-based environments. With this in mind, students are able to determine the best ways to prepare for synchronous (i.e., chat) or asynchronous (i.e., discussion board) class discussions, quizzes, and exams. Generally, distance education is more expensive to set up and once implemented properly, administrators must carefully consider the cost of development, training, support, and how to stay current with technology. In addition, the student-teacher ratio

will be smaller than that of the traditional classroom (averaging one teacher to twenty-five students) (Hillstock, 2005).

Characteristics of Online Learners

Although online education is gaining popularity (Allen & Seaman, 2006), it is accompanied by a high attrition rate. According to Lee and Witta (2001) attrition can be directly attributed to a motivational problem. When learning takes place at a distance, student motivation becomes particularly critical because distance learning places the responsibility for learning on the student much more so than does traditional learning.

Controversy exists regarding the relationship between the student's level of comfort with using the Internet and the degree of student satisfaction with online courses. Loyd and Gressard (1984) state that, "it is becoming increasingly evident that familiarity with computers and the ability to use them effectively will be of critical importance to success in many different fields" (p. 67). In addition, online learners lacking the required technical skills are at risk of suffering from computer anxiety; however, Loyd and Gressard (1984) support the theory that increasing computer experience will decrease computer anxiety.

Stokes (2003) found a significant relationship between the student's level of experience using the World Wide Web and student satisfaction. Students who described themselves as being at ease with using the World Wide Web were more likely than less experienced users to be satisfied with the online learning environment. According to Lee & Witta (2001), engaging in an online learning process requires a certain level of comfort with computer and web technologies in order to fully participate in online instructional activities, to access instructional materials, and to interact with an instructor and peers, students need to be able to use a variety of modern

hardware and software applications. Results of a 4-interval-survey of students enrolled in an undergraduate course, Introduction to Educational technology offered through WebCT, indicated that self-efficacy for course content and online technologies increased during the semester. They found that initial self-efficacy for course content was a significant predictor (p<0.05) of students' satisfaction with the course; they found a considerable significant increase in student's level of self-efficacy for online technologies during the first three weeks of the semester. Common sense dictates that when students have more experience with online technologies, they feel more confident using online technologies, and their self-efficacy increases accordingly (Lee & Witta, 2001).

Alternatively, DeBourgh (1999) studied student satisfaction in a graduate nursing program taught via fully interactive, multipoint real-time video teleconferencing and reported that being at ease with the World Wide Web was not a predictor variable for satisfaction with online learning. Students who had little or no previous experience with distance learning and rated their precourse competence with technology as low were highly satisfied with the course (DeBourgh, 1999). Also, Rodriguez et al. (1995) found that comfort with computer operations and online-technology tools did not appear to be related to online course taking behavior (number of line courses taken). They state that comfort with technology does not limit who enrolls for online courses.

Stokes (2003) identified two "best" measures of student satisfaction: student willingness to take a web-based course again and their willingness to recommend an online course to a friend. He concluded that satisfaction with online learning was influenced by Internet access, increased flexibility in daily activities by taking a Web-based class, and the availability of Internet resources for class work. DeBourgh (1999) suggested that certain pedagogical

characteristics are associated with student satisfaction, including providing clear expectations about course assignments, promptly recognizing and responding to students' questions, encouraging student participation in class sessions, using a variety of instructional techniques to help students gain a better understanding of course material, establishing mechanisms for students to access the instructor outside of class sessions, and providing timely feedback and return of students' written course work. Rodriguez et al. (1995) found a negative relationship between the number of online courses taken and satisfaction.

Simonson and colleagues summarized characteristics of an effective online learner. He or she must: (2006, p. 235):

- Be comfortable with learning and interacting with others through technology.
- Have the ability to communicate effectively through writing.
- Have the presence of mind to think ideas through before responding.
- Be self-motivated and self-disciplined, and able to structure and manage time effectively.
- Be goal-oriented.
- Have the ability to conduct self-study as necessary and construct knowledge to fill in informational gaps that may occur in an online lesson.
- Be open-minded about sharing life, work, and educational experience as part of the learning process.
- Be willing to take risks and to "speak up" if a problem arises.
- Have the ability to focus and ignore distractions in one's own learning environment.

- Have a commitment to the belief that high-quality learning can take place in the absence of a traditional classroom.
- Be sufficiently flexible to accept teaching and learning in a different context and have the ability to adapt to learning successfully in an online environment.
- Have the ability to commit the amount of time the course requires.
- Be willing to interact effectively with peers and engage in group processes.

Can Online Education be Considered for Student-Athletes?

Self-motivation, self-discipline, goal-orientation, willingness to take risks, ability to concentrate, work hard, perseverance and determination are qualities required to be a successful athlete (Simons et al., 1999). An online environment might be attractive to student-athletes, considering that these young men and women on college campus have many obstacles to academic success, particularly dealing with a) an overwhelming dual career through difficult schedules, b) misconceptions and stereotypes, and c) being at a disadvantage through the rigors of extensive traveling. In general, they have difficulty accessing many services on campus, including the library, because of time and location restrictions (Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003; Wyatt, 1999).

Dealing with dual career and difficult schedules.

Rodriguez et al. (2005) surveyed 700 professional and graduate education students regarding their comfort with technology, satisfaction with those experiences, and perceived quality (given their experience with online or hybrid courses). They found that students with or without online course experience appreciated the following aspects: flexibility of study time, study location, and less need to go to campus. Yet, both groups responded negatively to the limited face-to-face interaction (Rodriguez et al., 2005).

Dealing with bias and stereotyping.

Simonson et al. (2006, p. 45) point out that online learning courses lead to an unbiased class environment since fewer channels are available for personal judgment. They state that it is easier for an instructor (as well as for students) to be more objective about individual achievement. Vrasidas & Zembylas (2003) agree that technology influences cross-cultural online interaction by simply reflecting each individual's words, and not reflecting attributes commonly subjected to biases, stereotypes, misconceived perceptions, or misinterpretations due to someone's skin color, physical appearance, gestures, or facial expressions.

Being at a disadvantage through the rigors of extensive traveling.

As in any instructional setting, class attendance is imperative (be it in a traditional class or a distance class) and class participation always enhances learning for students. One solution is to provide a video-based class for which, when a student is unable to attend a class, the professor could record the class and send the tape (video or audio) to the learner(s) who missed class. Although no interaction is possible, at least learners do not lose out on content (Simonson et al., 2006).

Perspective on Online Education

In today's technologically oriented information dependent era, the availability of online courses will continue to increase (Allen & Seaman, 2006). Advances in computer and networking technologies provide diverse support for learning in a more personalized, flexible, portable, and on-demand environment (Zhang et al., 2004). The success that higher education

institutions experience with distance learning will depend on a greater understanding of the student perceptions. Being able to understand the needs of students, support students in online courses, and promote successful learning experiences will be critical to the success of the online learning arena (Rodriguez et al., 2005). Crowley (2006) has introduced the student-athlete's arena as a physical space and a mental place. Is there an online arena for student-athletes?

Some questions remain to be answered: How are student-athletes influenced by adopting online techniques to their unique environments? Are these alternative techniques superior to the traditional face-to-face classroom environment, which is centered on instructors who control class content and the learning process? Does online learning offer a learner-centered, self-paced learning environment that is more effective for this special population? How can instructional technology minimize the barriers that other students on campus do not have to deal with? How can pre-existing student-athlete support services be improved? Educational researchers do not have to reinvent the wheel; athletes do not need sophisticated, fancy technology, but they do need something more accommodating for their unique demands on time and energy. With online education, student-athletes may have more freedom to study whenever and wherever they want and at their own pace. This can be advantageous, but technology can create feelings of separateness and isolation (Wolcott, 1996), if it is not supported by increased interaction and if it is not embedded in a supervised schedule. Athletic support service personnel may ensure that athletes are checking their online agenda continuously in order to achieve their academic goals. Any kind of human interaction, faculty-to-student as well as student-to-student, is essential (Wolcott, 1996) for a student-athlete as part of a healthy academic and athletic environment. Whole student and complete athlete – can online education improve the relationship between these two ideals?

Summary

In 1999, Wyatt noted that the credibility of educators being capable of preparing students for life in the new, knowledge-based society is at stake. He argued that basic responsibilities to athletes are not fulfilled and that the situation is nothing short of a crisis for higher education. According to Wyatt (1999), incremental reforms and rule changes put into effect by the NCAA in the 1980s have primarily attempted to define eligibility for incoming and current freshman athletes. That is, they have concentrated on the minimum standards for athletes to enter college; this is one part of the equation. Educational attention has primarily focused on this part of the equation, even though it depends largely on factors beyond the direct control of university educators, such as the quality of K-12 education. This focus, however, neglected the other part of the equation, which addresses the accountability to continue educating these students beyond their first year (Wyatt, 1999). Today, considering the appalling numbers of athletic programs that do not meet minimum academic performance standards (APR cutoff score of 925) (Knight Commission, 2007), educators have a moral obligation to take an active role in the academic success of the athletes in those programs in order to promote the overall welfare of all students (Wyatt, 1999).

The Greeks taught that success should go hand-in-hand with athletic performance. This message must be communicated to students, parents, alumni, fans, and coaches beginning at the earliest stages of education: students need an intrinsic understanding that success on the playing field must be paired with success in the classroom (Wyatt, 1999). At collegiate level, responsibility has to be placed on each institution to provide academic counseling and guidance that is at least as rigorous as physical conditioning. Leaders of higher-education institutions should be held accountable to their beliefs and the missions that *all* students, regardless of their

background, have a right to academic success (Wyatt, 1999). Wyatt (1999) states that "if we don't seize the initiative in this critical area, we will place our credibility and our entire system of higher education at risk" (p. A56).

Student-athletes are a diverse and special population, challenged by their different roles on campus, their special needs and unique lifestyle (Etzel et al., 1996; Sedlacek & Adams-Gaston, 1992). Dealing with time conflicts and stereotyping are the primary issues a collegiate athlete is confronted with; this is where online instruction has the most potential to address concerns with traditional methods of education. Researchers' concern for the stereotyping of student-athletes (e.g., Adler & Adler, 1985; Engstrom & Sedlacek, 1991; Engstrom et al., 1995; Hamilton & Trolier, 1986; Seller, 1992; Simons et al., 1999) has been addressed by Simonson et al. (2006) and Vrasidas & Zembylas (2003) through the notion that online interaction makes it simple to reflect on each other's opinions posted in words, and is not conducive to biases, stereotypes, misconceived perceptions, or misinterpretations. In addition, the flexibility of the computer (e.g., Fowler, 2004; Hillstock, 2005; Simonson et al., 2006; Zhang et al., 2004) may accommodate student-athletes' special needs.

Nowadays, online education seems to be the largest growth area in education. How could online technology affect student-athletes whose athletic engagement puts a second layer on their academic demands?

Limitations and Further Research

Based on the literature review discussed previously, there is a significant lack of research exploring the topic of student-athletes and online education. Very little has been reported about student-athletes' experiences with and perceptions of online education, particularly the differences between various sports, different class levels (e.g., freshmen), and levels of academic performance among athletes. Familiarity with technology will present another challenge for those from less privileged backgrounds. Will online education be difficult for them to manage? How can universities and colleges offer online classes for undergraduate student-athletes with so many different majors?

Zhang et al., (2004) reported that inadequately equipped online systems can result in frustration, confusion, and reduced learner interest. For example, some online systems only present text-based learning materials, which may lead to boredom and disengagement in students and prevent them from gaining a good understanding of a topic. Some of the multimedia-based systems suffer from insufficient learner-content interactivity and flexibility because of their passive and unstructured way of presenting instructional content. Under such a system, learners have relatively little control over the knowledge structure and the learning process to meet individual needs (Zhang et al., 2004). Rodriguez et al. (1995) believe that the success of online courses may rest on the perceptions of the student.

Future research is needed to further develop knowledge about what makes instruction effective and learning successful for this special population. Rather than proposing online education as the *ideal* solution for student-athletes, instructional technology could be used to provide general help. Could online education provide help for student-athletes? How can the use of specialized academic support services for student-athletes be improved to deliver information that cultivates cognitive skills?

The results of this study will be beneficial to student-athletes and athletic affairs administrators whose goal is to help student-athletes reach their potential academically.

Moreover, the results will provide a better understanding of the factors that are connected to academic performance and help increase academic motivation.

CHAPTER 3

Methodology

The purpose of this study was to determine the perceptions, practices, and concerns of student-athletes relating to online education at a large land grant university in the southeastern United States. This study examined whether online education could be an acceptable alternative to the traditional classroom in targeting the unique needs of student-athletes. The primary research questions for this study compare revenue and non-revenue athletes' perceptions with respect to the following:

- 1. What are the primary concerns facing student-athletes related to their dual career as both a student and an athlete?
- 2. What are student-athletes' perceptions of the benefits and barriers of online education?
- 3. What type of online environment could increase learning satisfaction and learning outcomes for student-athletes?
- 4. Does spending a significant amount of time away from campus make online education a better method of learning?

To answer the research questions, focus group discussions and key informant interviews were used. Five focus group sessions were conducted: one pilot study, two with revenue¹ athletes, and two with non-revenue athletes. Each of the focus groups was scheduled for a discussion lasting between 1 and 2 hours. Key informant interviews were conducted with staff of

¹ Revenue sports are defined as team sports that can generate revenue (i.e., football and basketball)

the Student-Athlete Academic Support Service (SAASS) at Virginia Tech. The focus group questions and key informant interviews corresponded to each research question.

Population

Data was collected from selected student-athletes from various team sports at Virginia Tech, which joined the Atlantic Coast Conference (ACC) in 2003. Currently, Virginia Tech sponsors 21 varsity sports at the NCAA Division IA level (VT, 2007). The population for this study included student-athletes that are eligible for the 2007-2008 academic year. Studentathletes at NCAA Division I institutions are allowed four years of competitive eligibility within five years of enrollment (NCAA, 2006a). Key informants included a learning specialist, a systems administrator, two academic advisors working for revenue athletes (football upperclassmen and football freshmen) and an academic advisor responsible for several varsity sports, both revenue and non-revenue athletes. Each staff member of SAASS was employed in his or her position for several years. There were three females and two males among the key informant interviewees. All participants were Caucasians.

The mission of SAASS is to help student-athletes balance their academic and athletic demands by providing comprehensive academic support services such as tutoring, studying assistance, computing technology, and academic and individual skill development programs.

Focus Group Discussion

In a focus group discussion, a moderator leads a discussion with a small group of individuals to examine, in detail, how the group members think and feel about a topic. A set of predetermined open-ended questions, also called interview guides, directs a "focused" discussion among each focus group session, typically comprised of six to eight people who are not familiar with one another (Krueger & Casey, 2000). The use of focus group methodology is a valuable qualitative research approach to data collection for researchers that allows people to voice their opinion, concerns, and/or interests about the topic of the focus groups (Johnson & Christensen, 2003; Krueger & Casey, 2000).

Focus groups are most effective when conducted in concert with one another. This allows the researcher to develop general themes that are reiterated across and within groups (Krueger & Casey, 2000). They are also useful as a complement to other methods of data collection and for providing in-depth information in a relatively short period of time (Johnson & Christensen, 2003). In this study, the researcher created a comfortable and permissive environment in each focus group that encouraged student-athletes to share their perceptions, practices, and concerns about their online education experience at Virginia Tech. The group members influenced each other by responding to ideas and the comments of others. The group discussions were conducted in concert with one another using similar types of student-athletes to identify trends and patterns.

Key Informant Interview

The use of key informants is beneficial because of their familiarity with the studentathlete community. Krueger and Casey (2000) suggest using someone who is familiar with the community of interest. In this study, key informants were specifically selected because of their knowledge of and their ability to report on the concerns and needs of student-athletes. The interviews took place during the last week of January in each individual's office and before the focus group discussions. None of the key informants received an incentive for participating in a 20 to 30 minute, personal interview.

The Group Moderator

It is recommended that the person leading the focus group discussion have good interpersonal skills and knowledge of how to facilitate group discussions. He or she must get everyone involved in the discussion of the researcher's questions and not allow one or two people to dominate the discussion. If conflicts or power struggles occur, the moderator should skillfully bring the group back to the task. The moderator must know when to probe or ask for more information and know when the discussion about a particular topic has been exhausted. It is not uncommon for the moderator to have an assistant who observes the group process, provides information to the moderator when needed, and takes notes during the session (Johnson & Christensen, 2003). In the current study, the focus groups were moderated by the researcher who also interviewed the key informants.

Sample Description and Selection Process

Student-athletes were purposively selected from Virginia Tech varsity teams. In purposive sampling, sometimes referred to as judgmental sampling, the researcher specifies the characteristics of the population of interest that can best provide the information of interest (Johnson & Christensen, 2003). Each focus group was expected to contain between six and eight participants, and was scheduled by the liaison of the athletic department. Focus group sessions took place in the afternoon between participants' practices and study hall in an office in the athletic department.

To be effective, a focus group must be as homogeneous as possible with respect to demographic and socioeconomic characteristics (Johnson & Christensen, 2003). To get as much commonality in a group as possible, the requirements for participation in this study as student-athletes at Virginia Tech were:

- being athletically eligible in the 2007/2008 academic year,
- participating in a revenue sport (focus group one and two) or in a non-revenue sport (focus group three and four),
- having a sophomore, junior, or senior status, and
- having taken at least one online course.

Key informants were also purposively selected by the liaison of the athletic department. Employees in the SAASS were familiar with the culture and history of student-athletes and the researcher anticipated that they would provide detailed and rich data.

Focus Group Procedures

Prior to conducting the focus group session, a pilot study was conducted: (a) to familiarize data collection person with the methodology, (b) to examine the interactions between the participants, (c) to identify problematic issues with the questions, and (d) to reword focus group questions that needed improving (Krueger & Casey, 2000).

The pilot test and focus group discussions were conducted in the format suggested by Krueger and Casey (2000). Each session was taped for later transcription. The researcher acted as the moderator for each session and facilitated all of the discussions, asking the focus group questions as well as probing to keep the conversation flowing. As participants arrived, refreshments were served and introductions made to familiarize the participants with the moderator and the rest of the group. The moderator began the discussions with a brief statement of welcome and an overview of the topic and ground rules as described by Krueger and Casey (2000). Participants were then informed that the conversations would be recorded, and they were asked to sign a consent form. After consent forms were signed, tape recording began with the statement of welcome and ended after the main themes were summarized with the participants. The moderator followed the focus group interview guide and asked open-ended questions to promote discussion. The last segment of the focus group discussion required the participants to fill out a form about their time commitment for academics and athletics and their experience with online courses at Virginia Tech. Before and after the session, tape recordings were spot-checked to ensure proper recording.

Data Analysis Procedures

A written transcript was developed from the tape recordings of each focus group discussion. One advantage of written transcripts is faster sorting and categorizing of themes. Krueger and Casey (2000) suggest that the transcripts be read and reread so that the researcher will be familiar with the data. Following this repetitive reading, emerging predominate themes and sub-themes were identified.

Key informant interviews followed the same procedures as the focus group data collection. Written notes were reviewed to determine reoccurring themes provided by the interviews. Emerging themes were noted from each interview, and finally, grouped into major themes. Results from key informant interviews and focus groups were compared to draw conclusions about the major themes.

Validity

The questionnaire was approved for use in the data collection by a jury of experts for professional review and assessment and the Virginia Tech Institutional Review Board (IRB). These reviewers are qualified through their knowledge of research methods, experience in higher education administration, and subject knowledge to assess and critique the questionnaire.

CHAPTER 4

Results and Discussion

Demographics of Participants

Key informant interviews were conducted with five employees in the Student-Athlete Academic Support Service (SAASS). All participants were Caucasians, including two males and three females. Twenty-six student-athletes participated in four focus groups. All athletes had athletic eligibility in the 2007/2008 academic year, were non-freshmen and had taken at least one online course. They were purposively selected for two revenue and two non-revenue sessions. Nine revenue and 17 non-revenue athletes took part in this study. Demographic information is provided in Table 4.1.

The participating revenue athletes were older and had a higher class standing than the non-revenue athletes, perhaps explaining why they had taken a higher average number of online classes (4.5 versus 3.2). The table also demonstrates that non-revenue athletes devoted more time to both their academics and athletics. This might be attributed to the fact that most non-revenue athletes were in-season, whereas the revenue athletes in this study were not.

Table 4.1 Demographics of Focus Group Participants

	Revenue Athletes	Non-revenue Athletes
Number & Gender	N = 9 (males only)	N = 17 (5 females/ 12 males)
Ethnicity	Caucasian: N = 5	Caucasian: N = 16
	African-American: N = 4	African-American: N = 1
Class Standing	Sophomore: N = 2 (22%)	Sophomore: N = 6 (36%)
	Junior: N = 1 (11%)	Junior: N = 6 (36%)

	Senior: N = 4 (44%)	Senior: N = 4 (24%)
	Graduate: N = 2 (22%)	Graduate: $N = 1$ (6%)
Age (in years)	< 20: N = 2 (22%)	< 20: N = 5 (30%)
	20-21: N = 2 (22%)	20-21: N = 10 (60%)
	22-23: N = 4 (44%)	22-23: N = 2 (12%)
	24-25: N = 11 (11%)	24-25: N = 0
Major (Field of Study)	Broad array	Broad array
Time commitment	1-4 hours: $N = 0$	1-4 hours: $N = 0$
on academics (per week)	5-9 hours: N = 3 (33%)	5-9 hours: N = 3 (18%)
	10-14 hours: N = 3 (33%)	10-14 hours: N = 6 (36%)
	15-19 hours: N = 2 (22%)	15-19 hours: N = 3 (18%)
	20-24 hours: N = 1 (11%)	20-24 hours: N = 4 (24%)
	25-29 hours: N = 0	25-29 hours: N = 1 (6%)
Time commitment	1-4 hours: N = 1 (11%)	1-4 hours: $N = 0$
on athletics (per week)	5-9 hours: N = 3 (33%)	5-9 hours: $N = 0$
	10-14 hours: N = 4 (44%)	10-14 hours: $N = 2 (12\%)$
	15-19 hours: N = 1 (11%)	15-19 hours: N = 5 (30%)
	20-24 hours: N = 0	20-24 hours: N = 7 (42%)
	25-29 hours: N = 0	25-29 hours: N = 2 (12%)
	> 30 hours: N = 0	> 30 hours: N = 1 (6%)
Days away during	1-4 days: $N = 0$	1-4 days: $N = 2 (12\%)$
in-season semester	5-9 days: N = 1 (11%)	5-9 days: N = 4 (24%)
	10-14 days: N = 4 (44%)	10-14 days: N = 5 (30%)
	15-19 days: N = 2 (22%)	15-19 days: N = 4 (24%)

	20-24 days: N = 0	20-24 days: $N = 0$
	25-29 days: N = 1 (11%)	25-29 days: N = 1 (6 %)
	> 30 days: N = 1 (11%)	> 30 days: N = 1 (6 %)
Average number of online classes already taken	m = 4.5	m = 3.2

Research Question 1: What are the primary concerns facing student-athletes related to their dual career as both a student and an athlete?

Table 4.2 Primary Concerns of Student-Athletes Related to Their Dual Career

- A. Time Management and Time Constraints
- B. Coping with Double Burden of Dual Career
- C. The Freshmen Experience: Adaptation to College Life
- D. Self-Assessment (Misperceptions about their own Personality and Abilities)
- E. Self-Motivation/Focus
- F. Preconceived Notions others may have
- G. Catching up with Academic Studies as a Result of Intensive Traveling
- H. Maintaining a Healthy Lifestyle

The primary concerns perceived by both revenue and non-revenue athletes were: time management and time constraints; balancing their dual career; catching up with academic studies as a result of intensive traveling; preconceived notions that others may have, and maintaining a

healthy lifestyle. Student-athletes in the different focus groups and key informant interviewees described similar concerns.

A concern specifically mentioned by revenue athletes was the freshmen experience, adaptation to college life. However, non-revenue athletes considered 'catching up with academic studies as a result of intensive traveling' to be a primary concern. They stressed the importance of doing their best in both arenas. For revenue athletes, time management and time-saving seemed to play a crucial role. Both revenue and non-revenue groups mentioned 'maintaining a healthy lifestyle' as a concern. The key informants specifically addressed self-assessment (misperceptions about own personality/abilities), which can be attributed to the freshmen experience. Several participants stated that concerns are open to change as time goes on. Depending on what's going on in their lives, certain concerns take priority.

A. Time Management and Time Constraints

Time management was the primary concern expressed by all key informants and both revenue and non-revenue athletes. Student-athletes are challenged to manage their time by balancing their schedules between academic and athletic commitments. According to one staff member, successful time management requires "trying to figure out how to balance all your time and all your energy so that you can complete all those competing interests." From the staff member's experience, dual-career students are concerned about how to coordinate their tight schedule and often come up with the same inner monologue: "Hey, I have to go to all of my classes, I have to do all of my homework, I have to lift weights, I have to meet with my coaches, I have to practice … How can I budget my time so that I have enough left at the end of the day to finish my homework before I go to bed?"

It appeared that athletics took the lead when it came to prioritizing activities. Studentathletes in both categories had a limited amount of time. Blocks of their time are reserved solely for practice. This was summarized by one non-revenue athlete as follows: "I have a problem scheduling my classes around practice because – like in the fall [when I am in-season] you can't take any classes after 3 pm and with me graduating in 3 years it is really tough to get all my credits."

Time management seemed to be *the* major concern of revenue athletes. In fact, the time aspect seemed to influence all of the other concerns and conflicts that were mentioned. Revenue athletes have an even more demanding schedule of athletic commitments than that of the non-revenue athletes. This enormous time commitment can be best expressed by the description of a regular day provided by a football player:

Depending on the part of the year, in-season on a Monday you wake up early because you have meetings as early as 6 am. Then you may work out right after your meeting, then you go through a day of classes, start meetings again around 3 pm, then you go to practice from 4 to 7 pm, then you have study hall starting by 8 until like 10 pm. That's pretty much a day during a season.

B. Coping with the Double Burden of a Dual Career

Student-athletes have a hard time balancing both the academic and the athletic role. Nonrevenue athletes express that they feel like they have two full-time jobs. They claimed that "essentially what we are doing is having a full-time job; what we put in sports is really like a *full*-time job." One athlete noted, "[I am] trying to keep athletically as fit as I can and at the same time to do well in school. That's two hard demands. Regular students have a hard time getting [school] done and doing a sport on top of that makes it even harder." Non-revenue athletes emphasize their academic aspirations at least as much, if not more, than their athletic aspirations. Some student-athletes want a quality education in case they fail to become successful with their sport professionally. One non-revenue athletes phrased it as follows: "My main concern is just to get the best education that I can. And try to do the best in my sports as well and try to make a profession after I have finished school." Another athlete conveyed that "I want a degree to fall back on if my athletics doesn't work out after that; [my goal is] getting the best out of both my work and my sport."

Many athletes stress how important it is for them to progress towards their degree, addressed by comments such as "[My] classes are sequenced and [it] takes a while to get to a class that I want to" or "My main concern is just go graduate in time and not to be hold [sic] up."

However, athletes who would like to attain their degree must also deal with the high demands of their coaches, the physical drain, and the lack of free time. One non-revenue athlete expressed that their coaches expect them to perform highly academically: "Our coach expects us to excel in the classroom and she gets angry about people not going to class; not trying [hard]." Similarly, another commented, "The same with our coach; he is just all about academics. Be productive. You want to be successful on the field; you need to be successful in the classroom. This goes hand-in-hand." A revenue-athlete added that "coaches are primarily concerned that you can play. You can only play if you are academically eligible."

A staff member believed that revenue athletes may have different perceptions of education than non-revenue athletes in that revenue athletes may see academics as something else they have to do to be able to participate in their sports because they believe that their future lies in professional sports in which they can make a living whereas non-revenue athletes don't necessarily see that their sport is something that's going to pay for their education, as they would

argue "my education is going to be the thing that allows me to live a comfortable life and be successful".

Another athletic advisor believed that giving 100% to everything causes stress, not only physically, but also emotionally, in that athletes could feel overwhelmed. He stated, "If you don't have a good coping mechanism, the natural reaction is that you are going to shut down. And you are going to stop the one or the other. If sport wasn't your primary choice, so maybe you quit your sport."

A non-revenue athlete verbalized that "I am feeling overwhelmed, but more with school stuff than with sports stuff." In contrast a revenue athlete expressed that "at times, I really feel overwhelmed. Towards the end of the semester, especially in football when you have to prepare for a Bowl and prepare for that, it is quite near exam time ... it is really tough to find time to fulfill both [demands]."

Fatigue and exhaustion was another primary concern of both groups. Being tired from practice, working out, and other athletic demands has hindered them at some point in their academic careers. They fall asleep, cannot concentrate enough to study, and exhibit many other fatigue-related behaviors. A revenue athlete emphasized that "you are really tired, feel exhausted, and it definitely takes a lot of energy out of you. You just want to be back from practice, sit in front of the TV, [be] at 9 [pm] in bed. And you know that you have to prepare that class for tomorrow..."

In the same manner, a non-revenue athlete explained that "when I finish classes, then I have to go to practice and then I get home. I am exhausted from practice. More than if I just have had class. If I'd not go practice, I could do all my work. And when I get home, I mostly want to

relax for a little bit. And by the time I am relaxed, it is bedtime." Another athlete admitted that he oftentimes falls asleep the entire time in class because he was tired from waking up so early in the morning, having morning practice, and having to go to class.

None of the student-athletes in the focus groups complained about 'injuries,' a concern mentioned by several key informants: "with the action that takes place, the torn [sic] on [athlete's] body can be great ... there are injuries, there is that constant lifting, running, practicing, playing, running into each other with high speed; and I think these guys get tired."

At the same time, student-athletes want to be social. Student-athletes' demands on time and energy for academics and athletics restrict their amounts of free time. One key informant believes that "a lot of them want to be involved in other aspects of being in university. So then they actually have *three* careers [but] they don't have much time left, if any." Their busy lifestyle requires them to cut short their free time. "There is no free time, not during the season, anyway," concluded a revenue athlete, "during season, it is pretty much hectic." Athletes mentioned that they would rather spend time with friends or catch up on sleep, than try to earn an A in class. Two athletes contended that: "I'd rather get a good night sleep and play well the next day than getting an A on the test" and "Free time - well, you *make* some kind of time … maybe one night at a weekend, …"

Revenue athletes reported that they felt constant internal pressure, as well as external pressure from their coaches and teammates, to succeed in academics and athletics. One revenue athlete emphasized that "there is pressure especially in football, you have thousands of people watching you, you are on TV, you are pressured to perform, to do well, and to succeed."

C. The Freshmen Experience: Adaptation to College Life

Revenue athletes, in particular, were concerned about the adaptation to college life as a freshman. They felt constant pressure from coaches, media, thousands of people, and as a consequence, dealt with anxiety. Athletes reported that they felt overwhelmed during their first year in college, because of a new environment and the higher demands on time and energy. One staff member stressed time management issues specifically for freshmen athletes, "I think that athletic concerns lead into academic concerns. Student-athletes that are really good students at high school aren't necessarily as prepared to do all the work in college. So when they have to do all the athletic stuff too, it's tough for them to manage as much time as they need do study."

Revenue-athletes commented: "[The freshmen year] can cause a lot of stress and anxiety ... it is not anxiety to fail, it is more anxiety to please your coaches, please your academic coordinator people ..."Another one noted: "You can be overwhelmed. We learned a lot since we were freshmen. And I think that's why we have study hall for two hours every day." A third revenue athlete noted "I think it is self-motivation. Looking at football, I would not have gone to Tech, just because of academics."

Freshmen are particularly susceptible to the pressures caused by time management. In addition, many revenue athletes seem to be highly motivated by what interests them most - their sport, and would rather spend time improving their athletic skills. For instance: "When you are a freshmen, you are not putting as much effort into school and then you start realizing how important it is as you get older and then you may put a little bit more effort [into school] than you may have coming in straight out of high school [when you] don't know how important school is." Revenue athletes emphasized that they were not used to the collegiate setting. They stated that as time went on, they learned what is expected from them, how to better discipline themselves and fulfill both roles. An athlete claimed that "I am in my senior year now [but in]

my freshmen year, I was finding myself falling behind in a lot of my courses mainly because I was not used to the environment." Another comment was, "When you are younger, you have more leeway in every situation."

Staff members of the Student-Athlete Academic Support Service (SAASS) were mainly concerned about an incoming freshman's academic background: "Some student-athletes are coming in with a great background and we get some students whose high schools didn't make them to be good students." Another advisor articulated that lack of interest seemed to be a barrier to performance in the classroom. The first step for an incoming freshman is finding an appropriate major. According to an academic advisor this can be a challenge when they have students coming into their office with the attitude 'I have to do school so I can play football'. This could best be expressed by a typical scenario:

What should I major in? – Well, I am not making that choice for you. What are you interested in? – I am not interested in anything. What is the easiest major here? – The easiest major here is where you are most interested in. I can tell you this major has the most electives or this major has the classes that I may think may be the easiest, but if you don't have interest in anyone of them, it is going to be difficult for you because you will be sitting there hating them.

D. Self-Assessment (Misperceptions about their own Personality and Abilities)

A frequent concern about incoming freshmen is that they may not have anticipated the expectations. Staff members hear students complaining that "I did not realize that I have to do all this work!" Advisors believe that "It is much more self-guided on the academic piece ... than it was when they were in high school" and "They do not know how to study, how to do things." The challenge that academic advisors face is that "Test scores aren't such great indicators ... The best indicator of success is their work ethic and I don't know how you measure that and we don't know until we get [the freshmen] here."

All freshmen are required to participate in mandatory study hall. This is an opportunity to help them acquire the skills needed to be successful academically in college, assist them in meeting their needs, and to hold them accountable for spending time on their academics. One academic advisor stated "If they come in and try hard [and] are willing to put time [into their academics] ... they need to do, they will be fine [academically]." There is a question, however, if they really want to.

E. Self-Motivation/Focus

Being self-motivated and wanting to excel and invest in college experience can be a huge barrier to motivation and focus. Most of the revenue athletes come to college through a scholarship, and do not think about graduation or earning a degree in the first place. Upper classmen are not immune to the issues of focus and self-motivation. It was noted by revenue and non-revenue athletes that classes have to be scheduled around athletics. Admittedly, when big games come up, academics will most commonly (and stereotypically) take a back seat, as reported by several revenue athletes.

Self-motivation was identified as a primary concern for a revenue academic advisor, specifically working with football players. Many students seem to have little to no motivation academically: "Some of our kids don't see graduation as the main goal ... they see going to the [professionals]." An example of such academic detachment mentioned by the advisor was:

I don't know all these things, I am not a good student, I am not motivated academically. It is really all the time focused on the things I love, which is my sport and I focus less on the things I don't like, which I am not interested in, which is my academics. And maybe my skills may be little greater in my sports.

One primary concern of student-athletes has been fatigue. Athletes stated that high physical demands can affect their focus and academic motivation: "If I am tired from practice all

the time, I cannot even focus. Every time when you are tired you know that you did it for a purpose." "It is discouraging to be tired and you have work [for school] to do. So it is all in your mind what you want to do – do half of your [school work], or wait to do it in the morning. It all puts onto my academics."

F. Preconceived Notions others may have

In general, student-athletes were aware of existing stereotypes about them. A nonrevenue athlete stated that "you have that teacher every now and then [who has] that bias against student-athletes where [he or she does not] see it as an excuse to miss a quiz." Athletes in these groups believed that stereotyping was not a large problem at Virginia Tech, although it might be more a concern of revenue athletes in general. Most of their classmates seemed to consider nonrevenue athletes to be more traditional students - playing sports as a hobby; whereas revenueathletes were concerned about how others looked at them in their classes and the disrespect they received from many classmates. A non-revenue athlete argued that "The football players – that's where stereotyping comes in. But the other sports, just basically, it's their hobby … you are [not] a big star on campus. [As a non-revenue athlete] nobody knows you on campus and that you are playing a sport."

Non-revenue athletes mentioned that many professors and peers have misperceptions of the time commitment involved in being a student-athlete.

Many teachers do not understand how much time it actually takes being a student-athlete. Being a student-athlete, that's like 'what are you doing? Playing a couple games'? ... They don't think about all the meetings, conditioning, you have to lift. People do not understand how tired they are. They kind of really disrespect you for the things that you are doing.

A revenue athlete added that:

I don't like my classmates looking at me and automatically ... putting a label on. Basically, I want the respect as a regular student in the classroom and I don't want to have anybody looking at me like 'oh he is a football player. Don't take him serious. He is just here on a full financial free scholarship.'

Some revenue athletes, however, admitted that academics will come second:

To be honest with you, I have had times being in season when we had a big game coming up and I *do* have the tendency to put academics and stuff on the background of the team. Because I mean, you put all the hard work into [sports] and then – it is natural. You have the pressure from your coaches, the media, all the people watching you in the stadium and watching you on TV ... and you want that for yourself, and sometimes academics *will* take a backseat.

An advisor of the revenue sports expressed that "we have a large group of gentlemen that

are living that stereotype ... that perpetuate the dumb jock image."

The staff members, however, believe that it is unfair, yet common, to generalize attitudes

and behaviors of a few individuals to all student-athletes by saying that 'no student-athlete

cares'. An advisor stated "That is pretty offensive. That's a pretty general statement to say

[because] you are speaking for 500 student-athletes. How many athletes [actually] self-identify

themselves as student-athletes?" Another interviewee argued that "In the grand scheme, most of

the kids want to seek ... getting good grades. Once they graduate, they can seek some job or go

to [graduate] school. The athletic part [however] can take away from that sometimes."

The academic advisor for football emphasized that two extremes could be identified:

I have students in my group who are *really* busy but they really come and do extra studying to get their work done ... or if they are [gone] for a long weekend, they are going to meet with the teacher ahead of time. [Whereas] others don't care as much and say 'I take care of that when I come back' and things can get piled up.

Staff member were mainly concerned about the negative impacts of preconceived notions. An advisor argued that "If you are already having a hard time managing everything and

then you have anything else on top of it, that's when it comes when one more straw breaks the camel's back."

Another interviewee believes that stereotyping is attributed to the problems of the past. The interviewee referred to the new regulations and eligibility requirements of the National Collegiate Athletic Association. He argued that "It is perception based on things of the past and not so much of now ...[people] don't realize that some of the kids are really smart. They don't realize that there are football players that are [graduate] students."

Student-athletes agreed that they would be stereotyped if they were taking pure online education, because any kind of 'special' treatment would add to preconceived notions about student-athletes. A non-revenue athlete concluded that "we would be stereotyped, if we get something special ..."

G. Catching up with Academics Studies as a Result of Intense Travel

The primary concern for non-revenue athletes seemed to be catching up with academic studies as a result of intense traveling. Though time constraints are a primary pressure on the athletes, the inconvenience of spending time away from campus, thereby missing out on information that other students in class receive, seems to be of even greater concern. The disadvantage of being away from campus was best summarized by one of the staff members:

It's not like someone is taking the notes like you would do; the professor is not recording [the lecture] for you; so you can't go back and listen and learn. You have to figure out what [the professors] want you to have learned or to ask someone else in that class' what did you cover today' or 'what will be on the quiz this week'?

The football players in the revenue groups noted that intense travel would not apply to them, as they may only miss 1-2 days. There are also freshmen football players who usually do not travel at all.

H. Maintaining a Healthy Lifestyle

The concept of a healthy lifestyle was noted by both groups. They see the connection between getting enough sleep and achieving an optimal level of energy. A non-revenue athlete expressed that "I just can't stress too much out ... it's a lot about time management and how you use your time. Good night sleep always helps." That agreed with a revenue athlete, who stated "I am always exhausted. Making sure you sleep right and as much as you can. I think most time of the weekend, I sleep. Work will be done during the week." Maintaining a healthy diet was a concern by one revenue athlete: "An overlooked part, just something simple, is maintaining a healthy diet. [Athletics] can really be hard on you. It can stress your body out physically and cause fatigue." Another student added, "Especially if class is at 8 am and you have to rush from 6 am practice and try to get some food at the run ... you really don't have [a] chance to regroup."

Research Question 2: What are student-athletes' perceptions of the benefits and barriers of online education?

Perceived Benefits

Perceived benefits of key informants and student-athletes for both categories were (a) flexibility in time and location, (b) convenience, (c) options to make up for missed classes on account of tight schedule, (d) alleviation of preconceived notions through more objectivity, and (e) accommodation to different learning styles (see Table 4.3).

 Table
 4.3 Perceived Benefits of Online Education

A. Flexibility in Time and Location

I. Online education helps with time management.

II. Less need to travel to and from campus.

B. Convenience

I. Ability to work at own pace/self-pace.

II. Technology is easy to use.

C. Options to make up for Missed Classes on Account of Traveling

D. Alleviation of Preconceived Notions through more Objectivity

- E. Accommodations to Different Learning Styles
- A. Flexibility in Time and Location

Both revenue and non-revenue student-athletes liked the freedom and flexibility of completing their school work whenever and wherever they wanted. The emerging sub-themes were that online education helps with time management and there is less need to travel to or from campus.

I. Online Education helps with time management.

Referring to time management, the primary concern mentioned earlier, the staff members believe that "the flexibility [of online classes] makes it easier to work around the regimented athletic schedule." It enables athletes to "create a hole during [the] day where [they] can get something else done" or "come back to [their schoolwork] another time." With online education, athletes "don't have to be in class at a certain time. [Having an online class], that's one less time that students physically have to sit in that class." Another staff member believes that "Revenue athletes in particular perceive it as easier because there is no class attendance, so they don't have to work out classes. They don't have to interact with professors per se, they don't have to give excuse notes, they don't have to follow up, and they don't have to receive missed notes. So I think it is easier..."

As time constraints are their biggest concern, the majority of revenue athletes perceived online education as a great help in managing their time. They mentioned that online education helps them save a lot of time and removes a large weight from their backs in that "you can make your own schedule, especially during season. This makes a difference because you are comparing going to 3 or 4 classes a day; this saves you a lot of time."

II. Less need to travel to and from campus.

Student-athletes emphasized the diminished need to travel to or from campus and gaining more time by taking online courses, which provides them more time to focus on the things they enjoy, oftentimes their sport. A revenue athlete stated that he has a lot more time when he takes online classes. He explained that attending class "takes 30 minutes to get ready, 20 minutes to get there, 20 minutes to get back [plus] one hour and 15 minutes [to attend class]. Meanwhile, you sleep in, do your 45 minute reading, finish, and take your quiz." Student-athletes contended that with online education, they were not bound to come to campus at a certain time, avoided common irritants such as driving to class, or finding a parking space. This was best expressed by a non-revenue athlete who stated: "It is nice to not have to walk or drive to campus, finding a parking space, or ride the bus to another class. It is more relaxing to simply work in my apartment and learn the material there." A revenue athlete agreed saying that "you don't have to get up; [you] just get your laptop." A revenue athlete claimed that "you are not really pressured. You don't have to do [work] every day if you don't feel like …"

B. Convenience

I. Ability to work at own pace/self-pace.

All athletes highlighted the fact that they appreciated that they could manage their time better and fit their schedule around their athletic commitments. If they felt tired or unmotivated to work, they could complete their homework or study at a more convenient time. Fatigue has been a prevalent concern for all student-athletes. A non-revenue athlete stated that, "Taking online classes helps to regulate your sleeping patterns because you can plan around practice and other events to maximize your learning experience." Another athlete agreed that "I could just wait until I am more awake and do the work then. If I am tired, I am not able to get a lot out of it ...". A revenue athlete stated that "having a long day it is tough on athletes. These online classes will help us because there is a lot more time for you – as long as you stay on top, it is definitely more a benefit than negative."

II. Technology is easy to use.

One interviewee stated, "If students have been here and understand how to use Blackboard, how to email professors and things like that and have the skill to communicate, they are excited to take online classes." This seemed to be true for all student-athletes. A revenue athlete expressed, "I like the computer, being accessible information 24 hours regardless of where I am ... I mean almost all courses are somewhat online just because I go to Blackboard."

Several participants in the revenue groups stated that there would be no way to evade technology and it is essential to stay up-to-date: "I think people have no choice because the way the world moves and the speed that technology; you must be up-to-date or you are going to be left behind. I think online classes are the only way to have college life in the future." They
believe that the trend will be more towards online education. Participants in all four discussion groups reported that they felt comfortable using technology and, as such, valued the fact that they had access to class material 24 hours a day that internet access provided.

C. Options to make up for Missed Classes on Account of Tight Schedule

Student-athletes most appreciated the opportunity to take online classes during their season when they are required to miss a lot of classes. Research question 4 deals with the relationship between online courses and amount of time spent away from campus in more detail. The staff members believe that online education could make life a lot easier for student-athletes: "We don't have to worry about missing class because they can just go and watch again the recorded video at any time they want" and "they can go ahead and catch back up with the class material. So they are not falling behind."

The football players in the focus groups stated that they were not traveling as much and would not miss class as such; however, the revenue athletes emphasized that taking online classes would be a significant benefit if they were traveling a lot. A comment was: "[online education] is much better because...you pretty much have access to that class anytime. In a traditional classroom, you can only have [access] during that time at that day. But with an online class you basically do whenever you want to, everywhere, and any time as long as you got a computer." Non-revenue athletes, in particular, claimed that they could get work done earlier which removed a lot of stress and gave them more opportunity to spend more time on other things: "I think it helps you because you can get the work done early so you aren't spending time anticipating an upcoming test on a day or may have a game. It's also better because you can plan for the unexpected." "If you manage your time properly, you can learn the material

presented in a less stressful and more relaxed environment - which is always a plus in season." "I could get ahead on the work and I could do the work in my own time and be able to spend more time on my sports."

D. Alleviation of Preconceived Notions through Objectivity

Alleviation of preconceived notions through more objectivity was of minor importance, as suspected because Virginia Tech was perceived as having a fair campus. Revenue athletes emphasized that no name could be attached to a face, which would be good way to remove any stereotypes that were present.

An interviewee mentioned online education as a way to minimize stereotypes "because [an online environment] is more anonymous and teachers cannot put a name with the face." A revenue athlete similarly stated that, "When I walk in a classroom, people have to think I have to play some kind of sports, all the looks of those people. So when you are taking a course online, the only thing that they see is your name."

Also, non-revenue athletes believed that stereotypes could get removed to some extent, as long as athletes are not taking their complete education online. Another athlete added that, "I just don't want to see [online classes] replace teachers. There is a certain interaction between a teacher and a student whereas just starring at a computer screen it is just not the same."

E. Accommodations to Different Learning Styles

A revenue athlete added that "a really good aspect about online education is that [with online education] everybody gets different ways how they would like to learn. Online education basically gives you options of how you would like to do it." An academic advisor expressed that he had students say, "I feel a sense of control, or a sense of ownership. It is like 'this is my class, I know what I have to do, I know I have to learn it; if I fail the quiz, it is not just because the professor didn't give me the notes, it is because I did not read it."

Another academic advisor stated that one of her athletes has had good experiences with Centra. According to the student, the synchronous chat could stimulate a traditional classroom experience." Centra is a tool for online multiple-user interaction and course organization that includes real-time two-way audio, application sharing, web browsing, white boarding, and text chatting. Another staff member liked the asynchronous online environment and argued that "we think both ways. We are not living in a constant question-response-question world ... with asynchronous chats there is no time urgency; more reflective thinking, or deeper level of thinking, is possible."

More about student-athletes' views about accommodations to different learning styles will be discussed in the section related to Research Question 3 (What type of online learning environment could increase learning satisfaction and learning outcomes?).

Perceived Barriers

Revenue and non-revenue athletes as well as key informant interviewees perceived online education to be more challenging because of (a) missing structure and lack of deadlines, (b) reduced accountability, (c) limited interaction with professor, and (d) the need to use time management and planning skills. Key informants perceived additional barriers, including (e) technological barriers and (f) negative influences on academic progress, (g) misperceptions on the part of students, and (h) cheating issues. Table 4.4 Perceived Barriers to Online Education

Online Courses are more Challenging because of

- A. Missing Structure/Lack of Deadlines
- B. Limited Interaction with Professor
- C. Reduced Accountability
- D. The Need to use Time Management and Planning Skills

Perceived Disadvantages (Additional Themes of Key Informants)

E. Technological Barriers

I. Access to internet.

II. Broken computers.

F. Online Course have Negative Influence on Academic Progress because

I. Technology might not be used effectively by professors.

II. Professors are not willing to get online.

Perceived Problems

G. Misperceptions on the Part of Students

I. Online classes are believed to be easier than regular classes.

II. Online classes are believed to more effective because of self-pace.

H. Cheating Issues

I. Honor code violations.

II. More temptation to cheat in online classes.

III. Greater magnitude of cheating.

A. Missing Structure/Lack of Deadlines

Online courses were perceived to be challenging as a result of missing structure and lack of deadlines. Several student-athletes complained about the set-up of some of their online classes and reported of some bad experiences they have had in their online courses. A non-revenue athlete mentioned that "some of his classes weren't well-structured ... and you got confused." Another athlete added, "if you have a set date in class, you kind of *are* forced to do work whereas in an online class it is up to yourself. You work on your own pace. It makes it extremely hard if you are not keeping up and falling behind."

Non-revenue athletes, in particular, complained about the set-up of the math classes. Others did not like the way assessment took place in an online environment. A non-revenue student was unhappy with his online group project and considered any kind of synchronous environment as a hindrance when being in-season. Group members did not like having to work around the athlete's time schedule. Their dissatisfaction with their math classes was expressed by: "That's kind of a hassle going there ...and taking a weekly quiz." Other members in the focus group complained about unfair time allotted for quizzes and tests as well as unfair grading. "I did not enjoy [online] math because you cannot get any partial marks for half completing the question; only for the exact answer," was one of their comments.

One participant encountered some difficulty with the synchronous environment of his online class in that he had difficulties scheduling common group times for projects: "we had a lot of group assignments and my group wasn't really that happy to schedule around my schedule..." He felt that if the class excluded groupwork, it would be easier to take. He did not like the hassle of meeting with his group during season and with classmates who "don't understand the kind of things we need to do with practice..." This perceived attitude refers to the misperceptions of what being a student-athlete entails.

The biggest challenge perceived by almost all student-athletes was staying on top of their work. As much as they appreciated the convenience and flexibility of taking online classes, they

reported falling behind and dealing with consequences of procrastination. This was contingent upon the lack of set due dates or the lack of quality of overall communication. Some comments were: "You have a set date in class, you kind of *are* forced to do work whereas in a online class it is up to yourself. You work on your own pace. It makes it extremely hard if you are not keeping up and falling behind." "I think [online education] is definitely more convenient, but it is easy to get off track. It's about how to keep up with the dates and everything is due; otherwise you get screwed."

B. Limited Interaction with Professor

Student-athletes often complained about the limited interaction with their teachers or professors. Being separated by space and time is a challenge for both teacher and learners because it limits channels of communication. The fact that there are no face-to-face conversations inhibits free-flowing interaction, especially feedback. This was best expressed by this participant's comment: "Unlike a traditional classroom [in an online class] you don't see the professor 2 -3 times a week and can't give them a face-to-face talk. Online it is a little bit harder trying to catch [the professor] during office hours. [You] have to rely on email or other technology." Teaching usually anticipates spontaneous give-and-take, thus takes interaction for granted. Because sensory channels are reduced, there are fewer opportunities for informal conversation. Both revenue and non-revenue athletes emphasized the limited, or lack, of interaction with their professor as a hindrance. Athletes were concerned about having to write an email if they had a question, not getting high quality feedback they wanted, or spending extra time meeting with the professor during office hours. A key informant stated that, "Even though the athlete may get an answer to his or her question, it may neither be as quick nor the quality

[desired]." Another disadvantage reported by an advisor is the need to "find time during the week to go [to the professor's] office hours."

Several students alluded to their preference for taking classes in a traditional setting because they needed a teacher to explain the more difficult content and wanted immediate feedback if questions arise. This is especially true for their harder upper level classes. Nonrevenue athletes would prefer learning by watching and listening than having to teach themselves. Student-athletes expressed that, "For some classes you need a teacher, like in a math class. You need a teacher to show stuff because you can't work it out by just looking at the examples..." "It is so much harder to say something in writing than it is verbally. For upper-level classes, I'd prefer a teacher in the classroom."

C. Reduced Accountability

As opposed to a traditional class, online learners do not see their teacher every day. No one holds them accountable per se; it is the students who are responsible for their schedule and keeping up with the work. Additionally, they must work towards a goal and find time to do assignments and thus stay focused. One advisor noted that "online education has a 'teaching yourself aspect' and you are up there lecturing on your own. But it is not quite the same like sitting in a classroom. There is no teacher reminding you for that test on Monday."

Some non-revenue athletes reported that being in an online class could make them forget that they are in that class just because they don't go every day. In the same way, revenue athletes felt that they needed someone like their coaches who they see every day, and who check on them and hold them accountable. "As there is nobody to hold you accountable," stated a staff member, "student-athletes run the risk ... once [they] are not on top of things and not vested in academics for any reason ... to forget that they are in that class."

D. The Need to Use Time Management and Planning Skills

All student-athletes were aware that they need time management and planning skills to be successful in an online environment. Online learning requires strong self-motivation, self-discipline and assertiveness. The online learner spends most of his or her time in front of the computer, which is not similar to a traditional classroom. They are their "own" teacher and must be able to set their own deadlines and short-term goals. Assuming responsibility for an online class seemed to be an obstacle, especially for revenue athletes, if the subject matter is not relevant for them or entailed more work than the same class in a classroom setting.

The advisors agreed with the athletes in that "being successful in an online learning environment requires a lot of planning on the student-athlete's part." "Athletes are mainly responsible of managing their time wisely and planning out their dual career effectively." A nonrevenue athlete considered the most important skills to be self-discipline ("control yourself when you do your work"), and time management ("it is important to be able to work your athletic hours around your class and homework things").

A highly motivated revenue athlete reported using the following strategies: planning out a whole semester in advance, marking all due dates, and following through. These strategies make it necessary for students to be proactive and to build good relationships with their professors. In addition, he stressed that in an online class you need to have the desire to work hard, show interest in class, and try to not live up to any stereotypes of student-athletes. This revenue athlete

conveyed that, "If you are teaching yourself and you are learning from yourself, and you have the capability to do it, [online education] is very beneficial. I cannot speak for many. I know that there are people who don't have the skills like me."

E. Technological Barriers

Key informants mentioned that access to the internet, along with broken computers, limit the effectiveness of online education.

I. Access to internet.

One non-revenue athlete mentioned lack of internet access to be a technological barrier to online education when she is on the road. She would not be able to do any work during games or in the hotel without internet access. She stated, "It is really hard when you are on the road and ... you go to a hotel and they don't have an internet connection and you didn't get [your work] done before you left ..." As such, she claimed that, "for some lessons, having a book and ... doing book assignments make it easier [because you do] not have to worry about the internet." The lack of internet access while traveling was perceived to be a disadvantage by some staff members. One staff member declared that "in a synchronous situation... you have to be online at a certain time which is contingent on the access to internet which [does] not work well with the student-athlete's schedule when they are on the road."

II. Broken computers.

A staff member reported that "[Student-athletes] are getting paranoid [when they] have problems with laptops breaking for various reasons." Although another participant believes that "all these problems seem to be less and less of an issue. It took them weeks to get resolved [in the past], but now it seems...it is much quicker."

F. Online Courses have Negative Influence on Academic Progress

Many key informants remarked that an online course may have a negative influence on a student's progress because of the inefficient use of technology or the unwillingness of teachers to provide more online opportunities.

I. Technology might not be used effectively.

A key informant believed that sometimes professors can get so excited about the technology itself that they run the risk of neglecting the quality of instruction and clear communication. A staff member described one situation where "[she] had one student who dropped out of an online class. It wasn't through Blackboard; the teacher used a blog and it seemed overwhelming because it was not clear cut. The set-up hindered [the student] and the class design did not fit him very well." This also may be attributed to student-athletes' perceptions of inadequate structure, as described above.

II. Professors are not willing to get online.

One staff member was concerned about the willingness of professors to get online. He heard faculty saying: 'Computers? Oh no, I am too old; I will not touch the computer.' He believes that there is an education barrier and contended, "The Yale graduate who spent most of the time in the classroom - and that's how [those professors] are thinking."

Some professors may prefer the classroom setting. A few revenue athletes in this study expressed that "We have been brought up in classes and in classrooms and that's what we are familiar with." The staff member, however, believes that "taking the class online does not necessarily mean we are removing something from the classroom experience, rather it is to improve the quality of the classroom. It may even help in delivering complex information."

G. Misperceptions on the Part of Students

The key informants claimed that misperceptions of online education appeared to be prevalent; online classes are believed to be easier than regular classes and online classes seem to be more efficient because of self-pace.

I. Online classes are believed to be easier than regular classes.

An advisor reported that some of their athletes believe that online classes would be easier by saying, "you don't have to go to class, there won't be as much work, the tests aren't as hard, the books are right there, most time it is open-book, you don't have any class attendance." A staff member stated that online classes *are* easier in that "they are more flexible, save a lot of time, [athletes] don't have to be physically in class, they do not have to deal with the professor; yet the class remains the same." The problem with online education, however, the interviewee thinks, is that "student-athletes take it too easy and sometimes gets them into procrastination" which makes the class harder for them.

II. Online classes are believed to be more efficient because of self-pace.

According to some of the advisors, student-athletes perceive online classes to be more convenient because of the freedom and convenience that comes with them. Staff members quoted athletes saying "as long as I finish this at the end of the semester, I will be fine" but they reported better student-athlete performance when there were very strict deadlines instead of in an online class that claims that "you have to complete this by the end of this semester."

H. Cheating Issues

The pressure to meet academic standards may lead to more cheating.

I. Honor code violations

Two athletic department academic assistance employees at Florida State University and 23 athletes were implicated in a cheating scandal, involving tests given over the Internet. The athletes represented nine sports, and 17 of the students were on scholarship ("Florida State Inquiry," 2007). The pressure to perform well on the field and in the classroom, along with the popularity of online education, might be a controversial topic in the future. This possibility was mentioned by several revenue athletes. One staff member sees the use of online classes by student-athletes growing, but she fears that "it seems that growth will possibly bring along some issues."

II. More temptation to cheat in online classes.

A key informant thought that the temptation to cheat in online classes would be higher than in regular classes because student-athletes may think that "it is an online class and nobody is looking." Another comment was that it may be easier for young people to say "this is stupid, they are giving me the test, they rely to me [to do this test] whenever I want with whatever stuff around me. If I want to take that test with books around me, this is allowing me to cheat and that makes it ok." Several staff members articulated that if the testing takes place in a room with someone watching it would be a whole different situation: In a classroom, there are professors up there, they are handing out the test, putting all your materials away, and you *know* that people understand that cheating is wrong. Taking it online, I can access it on this website and they know there is no one watching. This is basically giving me permission to cheat. Cheating is OK.

Though there is the belief that there is more temptation to engage in dishonest behavior in online classes, several advisors believe that "whoever wants to cheat, will cheat." A student wanting to cheat would do so in both a classroom and an online environment. One advisor added, "It's the set-up of classes. Online education makes it hard to monitor, which may be a downfall."

III. Greater magnitude of cheating.

The lack of monitoring induced another interviewee to state that the magnitude of

cheating would be higher:

It's more the amount of cheating because when you are in a classroom and you are cheating it is one-on-one, 2 people, or 3 people. But online it seems that it can be massdistributed ... I think that's the potential problem athletics has with online classes possibly because of the things that have happened with Florida State University and the large number of students cheating with their online class. I know that UVA [University of Virginia] does not have them [online classes] and I don't know if that's because UVA does not offer them or if student-athletes just don't sign up for them.

Implication: Willingness and Readiness for Enrollment

Having learned about student-athletes' and key informants' perceptions of the benefits of

and barriers to online education, it was of interest to what extent key informants believe that

student-athletes are willing and/or ready for an online learning environment.

Table 4.5 Willingness/ Readiness for Enrollment in Online Courses (Key Informants)

A. Willingness

B. Readiness

I. Depending on major and class offerings.

II. Need to understand what online class entails.

III. Need of characteristics/skills for online environment.

IV. Different perceptions on education.

A. Willingness

One key informant interviewee considered the initial experience with an online class as the major factor in willingness to take another online class: "if you had a bad experience initially that may lead to not want to take another [online class]. Positive experience may be that they want to do it again." Looking at the revenue sport of football, there appeared to be two extremes as expressed by one advisor:

I think the majority of our [revenue] students are willing to take online courses because they like the freedom that it gives them. [On the contrary] some of those students I work with, don't want to because they understand that they took once one course, they got behind and they really messed them up and it is hard for them to take online classes. That's the minority.

B. Readiness

Readiness may be attributed to the misperceptions on the part of students that online classes are easier than regular classes: "They are [ready] if they really spend time to understand what the online class entails. If they just go into it with the perception of 'it is easy. I just get it done whenever I want' then they are going to have a difficult time," was a statement by one advisor.

When looking at the revenue sports, specifically football, an advisor said: "Are they ready? I would say 50:50. About 50% are ready to do the work. The other 50% aren't ready. They think they don't have the skills." To help the half that does not feel ready for an online class, and who consequently struggle with it, the advisor stressed the importance of SAASS and

tutors who can help. "We have to try to artificially create a situation that allows them to be able to take it."

Another staff member believed that student-athletes are not ready for online classes because online classes would be more work: "In an online class, they will give you more material; they are giving you more homework or more ways to solve problems." He added that this does not necessarily mean that student-athletes do not want to work hard, but he emphasized that "athletes already have *a lot* on their plate." Instead, he believed that it could work if "the professor makes the online material either to replace what is going on in the classroom or is supporting material that is not required."

I. Depending on major and class offerings.

A staff member expressed the opinion that "It depends more on the major that they are working on because if I look at football players, they don't have a whole lot of options for online courses." Another comment was, "As you get further along in your education, there aren't as many upper level courses that are available online." The participant referred to classes being offered *strictly* online as he stated, "All of the courses have online components." However, all key informants agreed that a crucial factor is the initial experience with online classes: "I think if student-athletes have bad experiences, they really shy away from taking online courses again." As mentioned earlier (Research Question 1), some athletes come to college with a poorer academic background than others. Some of them may have difficulty in math classes during their first semester. A staff member acknowledged, "The math courses…are online here at Tech. If a student-athlete has difficulty with that class, then they are hesitant to take another of these classes." Consequently, the potential for an initial bad experience with online classes may give a bad impression of online courses for some student-athletes, particularly revenue athletes.

II. Need to understand what online class entails.

The key informants mentioned several misperceptions of online education: online classes are believed to be easier than regular classes and seem to be more efficient because of self-pace. Student-athletes have to be aware of benefits and challenges of an online environment, need to know what will be expected, need certain skills, and must pay attention to their current situation, such as their travel intensity, learning style, prior experience, time schedule, work load, season, and so forth. When asking the key informants about their experiences with student-athletes dropping out of online-classes, a staff members stated that "it is just like dropping out of any other regular class: you have the eligibility issues ... you have to meet those certain percentages towards your degree requirements, keep your GPA up ..."

Another staff member emphasized that students could only drop a class up to a certain point in the semester. He referred to the basketball team that begins their season in September when the players do not know what their academic and athletic loads are going to be like. Once the season starts up, he heard students-athletes say 'oh man, I have so much to do and have to drop something'. The staff member added, "but guess what, it is October, the drop date is passed." In order to prevent those situations, he stressed the importance of making the right choices beforehand, "that's where this office [SAASS] comes in. It is very important to help student-athletes determine how many classes to take, how much work a particular course requires. So you can balance, meet all requirements, and comply with NCAA rules."

III. Need of characteristics / skills for online environment.

Skills needed for an online learning experience include time-management, planningskills, self-discipline, self-motivation, being able to teach oneself, being able to pace oneself and keeping oneself accountable. A key informant stated, "I think they have the skills to do it; it is just whether they have the organization or management or motivation to do it." Student-athletes are willing and ready, "If the student is vested [in online classes] and sees the benefit. We have students saying: this is better for me; I don't mind the online learning style or always being selfpaced, or learning through chats, blogs ..."

IV. Different perceptions of education among revenue and non-revenue athletes.

Although non-revenue athletes and revenue athletes may see online education in a

positive light, some key informants believed that their reactions might be different when student-

athletes realize that an online class is not an easy load. One comment demonstrated the

differences the best:

It might be that...non-revenues, when they realize that it is not easy, though they might be shocked, they are able to go with the flow, [and] are able to maintain the grade that they want to get. Some revenue athletes may get overwhelmed, and that maybe comes down to not having as much learning background. They get more shocked...and maybe tend to give up.... Then they don't follow through as much or don't get that grade that they thought that they were going to get.

The academic advisor for basketball, however, stated that her revenue athletes have

gotten along fairly well with online classes.

Not because [online classes] are easy, but because they would rather work harder in an online class than go to class." She believes that "Some of [her revenue] student-athletes work harder in online classes so that they don't have to sit through the class and do their work. They can just work. The work is the class, so they try harder. Because they see the benefit of not having to go to class, they are willing to say 'I am not going to class. So I work my butt off, if I don't have to go to class. I don't have to worry about missing class or missing the test. I don't have to worry about trying to work with a professor who does not want to work with me, or I am not going to miss something'.

Recommendation of Class Format

Considering the benefits of and barriers to online education and their perceptions of willingness and readiness to take an online class, key informants were asked which class format they would recommend to a student-athlete, and why. ("Imagine you have to advise a student-athlete in taking a course which is offered both online and in a traditional setting. What would you recommend and why?")

Recommendation is dependent on the individual student, taking into account:

In-season/ Off-Season	Learning style
Student's schedule	Maturity
Travel Intensity	Prior experience
Class dynamics	Coaches' Decision

Selected comments that were prevalent and best summarize their decisions appear below.

In-season/ Off-Season: "If they are in season, I would suggest online classes because of their time schedule and the flexibility [of online classes]. If they are not in season, I may recommend the traditional course so they can interact with the professor."

Student's schedule: "Student-athletes have a lot of classes they have to take and they have to practice. There might be things on their schedule in time-conflict. In that case it would be better to take it online."

Travel Intensity: "I would recommend an online course [when they travel a lot]. And the reason I say that is, particularly in spring, baseball and basketball, they travel so much and they

have so many different games during the week that it is much more advantageous for them to take an online course so that they don't have to miss class just like a soccer player who is not in season."

Class dynamics: "It also depends on which other classes are taken. How many other classes are they taking? Are they taking any elective classes? Do they count towards their major?"

Learning style: "It depends on each individual student-athlete and the three learning styles: kinesthetic, auditory, and visual. Some students will be so bored in an online class and will not pay attention to it. [They] need to walk over to class, to the building by taking a class and listening to the professor, watch the professor write on the board. So every student-athlete is a little bit different."

Skill Set/ Maturity: "You have to make sure that they get on the computer around a certain time; if they are not reliable to do that – and that goes back to time-management issues – they are going to have trouble. You have to work with someone who does have responsibility to handle it."

Prior experience: "With freshmen it comes to the hardest part; you can only judge by their program in high school; you have to assume. One of the things you can do is to take a look at the math classes. All those math emporium classes are completely online. How did they do in those classes? If they did horribly in those classes, maybe online is not such a good idea. If they seem to manage it pretty well, you can take another online class."

Coaches' Decision/Team Dynamics: "Some coaches do not want freshmen in any online classes because they think that they may not handle them whereas when they are in-season and

travel a lot, they may be in favor of online classes." "In general, student-athletes are advised by their teammates. So much advising is being done peer-to-peer rather than from an advisor to a student."

The advisor for the football freshmen would not coerce or force students to do something that they may not want and that may not help towards their academic motivation.

Student-Athletes' Preferences Regarding Class Format

After discussing their perceptions of online education, student-athletes were asked which class format they would prefer to target their specific needs.

Table 4.6 Willingness/Readiness for Enrollment in Online Courses (Focus Groups)

Non-Revenue

- A. Non-Revenue Athletes Prefer Taking the Course in a Traditional Classroom in Order to Learn
- B. Non-Revenue Athletes Prefer Taking Online Courses for Reasons Including Time, Travel, and Easy Credit

C. Non-Revenue Athletes Ask for More Online Course Offerings During Their Season Revenue

- D. Revenue Athletes Have Had Positive Experiences with Online Courses
- E. There are Two Extremes: Revenue Athletes who Enjoy Taking Online Courses Versus Revenue Athletes who Try to Avoid Taking Online Courses

A. Non-Revenue Athletes Prefer Taking the Course in a Traditional Classroom in Order to Learn

Non-revenue athletes perceived upper level classes to be harder than core or elective classes. Many felt that they learn more when taught directly by a teacher instead of relying only on their own knowledge. Some comments were: "At an intro level, I would take online classes every day. At an upper level, it is so much how you teach yourself. So it is so much better to have a teacher in front of you who tells you what is going on and you can ask questions like right away. You don't have to write an email or set up a meeting." "In-class it is better to take notes of what the teacher is saying and you are actually hearing it and write it down. In online courses, you only take notes from the notes." "Usually in online classes you do as much work as you need to possibly pass. Not extra work or anything like that. I'd say I would like in-classes to learn, but online classes for time."

B. Non-Revenue Athletes Prefer Taking Online Courses for Reasons Including Time, Travel, and Easy Credit

In terms of time and convenience, one student noted that "It was so much easier in my intro classes to do the work all by myself instead of going to class every day, listening to the teacher and having to take quizzes and less time-consuming for me than going to class every day." Many non-revenue athletes are taking online courses for easy credit, as shown by several comments: "I think I would never take [online] for a class where I really wanted to learn. I take online classes to get easy credit. I feel as if online classes just focus on grades rather than learning." "I would like to take an online class like English where you do not need to have much explained, like Math class." "I will only take online if it is for a lower level elective class, something that won't be as difficult or time-consuming." Confirming the key informant's impression that student-athletes are advised by their teammates, several athletes noted that "A lot of athletes have already taken a lot of the intro level courses and you can just talk to somebody and know how they did it and see what works better for you."

C. Non-Revenue Athletes ask for More Online Courses During the Season

Most of the athletes prefer online classes when they travel, as described by the following quote: "[Online classes] are nice when you are in-season because you don't have to go somewhere to go to class." Another student referred to the concern stated earlier that student-athletes are oftentimes tired and not capable of devoting more energy to school work: "During the season you are just constantly tired from practicing, playing ... when you come home, you just want to lie down ... it would be great if a professor could put all information online that you have missed. So you can access it whenever you have time."

D. Revenue Students Have Had Positive Experiences with Online Courses

One revenue athlete believes that online classes are more beneficial than sitting in a classroom in that "[an online class] more says you what you have to do at the outset and then it just helps with your schedule. I don't know about easy. [Online classes] still have kind the same stuff for the class. It just depends on how your schedule is; I just don't have so much time left. So I think it is more efficient". He added that, "In a lot of [traditional] classes, you have more than 100 students in a class. I just feel that you are in class and do what you want. [With an online class], you could just get everything done quickly and more efficiently."

As mentioned earlier, many revenue athletes have had positive experience with online courses. Although the misperception that online classes are easier than regular classes exists,

many revenue athletes are handling online classes very well and desire to take more. Because time constraints are the biggest concern, revenue athletes confirmed that online classes helped them to ease their scheduling demands. They appreciated not having to travel to and from campus and saving a lot of time.

E. There are Two Extremes: Revenue Athletes who Enjoy Taking Online Courses Versus Athletes who Try to Avoid Taking Online Courses

As stated before, there tend to be two extremes. Several revenue athletes who have had a bad initial experience in an online class stated that "if it is a math class and you are not such a math person, you may want to have a teacher or somebody there actually to whom you can ask a question and you know: someone helps you out then and there." Some athletes who have had good experiences with online classes expressed that they would prefer to attend the lecture in class. They explained: "Professors are always here ... instead of sitting in front of your computer."

Other athletes, in return, base their decision about whether or not to take a class online or in class on the workload involved with the class: "If it would be more work with the online class than the regular class, then I would say no. But if it is equal amount of work and it is the same thing with not much extra stuff, I would take an online class."

The other extreme are revenue athletes who highly favor online classes: "I personally prefer [online classes] mainly because it saves you time. The time that it takes you to go to classes, coming back, being there ... you can learn it on your pace." "Yes, if it is offered, I take it online. I knew the class followed a clear process. I knew I could be better forcing myself online than I could have in the classroom."

An athlete complained about maintaining the balance in classroom and in athletics and meeting all demands. He stated: "I feel like online classes is one of the only solutions …" Another comment was: "Online education would be a good opportunity for student-athletes and it would be great if more classes were offered, especially during the season."

Research Question 3: What type of online environment could increase learning satisfaction and learning outcomes for student-athletes?

Revenue and non-revenue athletes expressed that they would like to have (a) a combination of instruction, and (b) several options for different learning styles. Non-revenue athletes, in particular, asked for (c) more asynchronous technology and (d) an online representative for help. Revenue athletes (e) asked for smaller and shorter classes, and key informants would like to see the online environment (f) student-centered and (g) with a broad variety of characteristics/technology of course design.

Table 4.7 Learning Satisfaction

- A. A Combination of Instruction
- B. Several Options for Different Learning Styles
- C. Non-Revenue Athletes Asked for More Asynchronous Technology
- D. Non-Revenue Athletes Asked for an Online Representative for Help
- E. Revenue Athletes Asked for Smaller and Shorter Classes
- F. Student-Centered/Active Learning Environment
- G. Characteristics/Technology of Course Design

A. A Combination of Instruction

Most of the athletes, in both revenue and non-revenue sports, expressed their desire for a mixture of online and in-class instruction. Thus, they hope to get the benefits of both delivery systems. The discussion groups came up with the idea of taking a 3-day class in which two days would be in a traditional classroom setting on days that would not conflict with their travel schedules, and any other work that is required would be online at their convenience. During the two days in the traditional classroom they would get immediate feedback about their questions, have someone hold them accountable to do the work, and have the interaction with the professor, classroom and material. Interaction was perceived to be a key element in learning by all staff members. The following quote summarizes their thoughts the best: "I think it would be very difficult to be completely college-educated online without any interaction ... it is impossible to do everything online and learn it and to be good at it."

A combination was seen as an ideal solution. One non-revenue student stated that a mixture of both could enable "getting the freedom of managing the time how you want it, but also having someone having explained [your problems] to you; whenever needed." Non-revenue athletes emphasized how important the presence of a teacher is for the harder upper level classes. They agreed that "for some classes you need a teacher … to show stuff because you can't work it out by just looking at the examples … For upper-level classes, I'd prefer a teacher in the classroom." This idea was confirmed by another non-revenue athlete: "I need to listen to a teacher; so he shows me like heavy notes up that I can follow and understand it … I'd prefer to learn everything important in class." A different revenue athlete stated that "a mixture would be good … there are always pros and cons to traditional or to classes strictly online. You just have to find the middle ground, which is like somehow like the math emporium."

Virginia Tech's undergraduate math classes are delivered in an online environment. The Math Emporium is a facility with 500 computers, open 24-hours a day, seven days a week, enabling students to proceed through course material at their own pace, on their own schedule. Professors and tutors are on hand 14 hours a day to help with more difficult material. Students can receive that help by clicking a button or by displaying the red "help" cup on their computers.

The same student added that the Math Emporium allows him to receive the advantages of the classroom and the computers. In this innovative approach, class meetings would take place before athletes go out of town and could be used to communicate with the teacher and students. The student could go on his or her own pace on his or her own schedule and meet the academic deadlines. To be an efficient learning environment for students, the athlete suggested reducing the class to 50-100 computers and having one or two teachers available to help and to answer questions.

All athletes preferred having hard material explained by an actual person where they could get immediate feedback, to have someone hold them accountable to their work, and to have the interaction with professor, classroom and material. A revenue athlete stated that "if you don't understand, help is right there and you can just ask." In regard to the concerns discussed in Research question 1, factors like the academic background and self-motivation have to be kept in mind. Revenue athletes have complained about delayed feedback from their professors, along with feeling like they did not receive the quality of feedback they were looking for. This was similar to a non-revenue athlete's statement that "it is so much harder to say something in writing than verbally." At the same time athletes demanded to be permitted to learn at their own pace and have the convenience of choosing where and when they will learn.

Missing structure and a lack of due dates was perceived as a major challenge by all key informants. A suggestion made by one participant reflected everybody's recommendation: "Impose any kind of structure, specific deadlines so that procrastination can be minimized, if not avoided. Avoiding piling up and getting behind." As discussed earlier, continuous learning keeps students on track and allows intervention according to formative assessment.

B. Several Options for Different Learning Styles

An academic advisor expressed that a mix of in-class and online would work best in that "online [...] allows a little bit more freedom in the weekly schedule."

The student-athletes would prefer to choose from several options. Their preference depends on the type of class. Offering a variety of choices is important to deal with the many different learning styles and learning backgrounds. Several options for different learning styles should be included. A revenue-athlete gave an insight into her learning routine: "Personally, I like visualizing and writing it down and taking the time to redo it." She stated that she prefers having an outline of notes with blanks provided where the teacher wants students to write out notes. Some group members agreed that by highlighting the main points, teachers make you be part of the class. Another student claimed that "if they give you all the notes and are just reading you the notes, there is no point to go to class." This goes back to motivation issues, as one academic advisor for revenue sports claimed that he is dealing with two extremes of athletes: some that are highly motivated and want to learn and others that do not care as much. A staff member expressed that it would be appropriate to give students some choice in what they want to be tested at the outcome. However, he believes that" [giving students more power] would be tough for a professor to grade in but it might be an option in addressing different students and

their learning skills." Non-revenue athletes have mentioned that they felt graded unfairly and that time allotted for some of their quizzes was inappropriate.

Therefore, learning satisfaction depends primarily on the individual and on the class itself. Hard classes or classes that require explanation might be best taught in a class with a teacher present whereas elective, easier courses, and courses taught during the season might be better online. Therefore, a mix of both formats appears to be the best solution for studentathletes.

Virginia Tech uses Blackboard, an online course management system commonly used for distributed learning purposes, enabling teachers of conventional face-to-face courses to provide learning resources and conduct course-related activities, such as discussions and testing, outside of normal class time. As such, Blackboard it is an asynchronous technology (Simonson et al, 2006). According to Allen & Seaman (2006, p. 4), Blackboard is a web-facilitated instructional delivery system which delivers between 1% and 29% percent of the course content online. Computer systems could be effectively supplemented by other instructional delivery systems, including audiotapes, videotapes, voice mail, or print material, enabling student-athletes to work independently. Learning with a mixture of delivery systems would encourage them the most and get them acquainted with several possibilities offered by Virginia Tech's Institute for Distance and Distributed Learning (IDDL). Student-athletes would like to have a broad variety of delivery systems including visual, audio, and asynchronous opportunities. At the same time, they would like to try some of the new technologies, such as Centra and Pod- and videocasting. A computerbased system was considered a helpful tool to cater to dual-careers students. The athletes emphasized that they were already familiar and comfortable with Blackboard and its

asynchronous delivery capabilities. Athletes expressed that "[we] like it how we are doing it now. [Let's] have a site like Blackboard where you can go to."

C. Non-Revenue Athletes Asked for More Asynchronous Technology

Student-athletes articulated clearly that they would like to work in an asynchronous environment. Non-revenue athletes particularly expressed their preference for prerecorded media. They focused on the fact that you would not have to attend the lecture and you could go back and watch the whole video. An athlete conveyed that, "[audio/video] could be a very good alternative too pretty much doing it alone without having to go to the classes. You could see what they are explaining on the board [and] reading would still be included." In an asynchronous learning environment, the learners are not required to be at the class at the same time. This 'different-time, different-place education' is considered useful for busy people who are unable to rearrange their schedules. Comments shared by non-revenue athletes were: "I could imagine listening to or watching a lecture or even do like practice. Like Spanish, you go to class, but you also have workbooks and stuff online." Another comment was "[With an] i Pod [it is] listening and watching; you can easily do this while traveling or at practice."

It is important that students understand the need to arrange a time within their weekly schedule to "attend" class on a regular basis. In regard to having a mix of online and in-class education, student-athletes would not be tempted to procrastinate. With a mixture of online and in-class instruction, however, student-athletes would be reminded of upcoming deadlines. A synchronous learning environment is same-time, different-place education. Synchronous class time is similar to the on-campus, face-to-face learning environment. All the members of the class are together at the same time.

D. Non-Revenue Athletes Asked for an Online Representative for Help

Non-revenue athletes in the first focus group liked the idea of an online synchronous chat. One athlete argued that he would like to have an online chat with a person he could contact and who would get back to him within hours. He described this kind of synchronous environment as, "you have a teacher in front of you [and] maintain the classroom environment. That's like being in a classroom, [but you are] sitting in front of your computer, and listening to it." However, other non-revenue athletes complained about a synchronous environment when it comes to group projects. A non-revenue athlete complained that, "I don't like the synchronous thing or chat because it is like kind of the group thing. It does not work as well because people have to work around your schedule. It is tougher with planning. Group projects are awesome when you are not in-season." Some revenue athletes, however, stated that they would like to include chats, instant messaging, and services where they could say: "let's meet at that time and take care of the stuff in that class."

E. Revenue Athletes Asked for Smaller and Shorter Classes

There were several revenue athletes who appreciated online education and asked for more online offerings. However, when the workload gets too much or the class is too difficult they tended to give up. They seemed to lack a good coping mechanism and preferred taking classes in a traditional classroom with shorter and smaller classes. Two comments shared by revenue athletes were: "I had one bad experience with an online class [where] one of my teachers made the class harder online. [The online class was] more demanding than it was in-class because, I guess, she felt like the test that you have to take wasn't enough." The athlete stated that he would prefer classes in a traditional classroom when there was work involved in an online class.

"The longer [the] class, the worse [it is]." Perhaps these athletes do not like long classes because they are not interested in the class and do not want to spend much time in it; conversely, their attention span after a long practice might play a role. They would prefer a smaller, traditional class so that they can get immediate help. An academic advisor confirmed that several athletes asked for the relatively few math sections that are offered in a traditional classroom. A key informant stressed the need to make class more interesting for students so that they would be more willing to put more effort into it. He believes that "you can artificially create an academic setting [however, he is] not sure how you are going to do that in a Math class, English class, or Physics class." SAASS offers a transitions course, specifically designed to assist student-athletes to make a successful academic, athletic and personal transition from high school to college. SAASS offers an array of other services that aim at the academic wellbeing of student-athletes.

Both revenue and non-revenue athletes appreciate the service provided by SAASS and plan to continue taking advantage of it. They see mandatory study hall as very helpful for the fist-year college student-athlete. Some of the revenue athletes perceive mandatory study hall to be indispensable to life. Not only as freshmen, but throughout their academic career, they reported that they were grateful for the possibilities they had and used tutors frequently, when needed. This support service is available on campus specifically for student-athletes and is essential considering that their busy schedule may prevent them from accessing services on campus. A non-revenue athlete described the services available to them as a blessing, stating that she would not know what to do without SAASS.

F. Student-Centered/Active Learning Environment

Two staff members suggested implementing different activities "that give them the chance to apply what they are learning." A staff member emphasized that it depends on someone's goal: "Do you want somebody to be able to just pare it back what you told to them or pare it back to what their textbook says? If that's what you want, you just need a series of PowerPoint lectures and have them read the textbook and they can give it right back to you." The interviewee continues: "at a college level you want [students to] understanding the information and then being able to apply or synthesize that information [...] before you can get to that application and synthesis level with understanding, you have to have some interaction with the material and with other people. So that's the combination I think is appropriate in college."

G. Characteristics/Technology of Course Design

The key informants suggested a broad variety of technology would work well for studentathletes. They suggested prerecorded lectures because "you can just go back and watch it whenever you want; you still have the notes; so whichever way you prefer to learn, you can have it both."

iPod: As part of a university initiative to encourage creative uses of technology in education and campus life, Duke University distributed iPod devices, to over 1600 entering firstyear students in August 2004 (Belanger, 2005). The Center for Instructional Technology at Duke University coordinated an evaluation of the academic use of iPods. Students in the Class of 2008 used their iPods for course content dissemination (portable access to course content such as lectures, songs, historical speeches, and foreign language content), classroom recording tools (capturing lectures, class discussions and verbal feedback), field recording tools (capturing field notes, interviews, environmental sounds and audio data), study support tools (repeated listening

and repetition of commercial and original audio content, such as music, audio books, rehearsals and vocabulary lists), and file storage and transfer (simple transfer or backup mechanisms, particularly for large multimedia files). The academic uses of the iPod at Duke University were considered successful (Belanger, 2005).

Several key informants considered Podcasting to be "a good idea and that way they could download [the] lecture, be at the gym and get two things done at once. iPods are pretty popular. I think it may be a few years, but I can see [this] happening."

Synchronous (Centra): Another staff member, in return, would like to integrate "social interaction through a synchronous chat." An advisor stated that chats and instant messaging are "getting pretty popular", simulating a classroom experience and enabling students to receive immediate feedback.

Blackboard: The interviewees reported a good experience with Blackboard, a webfacilitated course management system that is used on campus, in that "students are familiar with it and using it already."

Proposal Based on Experience with Football Players Taking Online Courses

Learning satisfaction may look different for football players. According to the advisor for football, an ideal classroom would be more than a media room setting. An environment to guarantee learning factors would be

A small class size, between 15 and 20 [...] It is mandatory. [...] coaches are involved [...]. Interaction is the key thing. It is a very interactive class; interaction between the players and the coaches, they discuss different things [...]. Different learning styles: reading, lecturing, taking notes, answering questions, and then you have to relay it to the real world. [...]. A lot of different media [should be included]. The combination of film

with lecturing attracts the interest more. Most student-athletes are such physical people, if you find a way to make it a physical experience.

Research Question 4: Does spending a significant amount of time away from campus make online education a better method of learning?

Themes that emerged during the discussions were (a) not missing out on information, (b) more freedom and flexibility, (c) online classes offer different options, (d) travel time can be used more efficiently, (e) skill set is necessary, and (f) dependency on specific sport. The key findings were that non-revenue athletes appreciated online courses because they made being away from campus easier and revenue athletes take advantage of options, yet travel is not perceived as a huge concern.

Table 4.8 Spending a Large Amount of Time Away From Campus

A. Not Missing out on Information
B. More Freedom and Flexibility
C. Online Classes Offer Different Options
D. Travel Time can be used more Efficiently
E. Skill Set is Necessary
F. Dependent on Specific Sport

A. Not Missing out on Content

Almost all informants perceived online education for sports like baseball and softball as a big advantage. This was best expressed by the following statement: "For those sports, [online education] is almost a fundamental requirement. Those are the sports I sit there and scratch my head and go, 'how do you guys do this?' They are gone a week or something. That's like taking a vacation."

An interviewee stated that, "[he] will be happy to help those guys to be graduating. First of all, most of those kids don't get full scholarships. So they are paying to come to school, yet they are not even here." Graduation was mentioned as one of student-athletes' primary concerns regarding their dual career. "Missing a whole week several times a semester could definitely put these athletes at a disadvantage and make it hard for them to keep up academically." Another interviewee added that, "When you look at the sports that travel the most, they also tend to have the worst trouble with grades."

Non-revenue athletes appreciated online courses because they make being away from campus easier. They felt disadvantaged because they missed out on content when they are away from campus. Perceived benefits according to the participants included: having access to lectures, not missing material, not having to rely on another student's notes, not having to follow up with professors, and not scheduling a make-up exam. This, in return, could minimize their stress and save time when athletes return from their away game.

B. More Flexibility and Freedom

When it comes to traveling, the key informants perceived the freedom and flexibility inherent in an online environment to be a great opportunity. An athlete stated that, "It is a lot easier to bring just your computer on road trips rather than a bunch of books along with all of the other items you need." Student-athletes in both categories seemed to like the fact that material can be accessed online 24 hours a day, seven days a week, as expressed in the following

statements: "With online courses, there is some material always made available where you can have access to it..." "Especially with Blackboard you have access 24/7."

C. Online Classes Offer Different Options

As mentioned earlier (Research question 3), online classes would offer student-athletes several options to help them keep on track. They would prefer a combination of options; they judged prerecorded video to be the best. With audio-video they could easily go back and listen to classes. An athlete reported taking two online classes where he had teachers offering prerecorded material, and he went through slides at his own pace. He stated that he liked the idea of listening, reading a little bit, and teaching himself.

D. Travel Time can be used more Effectively

Traveling was considered a waste of time. Because of that, an athlete noted," I usually don't take such a huge course load ... and I take summer school so traveling does not really interfere." A key interviewee considers online education to be a big asset for student-athletes with an intense travel schedule. "For them, an online class would probably be heaven. When they are on a bus, they can download the material, listen to it, do their homework, and when they get back here, they don't have the stress of getting notes and finding out what they have missed while they were gone."

Several athletes contended that through online education they are enabled to use the time away from campus efficiently and could actually get some work done during a multi-hour drive on a bus or in a hotel when they have spare time. They added that online education could assuage their worries about catching up once they return to campus. Both revenue and non-revenue
athletes liked the opportunity to work ahead in online classes and therefore remove some kinds of stress. The athletes see online courses during travel as a definite plus: "When we travel with the bus, we take like 9 hours that can easily be used for work. You can sit in the van and catch up with stuff, look at lecture notes; whereas in a class, you have lectures, you don't miss out on lectures and learn more as well." "What I like about online classes is that I could do the work before we travel or while we travel." "Online classes are easy if you manage your time correctly… you don't have to stress out yourself when you come back."

However, as mentioned earlier, the football players are not traveling as much as other teams. They perceived online education as an opportunity during their season and would appreciate more online course offerings. Also, more options for online learning should be available, as one revenue athlete claimed, "[The University] should offer classes online for more students. There should be several options to learning online. Not just reading a book and answering questions." An athlete stated that he traveled during spring break, and even if he forgot a folder, he could go online and have access to all the material. He stressed that "it is all there" and "it is not too hard trying to catch up."

However, access to the internet has been perceived as a barrier to online education. As such, an athlete claimed that, "[although] video and audio are nice and they work, for some lessons, having a book and ... doing book assignments make it easier [and you do] not have to worry about the internet."

Basketball players, likely the revenue athletes traveling the most, might perceive online education during their heavy travel schedule in a different light. However, at the time the focus

group discussion meetings took place, the teams were traveling and unwilling to participate. More research on this group, in particular, is recommended.

D. Skill Set is Necessary

As previously mentioned, success in an online environment depends on the student's skills and dedication (research question 2). An academic advisor summarized that "It just comes down [to the question]: 'Am I a dedicated enough student, a motivated enough student, and do I have the time management skills and study skills to negotiate the way through my class?"

E. Dependent on Specific Sport

Staff members emphasized that each individual or team may perceive the need for online education related to travel differently. The advisor for the football players stated that "luckily our guys shouldn't be missing too many classes. Plus they have mandatory study hall." Another comment has been that, "Historically, basketball has been the most criticized sport. Their graduation rates have always been the center of attention. Basketball players spend a lot of time away from campus." An interviewee indicated that this year's NCAA tournament would be the week *after* spring break causing them to miss a whole week of class. When describing a sport like track, an advisor mentioned that for teams competing during summer, which requires them to be away from campus for several days, "Online education during summer time would be the most useful."

Trend of Online Education

The key informants believed that there would be an (a) an expansion of online education in general, (b) an increase of online offerings at Virginia Tech, and (c) an increase in comfort of using internet as well in the degree of student satisfaction.

Table 4.9 Trend of Online Education

A. Expansion of Online Education in General

B. Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University

C. Increase in Comfort of Using Internet and Degree of Student Satisfaction

A. Expansion of Online Education in General

The system administrator stated that "online classes are the way we are moving; we are having more and more professors who video-tape themselves [making it possible] to get that class on-demand." He believes that "there is going to be more technology in the classroom. You can do a lot of software stimulations"

Some staff members think highly of the expansion of online education, but are skeptical about it: "I can see the trend *absolutely*. I don't know if it is necessarily good, but I think it is cost-effective." Another person noted, "I can see that growing, but with that growth it will bring some issues."

B. Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University

Most of the SAASS staff members were familiar with the services, technologies, and online education opportunities at Virginia Tech. A staff member expressed that "online education is expanding; we started out in 1995, nowadays everybody here at the university has to use Blackboard just to communicate with the professor, to get to your class, to get your syllabus, notes, …" Another comment was "as we are becoming more and more a research institution, there is going to be a lot more online enrollments for the book stuff." Many interviewees agreed

that "if there is something that requires hands-on interaction, that is going to be in the classroom. For some courses, online instruction is impossible."

Several support services are provided on campus. An academic advisor stated that "Virginia Tech, in general, has a really good environment" and alluded to the fact that "all students are required to have a computer when they come here." Another comment was that "a lot of our students-athletes take advantage of our online opportunities that are offered here and enjoy the majority of their online classes."

C. Increase in Comfort from Using the Internet and Student Satisfaction

A staff member confirmed that "we are starting to deal with a generation of students that are so easily computer literate. It is not any big deal to them."

As trends in online education are followed, it may be telling to track the extent to which the cheating scandal at Florida State University may influence the future of the online education for student-athletes. An academic advisor stated that student-athletes could learn from this occurrence: "I think that student-athletes will learn a lesson in that they are warned to take the honor code seriously. Things like that can happen and athletes have to avoid getting in trouble by violating the honor code." The consequences could be fatal to the university, not just for athletes on scholarship.

Discussion

The study was designed to compare perceptions, practices, and concerns of revenue and non-revenue athletes with respect to their (1) primary concerns related to their dual career, (2) perceptions of the benefits and barriers of online education, (3) perception of an ideal learning

environment, and (4) the relationship between spending a large amount of time away from campus and online education.

This study's findings show that there are more similarities than differences between revenue and non-revenue athletes. This was a surprising discovery when we consider prior literature about the specific sport played in college. Revenue sports have been associated with a decrease in a student-athlete's academic motivation and success (Suggs, 2003; Underwood, 1984) and low graduation rates (Snyder, 1996). Adler and Adler (1985) observed relationships between athletic participation and academic performance and found that a student-athlete's involvement in intercollegiate athletics led to academic detachment. In this study, studentathletes expressed that they wanted to learn effectively under their given circumstances.

Non-revenue athletes and revenue athletes seemed to want the best of both worlds, preferring the time and location convenience of online courses; however, they also want regular contact and interaction with faculty and other class members (for the social component). Therefore both liked a combination of instruction to have the benefits of both learning environments. In addition, they liked several options for different learning styles. Non-revenue athletes appeared to highly stress the importance of a solid education. The study showed that non-revenue athletes preferred taking the course in a traditional classroom in order to learn material and to get immediate feedback. Moreover, they asked for more online options during their sport's season to alleviate the rigors of intensive traveling. Revenues athletes appeared to appreciate online courses to ease their high demands on time and energy. At the same time, they highlighted the importance of having someone to give immediate help when needed.

Revenue athletes specifically mentioned their concern about having a dual career namely the freshman experience of adapting to college life. This was also a major concern of the key informants who specifically addressed self-assessment (misperceptions about their own personalities and abilities).Even though revenue athletes may be more focused on athletics when coming to college, several revenue athletes agreed with the key informants that concerns are open to chance. Depending on what's going on in their lives, certain concerns take priority.

Oblinger and Oblinger (2005) see today's college students as members of the "Net Generation" (p. 15), a generation that has grown up with technology. The staff members agreed in that the students are comfortable using technology. Stokes (2003) found a significant relationship between the level of experience using the Web and student satisfaction. Studentathletes of both categories have stated that they feel comfortable using technology. The staff members assume that everybody has been exposed to a computer before they come to college; especially to an institute where possession of a computer is a requirement. The key informant interviewees and focus group participants also support Rodriguez et al.'s (2005) proposed advantages of online education, such as the aspects of flexibility of study-time, study location, less need to go to campus, and comfort with technology.

The key informants were in agreement with student-athletes of both types of sports for most of the themes. However, they expressed additional barriers to online education such as technological barriers, negative influences as a result of the professor (whether the professor was an enthusiast or a skeptic), and misperceptions on part of students that online education could be easier and more effective because of its self-paced nature.

Misconceptions reported by Hillstock (2005) included underestimating the time needed to prepare for faculty, ineffective use of appropriate technology, the misconception that class is easier. This study reports results that support these misconceptions. Misperceptions in this study also included student-athletes' expectation of a round-the-clock service and availability of staff and faculty. The key informants reflections that some professors are not willing to get online are similar to Prensky's (2001) analogy of native speakers and digital immigrants, descriptive of the generation gap. "The importance of the distinction is this: As digital immigrants learn – like all immigrants, some better than others – to adapt to their environment, they always retain, to some degree, their "accent," that is, their foot in the past (p. 2).

The ineffective use of technology by professors has been addressed by student-athletes' comments about bad experiences with the class set-up. DeBourgh (1999) suggested that certain pedagogical characteristics are associated with student satisfaction. These included providing clear expectations about course assignments, promptly recognizing and responding to students' questions, encouraging student participation in class sessions, using a variety of instructional techniques to help students gain a better understanding of course material, establishing mechanisms for students to access the instructor outside of class sessions, and providing timely feedback and return of students' written course work.

In addition, both non-revenue and revenue athletes confirmed the key informants' misperceptions that online classes are as easy, if not easier, as traditional classes and believed that they would not have to work as hard. Student-athletes also reported of falling behind in their classes. A revenue athlete expressed that, "online classes that I have taken have been a lot easier than normal classes. You put a little bit time to it.... It is a lot easier and they are less time-consuming." Others, however, claimed that the opposite is true in that "it seems easier, but it is

harder. It is easy when you stay on top of things. But when you fall behind, it is even harder than any other class."

Another misperception of student-athletes seemed to be the expectation of a round-theclock service and availability of staff and faculty. As Prensky (2001) described the Digital Natives as people thriving on instant gratification and frequent rewards (p. 2), student-athletes appeared to almost expect class content help provided 24/7. This demand, and expectation, of special service seems to contradict student-athletes' claim on not wanting special treatment, such as in a form of purely online education.

Interviewees and focus group participants support Simonson et al.'s (2006) findings that online education can provide a more unbiased environment since fewer channels are available for personal judgment. However, a purely online educational program would not balance these requirements. Student-athletes, who are already considered to be non-traditional students (e.g., Gaston, 2003; Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003), need the face-to-face interaction and experience of traditional college life. A key informant expressed that, "The point about going to college is having a face-to-face interaction with professors."

In addition, student-athletes asked for more delivery method options. This involves questions of instructional effectiveness and economic feasibility. They asked for more online course offerings which could be limited by money, time, energy, and effort as well as complexity of subject matter, staff development and training.

Overall the five key informants could see online classes as a possible supplement to traditional learning, as one staff member best phrased their perceptions: "I think they can work both ways, both positive and negative on the student-athlete. It really depends on the motivation

and willingness to sort of plan and be ready to do it." The key informants do not perceive online education to be any better or worse than the traditional classroom setting for student-athletes. This supports Clark' finding (1983) that there is no clear or verified process for determining whether face-to-face instruction, distance instruction, or a combination of the two is best (Clark, 1983; Simonson et al., 1996). Garrison (1990) argues for the appropriate, conservative use of interactive communication technologies in education, which, be it at a distance or not, is dependent on two-way communication. According to the key informants and student-athletes, interaction with professor, classroom and material plays an essential role, as discussed in Research question 3.

Implication

Online education does take a sense of responsibility, self-motivation and requires students to take control of their own learning. The staff members of the Student-Athlete Academic Support Service (SAASS) stress the need for time management and planning skills. As a result of their hectic lifestyle, student-athletes are not always able to control and effectively regulate their own learning, which makes it necessary to effectively use the existing support services and extend those to the students' changing needs as well as NCAA requirements.

First-year student-athletes who have a hard time adjusting to college life are encouraged to gain the necessary skills through mandatory study hall and other services offered by SAASS. These services should help them to avoid bad initial experience in online courses. In most cases, students did not have any training for online classes. Student-athletes mentioned time management as a primary concern; online education seemed to add another layer of complexity on their planning skills. Some key informants believed that for freshmen, online classes may not

be the best format: "Coming from high school and never having had any online classes, some [freshmen] are just scared of fear of the unknown."

This makes it necessary to establish a productive work environment, use resources like study hall and tutors effectively, and realistically assess one's own abilities. One concern of student-athletes about having two careers, as mentioned earlier, includes self-assessment and misperceptions about their own personality and abilities. Being a hard-working and successful athlete does not necessarily mean the same for academics, and vice versa. In order to produce the best learning outcome and learning satisfaction, all key informants suggested strict deadlines for online classes to prevent procrastination and/or students getting off track. Some of the staff members require their students to plan out (with a calendar) up-front how they want to take the class in order to avoid the temptation to let the work pile up at the end of the semester.

SAASS is an organization which is already in place and well-accepted by studentathletes. It plays an important role in holding athletes accountable and helping them with their *muddiest point*, meaning to identify material which is least understood. Along with the wide array of tutors, SAASS can maximize the learning effects of student-athletes. Strict deadlines, either required by the teacher or set by oneself, provide continuous feedback via progress reports that are already employed for this purpose. Student-athletes require a kind of formative assessment, not necessarily to be used for grading purposes, allowing professors to provide feedback on students' work throughout the course. Athletes should be able to understand that not practicing on a regular basis will result in weak performance.

Continuous learning should be implemented during study hall time, which should be used effectively, as exemplified by the following statements: "Student-athletes can use study hall whenever they want. I mean they have to be in study hall, but that does not necessarily have to

mean that they have to be working ...Some use it effectively, some don't. So study hall can be helpful, but is not always. It really depends on how the student wants to use it." With their time management issues, student-athletes could be monitored to ensure that they use their mandatory study time wisely and do not waste it. Getting work done in time would result in formative assessment feedback.

Different Classrooms for Different Types of Athletes

Some key informants assumed that, although non-revenue athletes and revenue athletes may see online education in a positive light, their reactions might be different when studentathletes realize that an online class is not an easy load. They believed that non-revenue students would work hard whereas some revenue athletes might not be willing and ready to follow through. One staff member believes that there are two extremes with two different means:

I think when you look at non-revenue athletes, they may see taking online classes as a good way for them to get the material, learn it, get ahead, and therefore allow them some flexibility in their time. [On the contrary,] I see revenue athletes, or in this case, the less motivated students...to get through a class where they don't have to attend it. It is a different perception. 'I don't have to go to class. Oh, that is great. I can get 3 credits and never attend class. Oh, I like that; that's good.'

Some revenue-athletes, however, stated that they would rather take a hard class in an online environment than taking an easier one and having to go to campus. A revenue athlete noted, "I have taken some that were even harder, but I like the challenge. I'd rather be challenged and not having to go to class than having it easier and having to go to class ... one was actually a real class where I probably wrote maybe 40 to 50 pages. I had a lot of readings and exams. I worked very hard, put a lot of effort into it and was able to get an A..."

This assumption of having two extremes of revenue athletes was confirmed by several responses of student-athletes: at the one end there are extremely motivated student-athletes, and

at the other end there are athletes who do not care as much about academics. This was also encountered during the focus group discussions. In fact, three different groups could be identified when considering the 'middle road':

- The first group enjoyed taking online classes. Athletes stated that they would even take harder classes, and be challenged. They would prefer working hard in classes online rather than going to class and having an easier class. With online classes, they reported being more productive and being more time-efficient. This was confirmed by one staff member expressing that "they'd rather work their butt off for not having to go to class." They like to be told what to do, they communicate well, they appreciate taking online classes, and they have the skills to succeed in them; however this represents the minority of athletes in these focus group discussions.
- 2) This group of athletes who have had bad initial online learning experience and would prefer to take any further classes in a traditional setting. Even if these athletes have reported good experiences with online classes and appreciate the convenience of not having to travel to campus, they would rather have a teacher explaining things, have someone holding them accountable, and be able to ask questions directly. Often, these athletes lack the skills for self-study and need more feedback and help by people directly.
- 3) The third group comprises student-athletes who appreciate online education and ask for more online offerings. They mention that they see it as the only solution; however when the workload gets too much or the class gets too difficult, they tend to give up and feel overwhelmed. If they think it is unfair or more work, they'd rather take the easier class offered in a traditional classroom.

The preceding discussion indicates that there tend to be two extremes and that success or failure in an online class depends on each individual. A few revenue athletes expressed that "We have been brought up in classes and in classrooms and that's what we are familiar with." Other athletes claimed that there would be no way around technology. Yet, they were unclear whether this would be a positive or negative thing. A revenue athlete stated: "I can kind of see that everything is moving to online. I know that you could get full-college degrees online. It is like a paradigm switch." Two revenue athletes perceived online classes as the only solution in the future. Other revenue athletes added that online education may not be a controversial topic at the moment, but it might possibly in the future. They referred to the recent cheating scandal involving revenue athletes at Florida State University and online classes. They believe that the integration of technology in the world is expanding and student-athletes are making use of it more and more. A revenue athlete added that" student-athletes trying to take online classes as an opportunity to cheat" would definitely produce stereotypes. He stated that "I just feel that does not represent our student-athletes. It is just a selected group."

Future

Throughout its history, the NCAA has had hundreds of cases of teams cheating in order to remain athletically eligible (Wolverton, 2006). In 2007, the NCAA announced that 112 Division I teams would be penalized for failing to meet minimum academic performance standards, specifically the APR cutoff score of 925 ("Knight Commission Urges Presidents," 2007). The pressure to meet academic standards may lead to more cheating. The recent cheating scandal at Florida State University did not reflect positively on online education ("Florida State Inquiry," 2007). This incident has sparked a discussion about cheating in online classes and honor code violations between two of the key informant interviewees.

With new technology emerging daily and the growing need for more flexibility in scheduling, the trend seems to be towards implementing more online classes in university settings. The purpose of online education should be to create and widen access to education, improve quality, and meet requirements of those unable to succeed in the traditional classroom.

Research has shown that there is a relationship between the level of comfort using the Internet and the degree of student satisfaction (Loyd & Gressard, 1984; Stokes 2003; Lee & Witta, 2001). Online education is on the rise and has become the format of choice for many universities (Allen & Seaman, 2006). Oblinger and Oblinger (2005) describe today's generations as follows: "One of the most striking attributes is the attitude about the Internet. For the Net Gen, the Internet is like oxygen; they can't imagine being able to live without it" (p. 20). It is an almost instinctive assumption to believe that Net Gen students will want to use instructional technology heavily in their education as they certainly do in their personal lives.

CHAPTER 5

Summary and Recommendations

Student-athletes constantly balance their athletic, academic, and social roles. This distinguishes them from the normal student body. Their dual career can easily be overwhelming. Athletes are required to accommodate heavy practice and travel schedules, national competition, pre- and post practice needs, and mandatory meetings. At the same time, school requires student-athletes to take a full class schedule. Missing classes can be disruptive to the flow of classes and material, lecture notes might not be accessible before the next class session, and review sessions might be inaccessible.

Online education is considered to be one way to provide a personalized, portable, ondemand learning environment that is flexible regarding both time and location, without travel to and from campus, self-paced, and at the learner's convenience. The purpose of this study was to determine the perceptions, practices, and concerns about online education among student-athletes at Virginia Tech. Understanding student-athletes' needs and wants could help to promote high quality online course development. It may also increase the likelihood of positive online learning experiences.

Focus group discussions, key informant interviews, and a demographic questionnaire were used to collect data. Student-athletes from all varsity teams at Virginia Tech were purposively selected for two revenue sports sessions and two non-revenue sports sessions. Five key informant interviews were conducted with personnel in the athletic department at Virginia Tech. The focus group questions and key informant interviews correspond to each research question. The primary research questions for this study compare revenue and non-revenue athletes' perceptions with respect to 1) primary concerns related to their dual career, 2) perceptions of benefits and barriers of online education, 3) ideal learning environment, and 4) the relationship between spending a large amount of time away from campus and online education.

Summary of Research Question 1: What are the primary concerns facing student-athletes related to their dual career as both a student and an athlete?

Primary concerns perceived by both revenue and non-revenue athletes were: time management and time constraints; balancing their dual career; fatigue and exhaustion; catching up with academic studies as a result of intense travel; dealing with preconceived notions others may have, and maintaining a healthy lifestyle. Concerns specifically mentioned by revenue athletes were the freshmen experience and adaptation to college life, as well as focus and selfmotivation. The primary concern for non-revenue athletes seemed to be catching up with academic studies as a result of intense travel. Though time constraints are a primary pressure on the athletes, the inconvenience of spending time away from campus (and therefore missing out on information that other students in class receive) seems to be of even greater concern. The football players in the revenue groups noted that intense travel would not apply to them, as they may only miss 1-2 days of class. In addition, freshmen football players usually do not travel at all.

It appeared that athletic responsibilities are primarily to blame for student-athletes struggling with time management. Student-athletes in both categories have many competing demands for their time. Blocks of time are reserved specifically for practice. Frequently, class offerings overlap with practice time. Time management appeared to be *the* major concern of revenue athletes. In fact, the time aspect seemed to have a major influence on all other concerns

and conflicts mentioned. Revenue athletes have an even more demanding schedule of athletic commitments than non-revenue athletes.

Revenue athletes, in particular, were concerned about the adaptation to college life as a freshman. They felt constant pressure from coaches, the media, thousands of sports fans, and consequently experienced anxiety. Athletes reported that they felt overwhelmed during their first year in college, because of a new environment and the high demands on time and energy. Most of the revenue athletes come to college through a scholarship, and do not think about graduation or earning a degree. In addition, high school preparation for college is insufficient. Upper classmen are not immune to problems with focus and self-motivation. It was noted by revenue and non-revenue athletes that classes must be scheduled around athletics. Admittedly, when big games come up, scholastic responsibilities will most commonly (and stereotypically) take a back seat, as reported by several revenue athletes. In addition, many revenue athletes seem to be highly motivated by what interests them most – their sport, and would rather spend time improving their athletic skills than working on academics.

Non-revenue athletes expressed that they felt like they have two full-time jobs. They emphasized their academic responsibilities at least the same, if not more, than their athletic responsibilities. Some student-athletes wanted a solid education, in case they failed to be successful with their sport professionally. Many athletes stress how important it is for them to progress towards their degree. However, athletes who would like to attain a higher degree, must also deal with the high demands of their coaches, the physical drain, and the lack of free time. Fatigue was another main concern cited by both groups. Being tired from practice, workouts, and other athletic demands has hindered them at some point in their academics. They fall asleep,

cannot concentrate enough to study, and experience many other fatigue-related behaviors. At the same time, student-athletes want to be social. Athletes mentioned that they would rather spend time with friends or catch up on sleep, than try to earn an "A" in class.

In general, student-athletes were aware of existing stereotypes about them. Athletes in these groups believed that these stereotypes were not a large problem at Virginia Tech, and might be more of a concern for revenue athletes in general. Non-revenue athletes mentioned that many professors and peers have misperceptions of what the time commitment is involved when with being a student-athlete. Most of their classmates seemed to consider non-revenue athletes to be more traditional students - playing sports as a hobby. Revenue athletes, however, were concerned about looks they got in their classes and the disrespect they experienced from many classmates. Student-athletes agreed that they would be stereotyped if they took classes purely online, because any kind of 'special' treatment would add to preconceived notions about student-athletes.

Maintaining a healthy diet was the concern of one revenue athlete. The concept of a healthy lifestyle was noted by both groups. They see a connection between getting enough sleep and achieving an optimal level of energy.

Summary of Research Question 2: What are student-athletes' perceptions of the benefits and barriers of online education?

Perceived benefits

Both revenue and non-revenue student-athletes liked the freedom and flexibility to complete their school work whenever and wherever they want. They contended that they were

not bound to come to campus at a certain time, avoided common irritants such as driving to class or finding a parking space. All athletes appreciated that they could manage their time better and fit their schedule around their athletic commitments using online education. If they felt tired or unmotivated to work, they could complete their homework or study at a more convenient time.

Non-revenue athletes, in particular, claimed that they could get work done earlier, which removed a lot of stress and gave them more opportunities to spend time on other commitments. They perceived the opportunity to take online classes during their season when they are required to miss a lot of classes to be the major benefit. The football players in the focus groups stated that they were not traveling as much and would not miss class as much; however, the revenue athletes emphasized that taking online classes would be a significant benefit if they were traveling a lot. One revenue athlete stated that he will take advantage of his online class during spring break when he would be able to access Blackboard at any time, and be able to communicate with his professor. He stated that he had previously contacted the professor who, in return, indicated that he would provide help. At the same time, however, student-athletes expect help available to them 24 hours a day on 7 days a week.

With time constraints as the biggest concern, the majority of revenue athletes perceived online education to be a great help in managing their time. They mentioned that online education helps them save a lot of time and removes a large weight from their backs. They emphasized the diminished need to travel to or from campus and the time gained by taking online courses which provide them more time to focus on the things they enjoy (often, their sport). Though all studentathletes stated that they took advantage of online classes, the revenue athletes seemed to appreciate them more and were more willing to take more online classes to help ease their schedule.

Alleviating preconceived notions by introducing more objectivity was of minor importance. These results were anticipated because Virginia Tech was perceived to have a fair campus. Revenue athletes emphasized that online education provided a degree of anonymity, which would moderate any stereotypes. Also, non-revenue athletes believed that stereotypes would be moderated to some extent, as long as athletes did not rely solely on online education.

Several participants in the revenue athlete groups stated that there would be no way to evade technology and that it is essential to stay up-to-date with technological change. They believed that the trend will be more towards online education. Participants in all four discussion groups reported that they felt comfortable using technology and, as such, valued the fact that they had access to class material 24 hours a day, contingent on internet accessibility.

Perceived disadvantages

All student-athletes, regardless of type of sport, considered missing structure, lack of deadlines, lack of accountability, limited interaction with the professor, and the need to have certain management and planning skills to be a barrier to online education. Online courses were perceived to be challenging as a result of missing structure and lack of deadlines. Several student-athletes complained about the set-up of some of their online classes and reported some bad experiences they have had in their online courses. Non-revenue athletes, in particular, complained about the set-up of the math classes. Others did not like the way assessment took place in an online environment. A non-revenue student was unhappy with his online group project and considered any kind of synchronous environment to be a hindrance when in-season. Group members did not like having to work around the athlete's time schedule.

The biggest challenge perceived by almost all student-athletes was staying on top of their work. As much as they appreciated the convenience and flexibility of taking online classes, they reported of falling behind and dealing with the consequences of procrastination. This was contingent upon the lack of set due dates or the lack of quality of overall communication. This leads to student-athletes' complaints about the limited interaction with their teachers or professors. Being separated by space and time is a challenge for both teacher and learners because it limits channels of communication. The fact that there are no face-to-face conversations inhibits free-flowing interaction, especially feedback. Teaching usually involves spontaneous give-and-take, thus, participants may take interaction for granted. Since sensory channels are reduced, there are fewer opportunities for informal conversation. Both revenue and non-revenue athletes emphasized the limited, or lack, of interaction with their professor to be a hindrance. Several students alluded to the fact that they prefer taking classes in a traditional setting because they needed a teacher to explain the more difficult content and wanted immediate feedback if questions arise. For upper level classes, non-revenue athletes would prefer learning by watching and listening instead of having to teach themselves. Athletes were concerned about having to write an email if they had a question, not getting the high quality feedback they wanted, or spending extra time meeting with the professor during office hours.

As opposed to a traditional class, online learners do not see their teacher on a regular basis. Nobody holds them accountable per se; it is the students who are responsible for their schedule and must keep up with the work, work towards a goal (e.g., getting an A in a class), find time to do assignments and thus stay focused. Some non-revenue athletes reported that being in an online class does not remind them of their responsibilities in the same way that attending a traditional class does. In the same way, revenue athletes felt that they needed

someone like their coaches who they see every day, to check on them and hold them accountable. All student-athletes were aware that they need time management and planning skills to be successful in an online environment. Online learning requires strong *self-motivation*, *self-discipline* and assertiveness. The online learner spends most of his or her time in front of the computer which is not analogous to a traditional classroom. They are their "own" teacher and have to be able to set their own deadlines and short-term goals. Assuming responsibility for an online class seemed to be an obstacle if the subject matter has no relevance for them or entailed more work than the same class in a classroom setting, especially for revenue athletes.

First-year student-athletes who have a hard time in adjusting to college life are particularly encouraged to gain these skills through mandatory study hall and other services offered by the SAASS to avoid bad initial experiences with online courses. In most cases, students did not have any training for online classes. A highly motivated revenue athlete reported using the following strategies: planning out a whole semester in advance, marking all due dates, and following through. These strategies make it necessary to be proactive and build a good relationship with the professor. In addition, he stressed that in an online class you need to have the desire to work hard, to show interest in class, and try not to live up to any stereotypes of student-athletes. He considered self-discipline to be the most important skill in teaching oneself.

In addition, a non-revenue athlete mentioned the lack of consistent internet access when she is on the road. She was not able to do any work during games or in the hotel. The challenge, however, is to know: Do student-athletes want to? Do they need to? That is where selfmotivation and self-assessment (misconceptions about one's abilities and skills) come in. Most athletes, revenue athletes in particular, perceived online classes to be as easy as traditional classes and believed that they would not have to work as hard.

However, when the class load was perceived to be too difficult to manage, non-revenue athletes seemed to be willing to work hard, whereas revenue athletes, when feeling too overwhelmed, seemed to lack the skills or perseverance to follow through. Some revenue athletes, however, stated that they would rather take a hard class in an online environment than taking an easier one and having to go to campus. So there tend to be two extremes and success or failure in an online class depends on each individual.

Athletes claimed that there is not a way around online education and anticipated that there would be an increase in online class offerings, yet were unclear whether this development was a positive or negative thing. Two revenue athletes perceived online classes to be the only solution to their problems in the future. Other revenue athletes added that they thought online education may not be a controversial topic at the moment, but it might possibly be one in the future. They referred to the recent cheating scandal involving revenue athletes at Florida State University in online classes. They think that the implementation of technology in the world is expanding and that student-athletes are using it more and more.

Overall, participants have had positive experience with online courses. The non-revenue athletes preferred taking classes in a traditional classroom, if they would like to learn material. They would prefer to take online classes when they travel, for time issues, or easy credit. There seemed to be two extremes for the revenue athletes: athletes who enjoy taking online courses versus students who try to avoid taking online courses.

Summary of Research Question 3: What type of online environment could increase learning satisfaction and learning outcomes for student-athletes?

Most of the athletes, in both revenue and non-revenue sports, expressed their desire for a mixture of online and in-class instruction. With this system, they were able to get the benefits of both delivery systems. The discussion groups came up with the idea of a 3-day class, wherein two days would be used for a traditional classroom setting on days that would not conflict with their travel schedules, and on the third day any other work that is required should be online at their own convenience. Non-revenue athletes emphasized how important the presence of a teacher is for the more difficult upper level classes. All athletes preferred having hard material explained by an actual person where they could get immediate feedback, have someone hold them accountable and have the interaction with the professor, classroom and material.

At the same time athletes demanded to be permitted to learn at their own pace and own convenience. A computer-based system was considered to be a perfect tool to cater to athletes' dual-careers. The athletes emphasized that they were comfortable with Blackboard and its asynchronous delivery capabilities. Computer systems could be effectively supplemented by other instructional delivery methods, including audio- and videotapes, voice mail, or print material enabling student-athletes to work independently. Learning with a mixture of delivery systems would encourage them and help get them acquainted with several possibilities offered by the Institute for Distance and Distributed Learning. They would like to try some of the new technologies, such as Centra and Pod-and videocasting.

In an asynchronous learning environment, the learners are not required to be at the class at the same time; a synchronous learning environment provides same-time, different-place

education. A non-revenue athlete liked the idea of a synchronous chat in the form of an online representative. However, other non-revenue athletes complained about synchronous environments when it comes to group projects.

The student-athletes would prefer several options to choose from. Their choice depends on the type of class. Offering a variety of choices is important when dealing with the various learning styles and learning backgrounds. This goes back to motivation issues, as one academic advisor for revenue sports claimed that he is dealing with two extremes of athletes: some that are highly motivated and want to learn and others that do not care as much. Therefore, learning satisfaction depends mostly on the individual and on the class itself. Hard classes or classes that require explanation might be best taught in a traditional classroom setting, whereas electives, easier courses, and courses taught in-season might be better online. Therefore, a mix of both formats might help them to balance their situation. There were several revenue athletes who appreciated online education and asked for more online offerings. However, when the workload gets too much or the class is too difficult they tended to give up. They seemed to lack a good coping mechanism and prefer taking short classes in a traditional classroom with smaller classes.

Student-Athlete Academic Support Service (SAASS)

Both revenue and non-revenue athletes appreciate the services provided by SAASS and will continue to take advantage of it. They see mandatory study hall to be helpful for the fist-year collegiate student-athlete. Some of the revenue athletes perceived mandatory study hall to be indispensable to life throughout their academic careers. They reported that they were grateful for the possibilities they have and used tutors frequently. This is an essential support service

available on campus specifically for student-athletes. It is provided for them because their busy schedule may prevent them from accessing services on campus.

Summary of Research Question 4: Does spending a significant amount of time away from campus make online education a better method of learning?

Non-revenue athletes appreciated online courses because they make being away from campus easier. They perceived having online classes to be an accommodating form of education when they are on the road. They felt disadvantaged when they missed out on content because they value education and appreciated any help they could get when they were away from campus. Online classes offered them several options to help them stay on track. They preferred a combination of options, although the felt that prerecorded video was the best. Traveling was considered to be a waste of time. Several athletes contended that through online education they were enabled to use the time away from campus efficiently and could actually get some work done during a multi-hour drive on a bus or in a hotel when they have spare time. They added that online education could assuage their worries about catching up once they return to campus.

Both revenue and non-revenue athletes liked the opportunity to work ahead in online classes and therefore remove some kinds of stress. The athletes saw online courses during intense travel as a benefit. However, as mentioned earlier, the football players do not travel as much as other teams. They perceived online education to be a great alternative in-season and would appreciate more online course offerings. Basketball players, the revenue athletes traveling the most, might perceive online education during their heavy travel schedule differently. However, during the time of the focus group discussion meetings, the teams were traveling and unwilling to participate.

Recommendations

In respect to the findings of this study, two recommendations can be made: (a) providing more flexibility for student-athletes and (b) developing a model for student-athletes based on the results of this study.

A. Provide More Flexibility for Student-Athletes

The three main problems for student-athletes were identified as: 1) having an overwhelming dual career, 2) having to deal with misconceptions and stereotypes, and 3) being at a disadvantage through the rigors of extensive travel. Based on this study's findings, I conclude that online education: 1) can be a beneficial, 2) can provide a less biased environment, and 3) can be an attractive option for student-athletes who spend a large amount of time away from campus. It was of interest to determine the extent that these problems applied to student-athletes in this study and what could be done to improve the situation.

1) Student-athletes have a busy lifestyle balancing their dual careers and thus have high demands on their time and energy (Gaston, 2003; Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003; Sedlacek & Adams-Gaston, 1992).

My findings supported the notion that student-athletes' dual careers could easily become overwhelming. Time management and coping with both demands were two of the biggest concerns of both revenue and non-revenue athletes. They reported having high demands on time and energy, being constantly fatigued, and that their dual career consumed most of their free time. Freshmen felt particularly overwhelmed attempting to adapt to collegiate and athletic demands. Student-athletes emphasized that they wanted to excel in both careers. Revenue and non-revenue athletes appreciated the flexibility and convenience of an online learning environment.

In conclusion, as there are positive and negative sides of online education, the effectiveness of an online class depends on several factors: student-athlete motivation and willingness to focus, and on the goals, objectives, and type of class on the instructor's side. Overall, having online classes available could be a beneficial alternative for student-athletes.

2) Oftentimes, student-athletes are confronted with prejudicial attitudes, stereotypes, and misconceptions by their peers, faculty, and administrators (Etzel et al., 1996; Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003).

In this study, stereotyping was not perceived to be a big deal on Virginia Tech's campus. Several non-revenue athletes reported misperceptions that faculty and peers have about being an athlete. Some revenue athletes admitted that they were living up to the stereotype at certain times. Key informants claimed that stereotypes arise because of events in the past. The recent NCAA regulations, admission changes, and improved support services may have had a big impact on student-athletes' rising graduation rates. However, the recent cheating scandal involving student-athletes at Florida State University might indicate that these graduation rates are inflated by dishonest means, as discussed by several revenue-athletes.

I believe that online education can be a more unbiased environment since fewer channels are available for personal judgment. Because the nature of collegiate athletics often isolates student-athletes from the larger campus community, students tend to be more susceptible to stereotyping (Hamilton & Trolier, 1986). Therefore, removing student-athletes from the classroom might intensify any existing prejudices. Any kind of special treatment would be counter-productive and alienate them even more from the campus community. Instead, integrating them more into campus life would help alleviate these concerns with interaction and socialization with other college students.

3) Rhatingan (1984) stated that a collegiate basketball player must contend, along with her/his academic pursuits, with approximately eight away games each spring.

Traveling away from campus for several days puts student-athletes at a disadvantage. Student-athletes in this study stated that they would like to have more online opportunities to help them cope with their travel regimen. Non-revenue athletes claimed to appreciate online education in-season because they did not want to miss out on class content. Revenue athletes in this study did not travel as much, and the revenue-athletes who *did* travel were unable to participate in the focus group discussions because of their tight schedule.

As a result, offering more online classes or providing more materials online for students away from campus would provide great benefit for student-athletes. With today's advanced technology there are many different delivery systems that could be integrated to enrich the learning environment.

B. Develop a Model for Student-Athletes

Student-athletes expressed the opinion that they would like to have a mix of in-class instruction and online education. They prefer to have a few traditional class meetings weekly in order to get guidance and direction. In addition, they would like to take advantage of an online learning environment. Even though technology plays a key role in the delivery of distance

education, teachers must remain focused on instructional outcomes. Effective online education is focused on the needs of the learners, the requirements of the content, and the constraints faced by the teacher before selecting a delivery system. Generally, this systematic approach will result in a mix of media, each serving a specific purpose (EODE, 2007; Simonson et al., 2006). An example of such a mix of media for student-athletes may be the combination of a strong print component, a synchronous chat, computer conferencing, and asynchronous elements.

A *strong print* component that can provide much of the basic instructional content is often available in the form of a course text, along with readings, and day-to-day schedules. These elements will assist the students who prefer to learn visually. Athletes could easily read during a multi-hour drive on the bus.

A *synchronous chat* (Centra) could provide real time face-to-face interaction and therefore simulate an in-class environment. This option requires a set time that would not interfere with student-athletes' schedules. A synchronous chat in the form of an online representative being available 24 hours each day might be another possibility.

Computer conferencing can be used to continue the discussion when real time interaction is not required. The virtual classroom is open 24 hours a day, seven days each week, allowing students the flexibility to schedule their learning time around their other commitments. Students are already familiar with the use of the course management system Blackboard. For example electronic mail can be used to send messages, assignment feedback, and other targeted communication to one or more class members. This communication could also increase interaction among students. E-mail can be used to distribute assignments, last minute announcements, to receive student assignments, and to provide timely feedback. *Asynchronous technology* enables the learners to work whenever and wherever they want. Pre-recorded audio or videotapes would be of great benefit to athletes, especially during times of intense travel. In addition, pre-recorded media can be used to present class lectures and visually-oriented content.

The teacher needs to carefully select from among the technological options. The goal is to build a mix of instructional media to meet the needs of the learner in a manner that is instructionally effective and economically feasible.

Recommendations for Student-Athletes and Instructors

EODE (2007) lists challenges that can be related to the student-athlete. These include:

Becoming and staying responsible for themselves: High motivation is required to complete online courses because the day-to-day contact with teachers and other students is typically lacking. Teachers can help motivate student-athletes by providing consistent and timely feedback, encouraging discussion among students, being well prepared for class, and by encouraging and reinforcing effective student study habits. Student-athletes also can benefit from the specialized student-athlete academic support services on campus including tutoring, mentoring, mandatory study hall, and advice from an academic advisor (Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003).

Owning one's strengths, desires, skills, and needs is another challenge for students who need to recognize their strengths and limitations. One concern specifically mentioned by key informant interviews was self-assessment (misconceptions about each athletes own personality and abilities). Student-athletes need to understand their learning goals and objectives. The instructor can help distant students to explore their strengths/limitations and their learning goals/objectives by assuming a facilitative role in the learning process. Providing opportunities for students to share their personal learning goals and objectives for a course helps to make learning more meaningful and increases motivation. Student-athletes experience victory and defeat many times and seem to know their strengths, weaknesses, skills, and needs (Crowley, 2006).

Furthermore, maintaining and increasing *self-esteem* is essential, as online students may be afraid of their ability to do well in a course. They are balancing many responsibilities including employment and other commitments, such as their sports. Often their involvement in athletics is unknown to those they work with and ignored by peers and faculty, who tend to stereotype student-athletes as *dumb jocks* and/or as pampered individuals (Etzel et al., 1996). Student performance in their academic endeavors is enhanced if the athletes receive support from coaches, teammates, and the athletic department (Lorenzen & Lucas, 2003).

Relating to others is important because students often learn most effectively when they have the opportunity to interact with other students. Interaction among students typically leads to group problem solving. When students are unable to meet together, appropriate interactive technology such as e-mail should be provided to encourage small group and individual communication. Assignments in which students work together and then report back or present to the class as a whole encourage student-to-student interaction. (Another option for student-athletes that take similar classes. This might also help them to distract from pre-competition anxiety).

Another challenge is *clarifying what is learned*. Online students need to reflect on what they are learning. They need to examine their existing knowledge frameworks and how these are being added to or changed by incoming information. Examinations, papers, and class presentations provide opportunities for students and teachers to evaluate learning. These activities would allow student-athletes to examine what they have learned in the time they have been gone.

Dealing with content and relating content to examples can also enhance student learning. Instructors tend to teach using examples that were used when they received their training. For online learning to be effective, however, instructors must discover examples that are relevant to their online students. Meaningfulness is especially important for some of the revenue athletes as specifically mentioned by an academic advisor for football. This includes encouraging students to find or develop examples that are relevant to them or their community. Today's studentathletes can also be characterized as being a digital natives; therefore, activities and assignments should be directed to their interests and learning styles.

Athletes do not need fancy instructional technology to make instruction effective and learning successful because they do not have time to deal with exploring new technologies. They need a simple and effective alternative solution to help balance their dual career. While educational technologies provide increasing opportunities for interactive exploration in a learning environment, crucial questions remain: Will student-athletes be able to exercise control and effectively regulate their own learning in flexible learning systems? Will they be motivated enough to really explore? Theory and research suggest that learners can and will, if the instructional systems are well-designed and if the learners are adequately prepared (Kinzie, 1990, p. 5).

Meeting the instructional needs of students is the cornerstone of every effective online education program, and the test by which all efforts in the field are judged. Regardless of the educational context, the primary role of the student is to learn. This is a daunting task under the best of circumstances, requiring motivation, planning, and an ability to analyze and apply the instructional content being taught. When instruction is delivered online, additional challenges result because students are often separated from others sharing their backgrounds and interests, have few if any opportunities to interact with teachers outside of class, and must rely on technical linkages to bridge the gap separating class participants EODE (2007).

Recommendation for Administration, Faculty, Support Services

Administrators are working closely with technical and support service personnel, ensuring that technological resources are effectively deployed to further the institution's academic mission. Moreover, they need to ensure that the instructional needs of online students are met. Online learners should be provided with information about the online class, including additional information before the class begins, a list of additional courses available, how to access services available to them from main campus, and what will be expected of them in the online learning environment. Students could be at a disadvantage if they begin their course without this information. There should also be self-assessment tools available to determine student compatibility with online education.

Faculty: Good instructional goals should form the basis for instruction, regardless of the medium used. The professor needs to develop an understanding of the characteristics and needs of the students in his or her class, which includes analyzing the general ability of the class and the potential for learner interactivity. As such, pedagogical choices should drive the technology

decision. Selecting a variety of techniques is important to create an interesting instructional environment. Strategies are required to engage learners in active rather than passive learning experiences. Combining technologies and techniques is useful because the more actively engaged the students, the more likely learning will occur in the online learning environment. The evaluation of the effectiveness of online education should be based on what it is targeted to accomplish, and not be compared to the traditional classroom. For student-athletes, online education would provide more flexibility for learners, help to save time, and assist with a heavy travel schedule.

Students need opportunities for interaction since online education tends to give individuals the feeling of isolation. Group experiences, such as synchronous chats, might not necessarily be the best form for student-athletes who want more flexibility and are willing to trade-off group participation. The instructor needs to actively involve students, provide online offices hours, and have a clear structure which is understood by the learners upfront.

Support Services: Etzel and colleagues (1996) believed that student-athletes comprise one of the most diverse groups of people on college campuses today, particularly with regard to factors such as personal history, academic preparedness, life goals and expectations, physical and psychological skills, and developmental readiness. With the Student-Athlete Academic Support Service (SAASS), comprehensive services to this special population are already in place. Yet, these special services will need to be extended to meet the student-athlete's changing needs. The changes of academic rules by the NCAA and the increase in online course offerings make it essential to effectively reach out to them as a group. Factors related to their heterogeneity should never be underestimated. Mandatory study hall should be supervised so that student-athletes

work more efficiently during the time allotted. There are also support services available on campus. Online support resources should be provided 24 hours, seven days a week so that students can get help when needed.

Research Limitations

Several limitations affected this research study. The most restrictive limitation related to the difficulty of obtaining participants for the study. Other limitations included conflicts with sporting events and factors affecting focus group dynamics.

Obtaining participants: The most challenging experience with this project was obtaining participants. Student-athletes are a very hard population to initially gain approval and participation. In order to gain participation, it was necessary to include the respective academic advisor who was well-known and respected by the athletes. Many of the participants had time conflicts whether because of practice, class, or study hall. However, once the participants were obtained, the sessions were conducted smoothly. The recruiting process took three weeks and resulted in the strategy of over-recruiting revenue athletes after the weak turnout of the first revenue focus group discussion. Those football players who participated in the discussion may have skewed the data. The researcher assumes that these athletes cared about their academics, which is why they were willing to participate.

Sports event taking place: During the weeks of data collection, several varsity sports event took place, which made it hard to recruit specific sports at certain times. This also had an impact on the delayed progression of the research. The request for participants started mid-January, which was a very busy month for all athletes starting spring semester, preparing for
athletic events, or competing. The first two focus group discussions took place in the last week of January.

Factors affecting focus group dynamics: The focus group discussions were conducted within a two-week period. Each group was homogeneous in terms of sports: revenue athletes versus non-revenue athletes. Two focus group discussions were scheduled for each week with non-revenue meetings and revenue meetings alternating. Group meetings were scheduled at the student-athletes' convenience. Most participants in the revenue groups knew each other whereas the participants in the non-revenue groups were a combination of several teams. This might have influenced some athletes' desire to speak at times. Most participants were glad to use the afternoon hours which did not interfere with class time and was either before or after their team practices. The familiarity of the location, the Student-Athlete Academic Support Service floor, and the familiarity of other student-athletes created a comfortable environment. While group size did not seem to inhibit anyone's willingness to participate, time constraints for some student-athletes made it difficult to receive all group members on time. However, everybody partook in the discussions and contributed to the research topic.

One factor that was problematic was student-athletes dropping out at the last moment. The first revenue focus group comprised a total of four student-athletes participating with one athlete arriving late. This may have affected the dynamics in this particular group and reduced the variety of potential responses. These small numbers might have limited the themes that emerged from the discussion, yet the quality of the responses of the athletes who participated was high. Another factor that affected group dynamics was the requirement that student-athletes must have taken at least one online class and had to be non-freshmen. The requirements were set

because of the novel experience affecting first-year students. Only student-athletes who fit these requirements were allowed to participate so that the answers would not interfere with the genuine responses of the participants.

Key Informant People (Selection of Participants): Five Key Informant Interviews were conducted with staff members of Virginia Tech's Student-Athlete Academic Support Service (SAASS). These participants work with student-athletes on a daily basis. Participants included one learning specialist, three academic advisors (each assigned to one particular sport - revenue, non-revenue, or a mixture of both), and one systems administrator responsible for technological support.

Order of Interviews/Focus Group Discussions: Key Informant Interviews took place over a two-week period and were completed before the first focus group discussion took place. Each interview took place at the participant's convenience for time and location. All focus group discussions were held in Lane Stadium at their time preferences. All participants freely shared their concerns and perceptions pertaining to the topic. The first focus group discussion included non-revenue athletes, participants who have shown interest in the study, but had many time restrictions. They seemed to be glad to participate despite having to come right after their workouts. The second group was held the day after with revenue athletes. The recruiter for this group had a difficult time finding participants. These athletes appeared to be a difficult to invite for a discussion meeting. This group included last-minute call-offs of two athletes, which limited the number to four. Nevertheless, the participants contributed to a good discussion. Non-revenue athletes comprised the third group, and had the highest attendance of all four groups. This was likely due to the fact that a Student-Athlete Advisory Committee (SAAC) meeting took place the

night before the interview, during which an announcement was made to invite student-athletes to participate in the study. Information gathered in this group was rich. The fourth and last focus group consisted of revenue athletes in the early afternoon. The time was chosen in order to recruit the hard-to reach revenue athletes right before practice time. The group had a good turnout and the discussion went smoothly.

Recommendations for Future Research

Though few problems were encountered during this research effort, there are several factors to consider for improving future efforts. Recommendation for future research includes having larger sample sizes and different demographics within the student-athlete population, varying the interview timing, including faculty or other personnel dealing with athletes, and examining different universities and different countries.

Because the sample was small, including five interviewees and 26 focus group participants, the information can only be generalized to selected student-athletes within a university similar to Virginia Tech. The study only involved non-freshman student-athletes with athletic eligibility in 2007-2008, and who have completed at least one online class. It would be interesting to assess these athletes over a period of time to identify patterns and trends.

It is recommended that further research be conducted using a larger sample size. Due to the subject matter of this exploratory research study, more research within this population would enable a larger pool of information which could allow conclusions to be generalized to the greater student-athlete population. Further research is recommended to investigate the perceptions of diverse groups, such as African-Americans, international students, different

genders, student-athletes with learning disabilities, and so forth. Also, interviews and focus group discussions could be expanded to include faculty, head coaches, staff, and other people dealing with student-athletes. It would be interesting to observe the perceptions about online education as an alternative avenue for student-athletes among these groups. This would generate more information that could potentially improve the academic wellbeing of student-athletes. In order to improve the outcome of focus group discussions, it is important to consider several factors during recruitment including a team's travel and practice schedule, in-or out-of-season, exam periods, timing during the day, timing during the semester, and room reservations. For some sports, it is recommend to over-recruit participants.

The best time to conduct similar research would probably be during the summer months when there are relatively few athletic events that could cause time conflicts. Finding a less stressful term would possibly decrease student-athlete reluctance to spend time for a discussion meeting after a long day of practice and school, and therefore promote more participants. This study was able to determine the perceptions, practices, and concerns of online education among student-athletes at Virginia Tech. Further research is needed to include other universities. This could include university and college settings at other Division I schools, universities with digital campuses, or similar research universities.

The subject matter of this research is fertile ground. The recent online cheating scandal involving student-athletes as Florida State University might have started a small controversy that could affect the growing online course offerings nationwide. Another recommendation for future research is to conduct studies with athletes from different countries. It would be interesting to see whether or not student-athletes in the United States have the same concerns as athletes in Europe.

To what extent do the different national athletic systems have similar or different concerns? Unlike North America's uniquely organized and structured combination of athletics and higher education (*student and athlete*), many countries struggle to provide efficient opportunities for their prospects. The split between academic pursuits and athletic commitment has been a global challenge. In recent years, there has been a trend toward more distance education universities emerging throughout the world. It might be interesting to learn from other countries how they provide more flexibility for the student-athletes' unique demands and how they may provide efficient opportunities. These questions demand further research.

With the Olympic Games taking place this year, how many of these competitive elite athletes will also be competitive students in the classroom at the same time? The Olympic motto, made up of three Latin words citius – altius – fortius (Latin meaning for faster – higher – stronger), seems not only to pertain to the athletic arena, but also to the digital arena. The beginning of the 21st Century is undergoing a rapid rate of technological and social change, which affects higher education as well. This is expressed by increasingly technological advancements allowing *fast* communications and information processing, *high* connectivity in that communities are no longer defined only based on geographical proximity, and *stronger* as well as newer technologies developing according to interest, work patterns, and opportunity. Researchers agree that stimulating the creation of a balance between academics and athletics has to be encouraged (Gaston-Gayles, 2005; Lorenzen & Lucas, 2002). The Greek philosophy promotes an adequate development of both body and mind, promoting athletic health and academic health. Online education is one strong medium by which the two could grow symbiotically.

REFERENCES

- Adelman, C. (1990). Light and shadows on college athletes: College transcripts and labor market history. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Education.
- Adler, P.,& Adler, P. A. (1985). From idealism to pragmatic detachment: The academic performance of college athletes. *Sociology of Education*, *58*(4), 241-250.
- Adler, P., & Adler, P. A. (1991). Backboards and blackboards: College athletes and role engulfment. New York, NY: Columbia University Press.
- Allen, E., & Seaman, J. (2006, November). The Sloan Consortium. Making the grade: Online education in the United States, 2006. Retrieved June 26, 2007, from http://www.sloanc.org/publications/survey/pdf/making_the_grade.pdf
- Anderson, P. (2005, October). Mobile and PDA Technologies: Looking around the corner. JISC Technology and Standards Watch. Paper presented at the Handheld Learning 2005 symposium, Goldsmiths College, London.
- Atlantic Coast Conference (ACC). (2007). Official website of the ACC. Retrieved September 8, 2007 from http://www.theacc.com/
- Belanger, Y. (2005). Duke University, Center for Instructional Technology. (2005, June). Duke University iPod first year experience final evaluation report. Retrieved February, 8, 2008, from http://cit.duke.edu/pdf/reports/ipod_initiative_04_05.pdf

- Briggs, C. (1996, October). Differences in degree aspirations and attainment outcomes between football, basketball, and other intercollegiate athletes. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Association for the Study of Higher Education. Memphis, TN.
- Carter, T. (2005). Coach Carter [Motion Picture]. Los Angeles, CA: Paramount Picture Cooperation.
- Clark, R. (1983). Reconsidering research on learning from media. *Review of Educational Research*, *53*(4) 445-459.
- Clark, R. (1994). Media will never influence learning. *Educational Technology Research and Development*, 42(2), 21-29.
- Clark, M., & Parette, P. (2002). Student athletes with learning disabilities: a model for effective supports. *College Student Journal*, *36*(1), 47-61.
- Crowley, J. N. (2006). *In the arena. The NCAA's first century*. Indianapolis, IN: National Collegiate Athletic Association.
- DeBourgh, G. A. (1999, February). Technology is the tool, teaching is the task: Student satisfaction in distance learning. Paper presented at the international conference of the Society for Information Technology & Teacher Education, San Antonio, TX.
- Engineering Outreach Distance Education (EODE) (2007). Distance Education at a glance. Guide 8: Strategies for learning at a distance. University of Idaho. Retrieved September 25, 2007, from http://www.uidaho.edu/eo/dist8.html#information
- Engstrom, C. M., & Sedlacek, W. E. (1991). A study of prejudice toward university student athletes. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 70, 189-193.

- Engstrom, C. M., Sedlacek, W. E., & McEwen, M. K. (1995). Faculty attitudes toward male revenue and non-revenue student-athletes. *Journal of College Student Development*, 36(3), 217-227.
- Etzel, E. F., Ferrante, A. P., & Pinkney, J. W. (1996). *Counseling college student-athletes: Issues and interventions*. (2nd ed.). Morgantown, WV: Fitness Information Technology, Inc.
- Falla, J. (1981). NCAA: The voice of college sports. National Collegiate Athletic Association: Mission, KN.
- Florida State inquiry finds cheating on tests (2007, September 27). The Washington Post. Page E02. Retrieved February, 8, 2008, from http://www.washingtonpost.com/wpdyn/content/article/2007/09/26/AR2007092602355.html
- Fowler, D. (2005, January 10). Virtual schools for jocks: More high school athletes are taking online classes. Does electronic ed work? *Time International 165*(2), p.44.
- Fraenkel, J. R., & Wallen, N. E. (2006). *How to design and evaluate research in education*. (6th ed.). New York: McGraw-Hill.
- Garrison, D. R. (1990). An analysis and evaluation of audio teleconferencing to facilitate education at a distance. *The American Journal of Distance Education*, 4(3), 13-24.
- Gaston, J. L. (2003, April). Examining differences in academic and athletic motivation among student athletes at a division I university. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, Chicago, IL.

- Gaston-Gayles, J. L. (2005). The factor structure and reliability of the student athletes' motivation toward sports and academics questionnaire (SAMSAQ). *Journal of college student development 46*, 317-327.
- Graduation Success Rates Climbs to 77%. (2006, September 27). Retrieved June 20, 2007, from http://www.ncaa.org
- Hamilton, D. L., & T. K. Trolier. (1986). Stereotypes and stereotyping: An overview of the cognitive approach. In Prejudice, discrimination, and racism, edited by J. F. Dovidio and S. L. Gaertner. San Diego, CA: Academic Press, 127-163.
- Hood, A. B., Craig, A. F., & Ferguson, B. W. (1992). The impact of athletics, part-time employment, and other activities on academic achievement. *Journal of College Student Development*, 33, 447-453.
- Hillstock, L. G. (2005, June 12-16). A few common misconceptions about distance learning.Proceedings of the 2005 ASCUE Conference, Myrtle Beach, South Carolina.
- History of Academic Reform. (2007). National Collegiate Athletic Association. Retrieved June, 12, 2007 from http://www2.ncaa.org/portal/
- Hutchison, A. (2004, August 9). Online learning is ideal for student-athletes, too. (Education: online vs. offline). *Fairfield County Business Journal*, *43*(32), 16.
- Johnson, B., & Christensen, L. (2000). *Educational research: Quantitative and qualitative approaches*. Boston: Allyn and Bacon.

- Kaplan-Leiserson, E. (2007). Learning Circuits Glossary. Retrieved June 23, 2007, from http://www.learningcircuits.org/glossary
- Kinzie, M. B. (1990). Requirements and benefits of effective interactive instruction: Learner control, self-regulation, and continuing motivation. *Educational Technology Research* and Development, 38(1), 5-21.
- Knight Commission Urges Presidents To Show Strong Support For Academic Reforms. (2007, May 14). Retrieved June, 22, 2007, from http://knightcommission.org
- Knight Commission (2007, May). Summary of Year Three APR Data. NCAA Research. Retrieved June 23, 2007 from http://www.knightcommission.org/images/uploads/APRPresentation05_07final.ppt
- Krueger, R. A., & Casey, M. (2000). *Focus Groups: A practical guide for applied research*. (3rd ed.). Thousand Oakes, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Lapchick, R. E., & Malekoff, R. (1987). *On the mark: Putting the student back in studentathlete*. Lexington, MA: D.C. Heath and Company.
- Lederman, D. (1991). Officials criticized for athletes' low graduation rates. The Chronicle of Higher Education. Retrieved June 18, 2007, from http://www.chronicle.com
- Lederman, D. (1992). NCAA study reveals the effects of Proposition 48. The Chronicle of Higher Education. Retrieved June 18, 2007, from http://www.chronicle.com

- Lee, C., & Witta, L. (2001, November). Online students' perceived self-efficacy: Does it change? Paper presented at the national convention of the Association for Educational Communications and Technology, Atlanta, GA.
- Lewis, L., Alexander, D., & Farris, E. (1997). Distance education in higher education institutions (NCES 98-062). U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics.
- Lorenzen, M., & Lucas, N. (2003). Introducing first-year student-athletes to the library: The Michigan State University experience. Retrieved June 10, 2007 from http://www.libraryinstruction.com/athlete.html
- Loyd, B. H., & Gressard, C. (1984). The effects of sex, age, and computer experiences on computer attitudes. *AEDS Journal*, *18*(2), 67-77.
- Men's basketball enhancement group. (2007, May 29). Retrieved June 12, 2007, from http://www.ncaa.org
- Naughton, J. (1996). Report finds lagging graduation rates among basketball players. The Chronicle of Higher Education. Retrieved June 18, 2007, from http://www.chronicle.com
- Naughton, J. (1997). Athletes lack grades and test scores of other students. Critics of big-time sports say that the gap at many Division I universities is too large. The Chronicle of Higher Education. Retrieved June 18, 2007, from http://www.chronicle.com
- NCAA Freshman-Eligibility Standards. Quick Reference Sheet. (2007). Retrieved June 23, 2007 from http://www1.ncaa.org/eprise/main/membership/membership_svcs/eligibilityrecruiting/faqs/ie_quick_ref.pdf

- NCAA (1999). *Champs/Life Skills Program National*. Collegiate Athletic Association, Indianapolis, IN.
- NCAA (2004, March 30). California State University, Northridge placed on probation for violations in men's basketball. Retrieved June 15, 2007 from http://www.ncaa.org
- NCAA (2006a). *National Collegiate Athletic Association Division I Manual 2006-07*. Indianapolis, IN: National Collegiate Athletic Association.
- NCAA (2006b, November). A common misperception is that student-athletes perform poorly in the classroom. The evidence is quite the contrary. Retrieved June 23, 2007, from http://www2.ncaa.org/portal/media_and_events/press_room/2006/november/20061 109_d1_gsr_rls.html
- NCAA Student-athletes graduation rates remain steady for third consecutive year (2001, September 10). Retrieved June 20, 2007, from http://www.ncaa.org
- NCAA Backgrounder on Academic Reform (2007). National Collegiate Athletic Association. Retrieved June, 12, 2007 from http://www2.ncaa.org/portal/
- NCAA drops the ball. (2007, May 3). Good Intentions Lead to a Bad Policy. Retrieved June 13, from http://oncampusandonline.wordpress.com/
- National Center for Education Statistics (NCES). (2006). *The condition of education 2006* (NCES 2006-071). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.
- Oblinger, D. G., & Oblinger, J. L. (2005). *Educating the Net Generation*. [Electronic version]. Retrieved September 16, 2007, from www.educause.edu/educatingthenetgen/

- Panel says freshman standards are 'flawed'. (1995). The Chronicle of Higher Education. Retrieved June 18, 2007, from http://www.chronicle.com
- Peters, K. (June, 2007). M-Learning: Positioning educators for a mobile, connected future. *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 8(2).
- Pettaway, K. J. P. (2005). Female Basketball student-athletes' motivation: Analyzing academic standing and ethnicity at Atlantic Coast Conference institutions. Published Dissertation, Florida State University.
- Petrie, T. A., & Russell, R. K. (1995). Academic and psychosocial antecedents of academic performance for minority and non-minority college football players. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 73, 615-620.
- Prensky, M. (October, 2001). Digital natives, digital immigrants. *On the Horizon, 9*(5), 1-6. [Electronic version]. http://www.marcprensky.com/writing/
- Purdy, D., Eitzen, D. S., & Hufnagel, R. (1982). Are athletes also students? The educational attainments of college athletes. *Social Problems*, *29*(4), 439-448.
- Rhatingan, J. J. (1984). Point of View: Serving two masters: the plight of the college student-athlete. Naspa Journal, 42, 43-48 in: Williams, S. A., & Poetter, T. S. (1993). Supporting Academic Success for Student-Athletes. Center for Evaluation, Development, Research. Phi Delta Kappa.
- Richartz, A. & Brettschneider, W. (1996). *Weltmeister werden und die Schule schaffen*. Bundesinstitut für Sportwissenschaft. Schorndorf: Verlag Karl Hofmann.

- Ridpath, P. D. (2002). NCAA Division I student athlete characteristics as indicators of academic achievement and graduation from college. Published Dissertation, West Virginia University.
- Rodriguez, M. C., Ooms, A., Montanez, M., & Yan, Y. L. (2005, April). Perceptions of online learning quality given comfort with technology, motivation to learn technology skills, satisfaction, & online learning experience. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Education Research Association, Montreal, Canada.
- Rundle, R. L. (2004, March 9). Web school lets young athletes study and play. Wall Street Journal, 47, p. B1-B8.
- Russell, T. (1999). *No significant difference phenomenon*. Raleigh, NC: North Carolina State University.
- Schunk, D. H., & Zimmermann, B. J (Eds.). (1998). *Self-regulated learning: From teaching to self-reflective practice*. New York: The Guilford Press.
- Sedlacek, W. E., & Adams-Gaston, J. (1992). Predicting the academic success of student-athletes using SAT and noncognitive variables. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 70(6), 724-727.
- Sellers, R. M. (1992). Racial differences in the predicators for academic achievement of studentathletes in Division 1 revenue producing sports. *Sociology of Sport Journal*, *9*, 48-59.
- Shuford, B. N. (1998). Keeping student-athletes on track: enter the 'educator-coach.' *Coach and Athletic Director* 67(8), 4-6.

- Simonson, M. (2003). Definition of the field. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 4(1), viiviii.
- Simonson, M., Smaldino, S., Albright, M., & Zvacek, S. (2006). *Teaching and learning at a distance*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education.
- Simons, H. D.; Van Rheenen, D., & Covington, M.V. (1999). Academic motivation and the student athlete. *Journal of College Student Development*, 40(2), 151-162.
- Snyder, P. (1996). Comparative levels of expressed academic motivation among Anglo and African-American university student athletes. *Journal of Black Studies*, *26*(1). 651-667.
- Sperber, M. (1990). *College sports, inc.: The athletic department vs. the university.* New York: Henry Holt and Company.
- Sport Administration Manual. (2001). International Sailing Federation. Retrieved September 5, 2007, from http://www.sailing.org/SportAdministrationManual/
- Strokes, S. P. (2003, November). Temperament, learning styles, and demographic predictors of college student satisfaction in a digital learning environment. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Mid-South Educational Research Association, Biloxi, MS.
- Suggs, W. (1999). Graduation Rates Hit Lowest Level in 7 Years for Athletes in Football and Basketball. Percentage of black team members earning degrees is lower than at any time in the decade. The Chronicle of Higher Education. Retrieved June 18, 2007, from http://www.chronicle.com

- Suggs, W. (2003). Grades and Money. NCAA considers new rules that would tie sports participation to academic performance. The Chronicle of Higher Education. Retrieved June 18, from http://www.chronicle.com
- Suggs, W. (2005). Former Coach Indicted on Fraud Charges for Providing Phony Academic Credits to Basketball Players. The Chronicle of Higher Education. Retrieved June 18, from http://www.chronicle.com
- Thamel, P., & Wilson, D. (2005, November 27). Poor grades aside, top athletes get to college on\$399 diploma. (Sport Desk) (The quick fix: easy grades for athletes). The New YorkTimes, pA1(L).
- Thelin, J. R., & Wiseman, L. L (1989). The old college try: balancing academics and athletics in higher education. Report No. 4. Washington, D.C.: School of Education and Human Development. The George Washington University.
- Underwood, C. (1984). *The student-athlete: Eligibility and academic integrity*. East Lansing: MI: Michigan State University Press.
- U.S. Department of Education. (2007). The Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA). Retrieved September 8, 2007, from http://www.ed.gov/policy/gen/guid/fpco/ferpa/index.html
- Vrasidas, C., & Zembylas, M. (2003). The nature of technology-mediated interaction in globalized distance education. *International Journal of Training and development*, 7(4), 271-287.

VT (2007). Virginia Tech Student Athlete Handbook and Planner (2007-2008). Blacksburg, VA: Virginia Tech.

Wolcott, L. (1996). Distant, but not distanced. Tech Trends, 41(7), 23-27.

- Wolverton, B. (2006). As Graduation Rates Rise, So Do Fears of Academic Shortcuts The Chronicle of Higher Education. Retrieved June 18, 2007, from http://www.chronicle.com
- Wyatt, J. (1999, August 13). Our moral duty to clean up college athletics. The Chronicle of Higher Education, 45, A56.
- Zimbalist, A. (1999). Unpaid professionals: Commercialism and conflict in big time sports.Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press.
- Zhang, D., Zhao, J. L., Zhou, L., & Nunamaker, J. F. (2004). Can e-learning replace classroom learning? *Communications of the ACM*, 47, 75-79.

Appendix A

INTERCOLLEGIATE ATHLETIC ONLINE LEARNING PECEPTION SURVEY AT VIRGINIA TECH

Interview Guide (Focus Group Discussion)			
<u> </u>			
Openii	ng / Introdu	iction Question:	
Tell us	Tell us your name, your major, your sport, and how long you have been at Virginia Tech.		
How m	any online o	courses have you taken?	
RO1.	What are 1	the primary concerns facing student-athletes related to their dual	
KųI.	career as h	both a student and an athlete?	
	FGQ1:	What are your concerns related to maintaining your <u>athletic</u> role?	
	FGQ2:	What are your concerns related to your <u>academic</u> role?	
	FGQ3:	What may prevent you from excelling fully in the classroom?	
RQ2:	2: What are student-athletes' perceptions of the benefits and barriers of online		
	education	?	
	Think abou	It the experiences you have had when you took your first online course	
	or/and that you have with the online courses you are currently taking.		
	FGQ4:	What do you think has worked well for you in an online course?	
	FGQ5:	What do you perceive as barriers to online courses?	
	FGQ6:	How do you perceive the need of online courses in addressing the	
		barriers and problems as discussed earlier (RQ1)?	
	FGQ7:	How do you perceive the need to have the online courses to make	
		being away from campus easier?	
RQ3:	3: What type of online environment could increase learning satisfaction and		
	learning outcomes for student-athletes?		
	FGQ9:	What are you looking for in an online course that would help you	
		balance/accommodate your current situation?	

Ending Question:

Is there anything else that we missed? Is there anything else you wish to say?

Appendix B

INTERCOLLEGIATE ATHLETIC ONLINE LEARNING PECEPTION SURVEY AT VIRGINIA TECH

Interview Guide (Key Informant Interview)			
RQ1:	What are the primary concerns facing student-athletes related to their dual		
	career as	poth a student and an athlete?	
	KIQ1:	What do you think are the major issues/concerns of student-athletes in having two careers?	
		What might be some barriers that you feel student-athletes	
		experience that may hinder fully performing in the classroom?	
RQ2:	What are	student-athletes' perceptions of the benefits and barriers of online	
	education?		
	KIQ2:	What are the experiences that you have had with student-athletes taking online courses?	
		 What do you think may be the benefits of online courses for SA? What do you think may be barriers to online courses for SA? To what extent are SA ready/ willing to take an online course? Probes: how frequent do SA take online courses/which courses, do they succeed/drop out (why?), computer literacy, mand. study hall 	
	KIQ3:	Imagine you have to advise a student-athlete in taking a course which is offered both online and in a traditional setting. What would you recommend and why?	
RQ3:	What type	e of online environment could increase learning satisfaction and	
	learning o		
	KIQ4:	student-athlete, what would it look like?	
		 What role would online courses play in it and why? What characteristics of a course design do you think would work well for student-athletes? (Probes: synchronous / asynchronous) To what extent are you familiar with the technology, services, and courses offered by the Institute for Distance and Distributed Learning (IDDL) at Virginia Tech? (Probes: future use / trend) 	
RQ4:	Do revenu	e athletes perceive online learning differently than non-revenue	
~	athletes?	athletes?	
	KIQ5:	How, if at all, do you think revenue athletes perceive online learning differently than non-revenue athletes? (Note: revenue sports are defined as team sports that can generate revenue; i.e. football, men's	

		and female's basketball)	
RQ5 :	Does spen	nding a significant amount of time away from campus make online	
	education	a better method of learning?	
	KIQ6:	How, if at all, do you think a large amount of time spent away from campus affects online courses?	

Ending Question: Is there anything else that we missed? Is there anything else you wish to say?

Appendix C

QUESTIONNAIRE STUDENT-ATHLETES



Demographics

•	What's your gender:	□ Male □ Female		
•	What's your major (field of study):			
•	What's your class standing:	🗆 Sophomore 🗆 Junio	or \square Senior \square Grad	
•	What's your ethnicity:	□ Caucasian □ Africa □ Hispanic □ Asian	□ Caucasian □ African-American □ Native □ Hispanic □ Asian □ Other:	
•	What's your age:	□ <20 □ 20-21 □ 22-	23	
•	What's your sport?			
•	What's your time commitmen	nt?		
	(a) on academics per week	(b) on athletics per week	(c) days away during in-season semester	
	□ None	□ None	□ None	
	\Box 1-4 hours	\Box 1-4 hours	□ 1-4	
	\Box 5-9 hours	\Box 5-9 hours	□ 5-9	
	□ 10-14 hours	□ 10-14 hours	□ 10-14	
	□ 15-19 hours	□ 15-19 hours	□ 15-19	
	□ 20-24 hours	□ 20-24 hours	□ 20-24	
	□ 25-29 hours	□ 25-29 hours	□ 25-29	
	\square 30 or more hours	\square 30 or more hours	\square 30 or more days	

Online Learning Experience

Tell me about your online learning experience that you have had and/or currently have at Virginia Tech. Please describe:

- Number of online classes already taken
- What kind of classes have you been taken? (core/ elective/ optional)
- Which specific online course(s) have you taken?
- What was a positive and/or negative experience with online courses?
- Did you finish all online courses taken? (If you dropped out of an online courses, why and was it at the beginning/midst/ending of the semester?)
- Will you continue taking online courses? Why?
- If you had the choice to decide whether to take an online class or the same class offered in a traditional classroom, what would you pick and why?
- How many online courses are you taking at the moment?
- What deliver system(s) have worked very well for you?

Is there anything else you would like to share or comment that has not been covered in the discussion?

Appendix D

CONSENT FORM FOCUS GROUP PARTICIPANTS

VIRGINIA POLYTECHNIC INSTITUTE AND STATE UNIVERSITY

Informed Consent for Participants in

Research Projects Involving Human Subjects

Title of Research Project: Gaining Gold Medals and Gowns: Equilibrating the Dual Career of Student-Athletes with Online Education

Investigator(s): Dr. Kerry Redican, Principle Investigator; Sigrid Kreb, Co-Investigator; Department of Learning Sciences and Technologies, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University

I. Purpose of this Research/Project

The purpose of this study is to assess student-athletes' perception toward online education. I will be asked to share my experiences on this topic during a focus group discussion. There will be six to eight student-athletes in a focus group who have athletic eligibility in 2007/2008 and have had at least one online course while being at Virginia Tech.

II. Procedures

I am willing to take part in the above-mentioned discussion. I am aware that my participation in this interview will involve sharing with the moderator my experiences of being a student-athlete and my perceptions, practices, and concerns about online education. We have asked that the athletic academic director helps us locate potential participants for this study. You were sent a letter inviting you to participate. The focus group discussion will be tape-recorded and will last approximately two hours. Audio tapes will be transcribed after recording, and data will be studied for patterns.

III. Risks

I have been informed that the risks associated with participating in this study are minimal.

IV. Benefits

I understand that no promise or guarantee of benefits has been made to encourage me to participate. Information gathered will be used to learn more about the factors that are related to student-athletes' increase of academic motivation and performance.

V. Extent of Anonymity and Confidentiality

The discussion from the focus groups will be audio-taped, and the assistant will take notes during the questioning. Confidentiality regarding answers will be protected by removing identifying names from the transcripts of the tape-recorded answers. The key to the code of participants, the tapes, the computer disks, and the hard copy of the focus group answers will be kept securely. Information from the recorded focus groups will be destroyed three years upon completion of

research. At no time will the researcher release the results of the study to anyone other than individuals working on the project without your written consent.

VI. Compensation

I am aware that I will not receive any form of compensation for participating in this study.

VII. Freedom to Withdraw

I understand that my participation in this study is entirely voluntary and that my refusal to participate will involve no penalty or loss of benefits to which I am otherwise entitled. If I choose to withdraw from the study, any information about me and any data that I have provided will be destroyed.

VIII. Approval of Research

This research has been approved, as required by the Institutional Review Board of Research Involving Human Subjects at Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University and by the Department of Learning Sciences and Technology.

IX. Participant's Responsibilities

I voluntarily agree to participate in this study. I have the following responsibilities: to participate in focus group discussion of no more than two hours, as described in Section II above. My responsibilities are to answer questions asked during the focus group session.

IX. Participant's Permission

I have read and understand the *Informed Consent* and the conditions of this study. I have had all of my questions answered. I hereby acknowledge the above and give my voluntary consent:

Signature of Participant:	Date:	
Printed Name:		
Signature of Investigator:	Date:	

Printed Name:_____

Should I have any pertinent questions about this study or its conduct, or participants' rights, I may contact:

Principal Investigator: Dr. Kerry Redican Department of Learning Sciences and Technologies Virginia Tech	(540) 231-5743, kredican@vt.edu
Sigrid Kreb, PhD Student	(540) 232-3185, gkreb@vt.edu
David M. Moore Chair, Virginia Tech Institutional Review Board for the Protection of Human Subjects	(540) 231-4991, moored@vt.edu

Appendix E INSTITUTIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL

Uirgin	iaTech	Office of Research Compliance Institutional Review Board 2000 Kraft Drive, Suite 2000 (0497) Blacksburg, Virginia 24061 540/231-4091 Fax 540/231-0959 e-mail moored@wt.edu www.irb.w.edu	
DATE:	December 11, 2007	FWA00000572(expires 1/20/2010)	
MEMORAND	UM		
TO:	Kerry J. Redican Sigrid Kreb	Approval date: 12/10/2007	
FROM:	David M. Moore	Continuing Review Due Date:11/25/2008 Expiration Date: 12/9/2008	
SUBJECT:	IRB Expedited Approval: "Equili Online Education", IRB # 07-621	brating the Dual Career of Student-Athletes with	
This memo is expedited rev As Chair of th period of 12 r	This memo is regarding the above-mentioned protocol. The proposed research is eligible for expedited review according to the specifications authorized by 45 CFR 46.110 and 21 CFR 56.110. As Chair of the Virginia Tech Institutional Review Board, I have granted approval to the study for a period of 12 months, effective December 10, 2007.		
As an investi	gator of human subjects, your respons	ibilities include the following:	
1. 2. 3.	Report promptly proposed changes in previously approved human subject research activities to the IRB, including changes to your study forms, procedures and investigators, regardless of how minor. The proposed changes must not be initiated without IRB review and approval, except where necessary to eliminate apparent immediate hazards to the subjects. Report promptly to the IRB any injuries or other unanticipated or adverse events involving risks or harms to human research subjects or others. Report promptly to the IRB of the study's closing (i.e., data collecting and data analysis complete at Virginia Tech). If the study is to continue past the expiration data (interd above), investigators must expired to reacting and		
4.	review prior to the continuing review responsibility to obtained re-approva If re-approval is not obtained (unles closed) prior to the expiration date, data analysis must cease immediat apparent immediate hazards to the	v due date (listed above). It is the researcher's al from the IRB before the study's expiration date. s the study has been reported to the IRB as all activities involving human subjects and ally, except where necessary to eliminate subjects.	
Important: If you are cor IRB has com consistent. O	ducting federally funded non-exemp pared the OSP grant application and II therwise, this approval letter is invalid	t research, this approval letter must state that the RB application and found the documents to be for OSP to release funds. Visit our website at	
http://www.irb.vt.edu/pages/newstudy.htm#OSP for further information.			
cc: File			
VIRGINIA	A POLYTECHNIC INSTITUTE U	Invent the Future NIVERSITY AND STATE UNIVERSITY	

An equal opportunity, affirmative action institution